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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AEER

Headquarters and Principal Place of RN EBFTEL I,
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Room 4006, 40th Floor B
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Hong Kong 40124006 F

Cayman Islands Principal Share Registrar MERERVEBFELAE
and Transfer Office

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681 PO Box 2681
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Company’s Website NGBS

www.dalipal.com www.dalipal.com
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Hong Kong BHE

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited REREIT(EB)BR AT

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited ERBIT(EB)BRAF

Hang Seng Bank Limited EAHERITERA A

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited EB S ELRITER AT

The PRC =x)

China Construction Bank Corporation PR IRTTIRMD AR AT

Bank of China Limited PERITAR D B R A A

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Co., Ltd. R TRt BIR AR
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Hua Xia Bank Co., Ltd. EBIRITRHDBR AT

Cangzhou Bank BMERTT

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. AR RERTTAR (D B R A

China Merchants Bank HEiRT

Investor Relations Contact REEBRBES
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GLOSSARY

i

"AGM"
[BRBFEAE ]

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”
[4BAN sk BAE =240 A

N
[API]

“associate(s)”

[BHEA

“Audit and Risk Management
Committee”
[EZLRERERERZES

“Board”

[EEg]

“Board Diversity Policy”

[EESZ TR ]

“Business Day(s)"

[E£%H ]

"BVI"”

[RBERRES]

“Cayman Islands Companies Law”
or "Companies Law”

[HERSRFNEI[AFNE]

"CG Code”

[ExERTAI

“close associate(s)”

i YN

"CNOOC”
[ ]

B

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 23
May 2025
RARER20254 5 A23B RITHEERFBFAE

the amended and restated articles of association of our Company, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
RAFIERT RSB EBMERAR - KRBT - RIUEM T E
Bl

American Petroleum Institute

ESEay:E 3

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEA ETHRRIPE TR E
the audit and risk management committee of the Board
ErgnNERNEAREREZER

the board of Directors
S

a board diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board
—EHIENEFES LN TENERTEZITLER

a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) in Hong Kong on
which banks in Hong Kong are open generally for normal banking business
BRRTEBTE—RAEBIERERITEBHE F(2H N EHERAR
RHEAERIN)

the British Virgin Islands
RBERARES

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands
S EABIE2Z RN ENE(1961FEF35VAN - K454 RIEET)

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

FER EWRAUMBONEEE AT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T AR

China National Offshore Oil Corporation (F1 B3& % A S A R A 7))
PR F O RER AR



“"CNPC”
[ A ]

“Company” or “our Company”

VNS
“Company Secretary”
[RAEME ]

“connected person(s)”

[BEATL]

“Connected Persons’
Share Award Plan”

[BAE AR in 2Rt 3

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ AR AR 3R
“core connected person(s)”

[tz REAL ]

“Covenantors”

BN

“Dalipal Pipe”

“Deed of Non-competition”
[T 2%

“Director(s)”

[E%]

"EGM”
[RREFRIAR ]

"Eligible Shareholder(s)”
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A

China National Petroleum Corporation (FF Bl fa i K A A BR A 7))
FEARRARER AR

Dalipal Holdings Limited (GEHEERBR A A, an exempted company
limited by shares incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 August 2018
under the Companies Law

ENEERAER AT - R2018F8 A28 HEEMEHSIRE A RIEAFMAK L
EVER R BR A A

a company secretary of the Company

AABNARWE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA EmRAIRTE TR

the share award plan for directors and chief executives of the Group,
adopted by the Company on 31 May 2022, as amended on 19 December
2022 as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 December
2022

RRFR2022F5 A3 BRANBEAEBEZ RKESTRABLENRN
HEEIETE] - 72022612 B19REFTI 2022612 19 R R AR A S H i
=

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and, in the case of
our Company, means Mr. Meng, Mr. YX Meng and Rosy Astral individually
and as a group of persons

BB FTRAAMETORE  MRAAREME - @A RAEREAREE - &
FALRERKE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA EmRAIPE TR

Mr. Meng, Mr. YX Meng and Rosy Astral
BEE  ATATENEE

Dalipal Pipe Company* (# 1 & AmERE GR A7) (formerly known as
Cangzhou Huabei Petroleum OCTG Co., Ltd* AN ZEdL AHEREM AR A
7] and Huabei China Petroleum Cangzhou OCTG Co., Ltd.* ZE4bA MBI
HREM AR AT, a limited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC on 18 September 1998 and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
our Company
ENEAHEAEARAR(MEAMELAHERAEMERARLEILR
HRINEREMABRAR) - R1998F9F18HIRIEFBRAZRIMNABRA
Al ARARIEEEENB AR

the non-compete undertaking dated 19 June 2019 and executed by our
Controlling Shareholders in favour of our Company
ERRRAR R B AR AFE LB A2019F6 B 19BN T HRFHAGH

the director(s) of our Company

ARBES

an extraordinary general meeting of our Company

ARRBRERIAEG

any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
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GLOSSARY

e

[ ERRER]

“ESG”
[ESG

“ESG Committee”
[ESGZE = |

"Group” or “our Group” or
“We” o “our” or “us”

[ SR8 Jak] 34P ]

“Hong Kong” or “HK"
[EE]

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"

&7l

“DP”
[1DP]

“IPO"

[BRAREE]

“Latest Practicable Date”
[RIEBERAIITHE]
“Listing”
=
“Listing Date”
[ ERH]
“Listing Rules”
[ Ef#R A

“Macau”

[HRF ]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum” or

“Memorandum of Association”

[ KAk B AH ]

—HYULREXBRE ARFAERNARABRRAGRENA A AR
BARDRA D 2 —8—RA LR

environmental, social and governance
RS HegkER

the ESG committee of the Board
EEEMESGEEE

collectively, our Company and its subsidiaries
PN/NG] DS N DS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBFRITTHR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEETESE

Individual Development Plan

BEAZERE

the initial public offering of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on Listing
Date
P T BB AT E R AR B SR,

31 March 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
Report for ascertaining certain information in this circular

202553 H318 » BIARIREN ENAIEE &+ AEE T ENNRRERATT
HH

the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

B R R PR E AR _ETH

8 November 2019, the date on which the Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange by way of IPO
2019511 A8H - AIRMBBBER AFEERERMER M2 A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

B PSRRI ERHERT - MRS AR I B

the Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BRI RITTER R

the stock market (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock
Exchange and which is independent from and operated in parallel with
GEM. For the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM
PR IRE MG I EIEEE™IS) BN GEMIL B W 1TE(F ©
BRSEE - ERTEIEGEM

the amended and restated memorandum of association of our Company, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
RRBMERT R EFNABERARM - KTEHER] ~ s AT E
Bl



“Model Code”
[1E2E=rRI

“Mr. Cheng”
[ASEAE |

“Mr. Guo”
EH

“Mr. Meng”

[t

“Mr. Wong”
[E5E4]

“Mr. Yin"
Bt ]

“Mr. YX Meng”

BEFARE]

"Mr. Zhang”

[RsEA]

“Ms. Gan”
[F2£]

“Ms. Xu”

R osunll

“Nomination Committee”

[fREZE8E]

“Non-Connected Persons’ Share

Award Plan”

[ FEREE A LA 52BhAT 81 )

“North China Second Drilling”

[EEJL 5 i |

“Phase Two Expansion”

[ — Bz
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A

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRAIMERCIFEE LT EITAERETES R HNIRETE

Mr. Cheng Haitao (5X/8/8), an independent non-executive Director

RAEERLE - REMIFTES

Mr. Guo Kaiqi (28 5E), an independent non-executive Director

HEBERLE - REILIFRTES

Mr. Meng Fanyong (# L£8), one of our founders, chairman of our Board,
an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder. He is the father of Mr.
YX Meng

BNBRE  REAZ—  EBEFGEF  PITEERIERRE - BRH
FARERNRE

Mr. Wong Jovi Chi Wing (E£75£8), an independent non-executive Director

FEREE - BEFRITES

Mr. Yin Zhixiang (X % #F), a non-executive Director

BESHERLE - RIFATES

Mr. Meng Yuxiang (&5 #))), an executive Director, deputy chief executive
officer of our Group and a Controlling Shareholder. He is the son of Mr.
Meng

AFARE  TEE - REAEERTTHAZSIERR - RAHREEN
RF

Mr. Zhang Hongyao (5R4L#2), vice-chairman of our Board, an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Group

RALBSELE - RESESEITFE  WTEEMAEBTHRER

Ms. Gan Shuya (F-#tgE), chief operating officer of our Group
T+ - RREESEHER

Ms. Xu Wenhong (#834I), an executive Director and chief legal officer of
our Group

HXA T PITEFRAREEAREE

the nomination committee of the Board

EFxenRE%Ee

the share award plan for full-time employees of the Group, adopted by the
Company on 31 May 2022, as amended on 19 December 2022 as disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 19 December 2022
RRTFIR2022F5 A31 RERAEEAEE 2 BiE 5 2 i) BEhE & -
2022912 A19R1E5TI 2022612 A19B R AR A& R HE

North China Petroleum Administration Bureau Second Drilling Engineering
Company* (?%itE/E ERRE _BHTRERA)
FItRHERRE _#BHFIREAR

the phase two production capacity expansion at the Group’s factory located
at Bohai New District
ANE B HTE TRA — #E R

11
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GLOSSARY

e

“Polaris Swift"”

(2]

“PRC"” or “China”

(BT

“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRAFREERBRES
“Proposal”
et

"Prospectus”
[1RRER]

"R&D"
[ 3 |

“Reallocation”

(&30

“Requisition”
EEs]

“Remuneration Committee”

[HMERE]

"Risk Management Committee”

(AREEEEE]

"RMB”
[TAR® ]

"Rosy Astral”

224

"SEQ"

[ &7 R HIE 5A

POLARIS SWIFT LIMITED (2% AR A 7)), a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability on 25 April 2018, wholly owned by certain employees of
the Group and a connected person of our Company by virtue of it being a
substantial Shareholder

ERBRAR  R2018F4A2HHEABHRRESTMAZINERA
A HAKEETEEZEHE  ARERTIERRE  ARARIHEEA
+

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this annual report
excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

R ARKHE - RAEHTE - FREES  AFIRAE

the pre-IPO share option scheme approved and adopted by our Company on
19 June 2019
ARATRIR201956 A 198 #E/f RERNE) 8 IX A F 3% & R BT 3

a written notice of the proposal by a shareholder to put forward proposal at
a general meeting of the Company

BRIMAREARRBRAG LR 2 2RAFREEEmBA

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 October 2019
ANAEIHHEIR2019510 A28 BB ETR

research and development
T ok B f 2%

the reallocation of part of the unutilised net proceeds from the IPO originally
allocated for the Phase Two Expansion to the repayment of certain existing
interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as resolved by the Board on 10
June 2020

WMEEEN2020F6 108 FIRE - BRADE AN —HiEZNE D &R
éE%J%é‘%ﬂiibﬁﬁﬁfr?%%ﬁéii%%ﬁé%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁEM%?%%K;‘%%Ffﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%%

a written requisition by the Eligible shareholder(s) who wish to convene an
EGM
BEARARRFIRENEERREENEREZXK

the remuneration committee of the Board

E=gNHMERS

the risk management committee of the Board

ExenRneEER8e

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

AREETT - PEEAERH

ROSY ASTRAL LIMITED (B%2FBR 72 7)), a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability on 26 April 2018, and owned as to 80.63% by Mr.
Meng, 19.37% by Mr. YX Meng, being one of our Controlling Shareholders
BREBRDA - R2018F4 26 EEBHBRBEASTMAZINBR D
A AGREEREFALEDFIFEHFB0.63% K4K119.37% - AR
RzZ—

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EEEDIESN BB HRIEERD] - KTRER] - s AR M ek



“Share(s)”
[ |

“Share Award Plans”

[ R fn 22 Rh=T &1

"Share Option Scheme”
[ B AR EAT & ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ B

'

“Share Incentive Committee’
[ BEEZES ]

“Sinopec”

a1t

“SPARK"
[ SPARK

uSq.m.u

[ 7K ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P

“subsidiary(ies)”

=Nl

“substantial shareholder(s)”

2 e

"US dollars”
EM

“Year”

[AFE]

II%H
[%]

"k

[*]
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A

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of our Company

AR AR FIEE0. 108 TR & B

the Connected Persons' Share Award Plan and Non-Connected Persons'
Share Award Plan

BRI A LA fn 2Rt 8 S SR RRSE A LA fn 22 RBh =1 &)

the share option scheme was adopted by a resolution in writing by the then
shareholders of the Company on 19 June 2019
RARIERARRN201966 H 198 BB EMRE RN B ET S

holder(s) of the Shares
ECHEEEZ=DN

the share incentive committee of the Board, which comprises Directors and/
or senior management of the Group

EZ2ORHBBZEES  hMEFER IEREEEEXK

China Petroleum and Chemical Corporation (fF B/AH{L TEE A 7))
A ML TEE AR

King Salman Energy Park in Dammam, Saudi Arabia
WIRFESERS BT LRI

square metres
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EAMAaRZMBER A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAIAE TR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EA EmARIPTE FHEE

United states dollars, the lawful currency of the united sates of America

I XBUEEEY

the financial year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A3V B I RFE

per cent
Btk

For identification purpose only
EHRRIER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Dalipal Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | hereby present the Company’s Annual Report for the
year of 2024.

The year of 2024 witnessed accelerated changes unseen in a
century, marked by volatile international situation, global economic
stagnation, and weakened social confidence. The complexity,
severity and uncertainty of the external environment as well as
internal structural adjustments were on the rise. These challenges
brought persistent pressures to enterprises. Nevertheless, Dalipal
remained resilient and unwavering in the face of adversity. The past
year has become a pivotal milestone in Dalipal’s history.

Standing at a new historical juncture, we focused on future growth
and sowed seeds of hope. With foresight, we launched our Middle
East development strategy in March 2024, expanding beyond Hong
Kong to establish a presence in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“KSA")
to tap into high-quality potential markets across the Middle East,
Africa, and the Americas. Key milestones include:

e June 2024: Successful registration of the Group’s trademark
with the Saudi Intellectual Property Authority.

e August 2024: Obtained an Industrial Investment License
from the Saudi Ministry of Investment and completed the
registration of Dalipal International Industrial Company (“Dalipal
International”) with the Ministry of Commerce.

e November 2024: Signed a Letter of Intent with King Salman
Energy Park (“SPARK"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Saudi
Aramco, to establish production facilities within SPARK.
Additionally, Dalipal International entered a Memorandum
of Understanding with MCC Capital Engineering & Research
Incorporation Limited (“MCC Capital”) for the construction of
the SPARK production base, covering the master plan design of
the plant for the facilities of the R&D Center, the International
Sales Center, the Intelligence Center, the Manufacturing Center,
and the Energetic Center, as well as the three-dimensional
design for the production process, and the engineering
construction and management work. Thus, the prelude to the
construction of production base in Saudi Arabia has officially
begun.

e December 2024: The Company’s subsidiary, Dalipal Pipe
Company, has been approved by Saudi Arabian Oil Company
(“Saudi Aramco”) to be included in its e-market supplier
database after passing the documentary review and on-site
factory inspection.

B BARR
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The year of 2024 saw the full launch of our high-end oil drilling
and energy equipment pipe manufacturing project in Saudi Arabia,
paving the way for a new chapter in global expansion.

This year, we were not afraid of pressure and challenges, to
overcome difficulties and breakthroughs. We faced the intricate
internal and external environments, bore the pressure of the Red Sea
market, and all the employees united to seek a breakthrough in the
predicament. Capital market recognition surged as the Company was
included in the Hang Seng Composite Index, Shanghai-Hong Kong
Stock Connect, and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programs.
We were honored with awards such as the “Top 100 HK Stocks
ESG Excellence Award”, “Golden Grid Award — Outstanding High-
End Manufacturing Enterprise”. We centered the product market on
‘adjusting structure, improving efficiency and reducing costs’, which
has stabilised the development of the enterprise to the greatest
extent possible. The Company was listed among China’s Industrial
Carbon Peaking “Frontrunner” enterprises, with APl 5CT and 5L
series oil casing products receiving green certifications. The project
‘Key Technology Development and Industrialisation of Ultra-High
Strength and High Toughness Corrosion-Resistant Casing’ was firstly
supported by the central government special fund. While promoting
the parallel progress of various businesses, the Company attaches
great importance to compliance and risk control management. We
obtained the ISO 37301:2021 Compliance Management System
Certification, became one of the first enterprises in China to obtain
the certificate with the ANAB accreditation mark, and established a
good image of standardised and sound operation.

Looking ahead to the year of 2025, uncertainties persist in the
internal and external environment. The transformation of the
Company overlaps with economic and industry cycles, amplifying
operational pressures. Our development path in 2025 is destined to
be full of challenges, but we have no choice but to move forward.
We will strengthen our confidence and see the huge opportunities
hidden behind the difficulties. With the support of new projects,
Dalipal has seized the opportunity for high-end, digital, intelligent
and green development in the steel pipe manufacturing industry.
Looking at the changing situation and self-development, we still
have a lot of conditions and space to improve quality, increase
varieties and strengthen brand, so we remain optimistic and positive
about the future development of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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In 2025, we will maintain strategic focus, drive innovation, and align
capabilities with evolving demands. We will adhere to both projects
and operations, further promote the rapid iterative transformation
of product structure, further refine on-site management around cost
capability improvement, further promote standardized operations
and management modernization, release new management
momentum, and create certain development in an uncertain
environment!

Last but not the least, | am fully aware that the development in the
coming year will not be easily achieved, so | would like to express my
most sincere gratitude to all Dalipal employees for their hard work,
shareholders for their trust and support, partners for their close
collaboration, and friends from all walks of life for their care and
help! Facing new challenges and leaping over development cycles,
the year of 2025 demands relentless effort, but with unity and
perseverance, we will steer the “Dalipal Vessel” through turbulent
waters toward sustained success.

Meng Fanyong
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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EENSREEEEAN

Executive Directors
Mr. Meng Fanyong (& L E), aged 62

Executive Director and Chairman of the Board

Mr. Meng is an executive Director and Chairman of the Board
responsible for the overall strategic development of the Group.
Mr. Meng is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. He was
appointed as Director on 28 August 2018 and re-designated as
executive Director on 27 February 2019. Mr. Meng has over 43
years of experience in oilfield equipment business. He also has over
26 years of experience in operation and management business of
OCTG manufacturing. He joined the Group on 18 September 1998.
Mr. Meng has been a director and chairman of Dalipal Pipe since
September 1998. Prior to joining the Group, he acquired knowledge
and experiences in operation of oilfield and oil pipe manufacturing
industry by holding various positions in North China Second Drilling,
which principally engages in maintenance of oilfield equipment
and oilfield service, including technician, dispatcher of machine
maintenance factory, workshop director, manager of machine
maintenance factory, and deputy factory director of operational and
services department from September 1981 to July 1999. Mr. Meng
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Meng is
the father of Mr. YX Meng, an executive Director and the deputy
chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. Meng graduated from
Communist Party of China Hebei Provincial Party School Party and
Government Cadres College* (1 3/AdbE Z B E BUEr&F (X2
B) in the PRC in July 1998. Mr. Meng holds approximately 80.6%
of the issued share capital of Rosy Astral Limited, which has interest
in such number of Shares of the Company under Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of SFO as disclosed in the section headed “Substantial
Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” in this report.
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Mr. Zhang Hongyao (FRAL#&), aged 55

Executive Director, Vice-Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer

Mr. Zhang was appointed as Director on 27 February 2019, re-
designated as a non-executive Director and vice-chairman of
the Board on 19 June 2019, and re-designated as an executive
Director from non-executive Director on 1 January 2020, and was
appointed as chief executive officer of the Group on 4 April 2022.
He is responsible for leading the business development of the
Group including sales, marketing and investment management,
etc. Mr. Zhang has more than 20 years of experience in oil pipe
manufacturing industry. Prior to joining the Group, he has been
the deputy general manager of Baosteel America Inc.* (i3
BBR7Aa]) since July 2015; the deputy general manager of the steel
pipe department of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (& L& %
ABR2AF]) from August 2007 to July 2015; the general manager
and director of Yantai Lubao Steel Pipe Company Limited (EZ2 &
ZiNEARETE AT from August 2004 to June 2005 and from
June 2005 to August 2007 respectively; and the deputy general
manager of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. Steel Pipe Branch* (&
1Ly 8 82 A% 15 B BR A A1 E 5 2 7)) from August 2004 to June
2005. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in trade economics
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E)8Bf 48K
) in July 1992 and a master’s degree of arts from West Virginia
University in December 2001. Mr. Zhang has interest in such number
of underlying Shares of the Company under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of SFO as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” in this report.
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Ms. Xu Wenhong (X 4L), aged 56

Executive Director and Chief Legal Officer

Ms. Xu is an executive Director appointed on 27 February 2019 and
the chief legal officer responsible for the overall legal compliance
of the Group. Ms. Xu is the chairlady of the ESG Committee. Ms.
Xu has more than 31 years of experience in commercial legal
advisory and over 19 years of experience in management of oil
pipe manufacturing business. She joined the Group on 1 April
2003. She has been the chief legal consultant and secretary of
the board of director of Dalipal Pipe since April 2003 and June
2014, respectively. She was also a director of Dalipal Pipe from
August 2007 to April 2010 and since October 2013. Ms. Xu has
been the deputy general manager of Dalipal Pipe Company Bohai
New District Branch Company* (ZNERBEREBRAGNE
¥l@ 72 ]) from November 2011 to October 2012, the deputy
general manager of Dalipal Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd.*
(EHTHAEEER2AA) from July 2009 to November 2011.
She has also been the assistant of the general manager of Dalipal
Pipe from April 2003 to December 2005 and the deputy general
manager of Dalipal Pipe from December 2005 to October 2016.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Xu was a lawyer in Hebei Jinsheng
Law Firm* GA[4t4& BRI EF5FT) from June 2001 to March 2003;
a legal officer of North China Petroleum Science and Industrial
Company* (GEJLAMEITE LR F]) (currently known as Rengiu
City Huabei Qilfield Technology Industrial Trade General Company*
(EETELHAR T Z A F)) from September 1997 to June
2001; and legal officer of North China Second Drilling from March
1993 to March 1998. Ms. Xu is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Xu obtained a diploma in legal education in
network education institute of Shandong University* (1L 5 K248
BB BPt) in July 2004, the qualification of PRC lawyer in June
1996, the qualification of Senior Corporate Compliance Specialist in
December 2022, and the qualification of registered ESG analyst in
October 2023.

EERGSREEEEHN

BXALL L > 565%
WITEERAREE

B+ R2019F2 A27RAEEZE X ARITE SR E
BEE BEASEEBRRBERGHREE - BK
THAESGEESEE - RUTHRAEEER NE
BENFEBENAAENEXEREFRE9
FEE o MR2003F4 8 1BMAKRER - KE
20034 A K2014F6 A DRI AE N EER
ERN@LIEBERRESSWE - H1X2007F8AH
Z2010F4 AR A2013F 10 AENTER
BAEEE - BT MN2011FE11AE2012910A4
RENERHERBEERAGDEFES QA
R BB - BR2009F7 AE201MF 11 A AE
NEFAEEFEGRARMBIBLE - R
20034 A £2005% 12 A %2005 12 A £2016
FI0RANMD R ABENEERAENBKIENER
BIARAIR o MMARERE 2B - R R20014F6
AZE2003%3 A AWt &M EEATHY2ED |
MR1997F9 A E2001F6 A AL AMEI TEA
ARICGABEETEILRAR TERR ) KA
B8 ANR1993F3AE 199843 A AEILE
“EHNEEHE - Lt hAREEETHE
NENEE o BTN 200457 AL A48
BB BRESERHBE UR - 11996%F6 AER
BHREEAER  R2022F 12 ARE Skt
BIREIER - AR 2023410 A BUGFEMESGH
WEREHR -



2 O Dalipal Holdings Limited 3 ) &2 i% 5 R 2 &)

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES
EEREREEEEN

Mr. Meng Yuxiang (ZF#), aged 38

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Mr. YX Meng is an executive Director appointed on 27 February
2019 and the deputy chief executive officer responsible for the
overall human resources and production operational management of
the Group. Mr. YX Meng is a member of Remuneration Committee.
He has over 13 years of experience in management. Mr. YX Meng
joined the Group on 21 May 2017. He has been the deputy general
manager and a director of Dalipal Pipe since December 2017 and
June 2017, respectively. Mr. YX Meng was the assistant of the
general manager of Dalipal Pipe from May 2017 to December 2017.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. YX Meng worked in Beijing Dacheng
Real Estate Development Company Limited* (1t 5 ARk = i 2 F 3%
BRREEZAF) as the deputy head of the follow-up working group
from January 2014 to January 2015 and head of land resources
management group from February 2015 to April 2017. He was also
the head of planning and design department and office executive
assistant of Beijing BBMG Property Co., Ltd.* Jt REBEXAR
2 7)) from February 2011 to February 2012 and from March 2012
to January 2014, respectively; and an engineering staff member of
BBMG Property Management Co., Ltd. Jiahua Branch* Qt =& B4
EERBRETRAIEBEESD A A]) from July 2008 to February
2011. Mr. YX Meng is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. YX Meng is the son of Mr. Meng Fanyong, an executive
Director and chairman of the Board. Mr. YX Meng obtained a
bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from Beijing Construction
Engineering College (At R TI2ZPT) (currently known as Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (3t K E) in
July 2008, and obtained a master of business administration from
Peking University (1t X AE2) in June 2022.
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Non-executive Director
Mr. Yin Zhixiang (B8 % %f), aged 67

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yin was an executive Director appointed on 27 February 2019
and the chief technical officer responsible for the overall research
and development and technical management of the Group. With
effect from 4 April 2022, Mr. Yin was re-designated as a non-
executive Director. He has more than 43 years of experience in the
operation of oilfield. He joined the Group on 23 August 2010. Mr.
Yin has been the chief technical expert and deputy general manager
of Dalipal Pipe since June 2017 and October 2016, respectively; the
project manager of Dalipal Pipe since January 2018; and the deputy
general manager for general affairs from November 2011 to October
2016 and the director of technical centre from December 2012 to
October 2015 of Dalipal Pipe. He was also the general manager of
Dalipal Pipe Company Bohai New District Branch Company* (& /&
HHEAEARARESHE D A7) from November 2011 to May
2016. He was also the deputy manager for general affairs of Dalipal
Special Type Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (3 /) &R
SUEBTR A A)) from July 2009 to November 2011 and the deputy
general manager of Dalipal Group Co., Ltd.* (EHEEEFRA
7)) from July 2008 to July 2009. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the director and deputy general manager of Rongsheng Machinery
Manufacture Ltd. of Huabei Oilfield, Hebei (A/dtZEdt ) 48 B i
HEEGR A a]) from May 2002 to July 2008; and the dispatcher,
chief of production division, branch factory manager and deputy
factory manager, of the second machinery factory of North China
Petroleum Management Authority* (ZEJbAME 12 H 5 — # A ER)
from August 1981 to May 2002. Mr. Yin gained his experiences
in machinery production in a factory located in Jiangsu in the PRC
from March 1977 to August 1979. Mr. Yin had been a director of
Dalipal Pipe prior to September 2020. Mr. Yin obtained a diploma
in economics management from Communist Party of China Central
Party College* (FPrh R E R HEEEFT) in December 1995 and a
diploma in statistics from Hebei University in December 1989.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Guo Kaiqi (ZB}E), aged 69

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Guo is an independent non-executive Director appointed
on 19 June 2019. Mr. Guo is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, and a member of each of
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and ESG Committee.
Mr. Guo has over 52 years of experience in operation of oilfield. Mr.
Guo was the party committee secretary and deputy general manager
of China Petroleum Materials Corporation (4 Bl/A 8 #& A 7)) from
November 2007 to July 2015; the party committee secretary, party
committee deputy secretary, secretary for committee of discipline
inspection and union president of North China Oilfield Branch
Company* (ZEALRMA S 2 F]) from July 1999 to November 2007;
the deputy director of North China Petroleum Administration Bureau
from November 1997 to July 1999; the party committee secretary,
party committee deputy secretary, party committee member, chief
of corporate management department and committee member of
organisation department of North China Petroleum Administration
Bureau Underground Operation Company* (ZEit A EEEREBH T
YEZ /2 7)) from July 1985 to November 1997; and the worker and
committee member, of Dagang oilfield, and North China oilfield
from November 1972 to September 1983. Mr. Guo obtained a
master’s degree in corporate management in Petroleum University
(Beijing)* (FAiAAEZ (4E70)) in June 2002. Mr. Guo has an interest
in such number of underlying Shares of the Company under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this report.

Wong Jovi Chi Wing (£%%8), aged 44

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive Director appointed on
19 June 2019. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and a member of the ESG Committee.
Mr. Wong has over 21 years of experience of corporate finance,
investment and asset management experience. Mr. Wong is
currently the investment director of TGG Ventures Limited and
an independent non-executive directors of Golden Faith Group
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2863), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was the managing director
of Seazen Resources Asset Management Limited from April 2022
to October 2023; an executive director of Wonder Capital Group
Limited from March 2018 to April 2022; a director of distribution
department of Janus Henderson Investors (Hong Kong) Limited from
July 2014 to March 2018. Before engaging in asset management
business, Mr. Wong served at the investment banking division of
China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Ltd. and Haitong International
Capital Limited respectively with extensive experience in Initial
Public Offer and Merge and Acquisition. Mr. Wong also worked in
Auto22.com Ltd from December 2002 to February 2010, and his
last position was general manager. Mr. Wong holds a Master of
Business Administrative from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology and a Bachelor of Science from The University of
Auckland. He is also a member of CPA Australia.
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Cheng Haitao (R /&7%), aged 66

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Cheng is an independent non-executive Director appointed
on 19 June 2019. Mr. Cheng is a member of each of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheng has over 33 years of experience
in the steel pipe manufacturing industry. Since March 2019, Mr.
Cheng has been the part-time consultant of Mongolia Baogang
Steel Union Company Limited* (N5 & &2 30 sl 8 AR (D B R A 7).
Mr. Cheng has been the honorary director of the Expert Committee
of the Shanghai Steel Pipe Industry Association* (- /&8l%E 1T
SHEREZEE) since May 2018 and he has been certified as the
consultant of Steel Pipe Division, China Steel Construction Society*
(PS4 EME D L) in April 2017, Prior to July 2019, he
was a committee member of the Fourth Steel Pipe Technician Sub-
committee, National Steel Standardisation Committee* (2B #iiZ
EZEGENENESHINE B ), and president and editor of
Steel Pipe ( {$%& ) #5%), a publication relating to the steel and
metal pipe industry published in the PRC, from September 1999
and April 2007, respectively, to June 2020. Mr. Cheng was also the
deputy manager and deputy general manager of Pangang Group
Chengdu Vanadium Steel Company Limited* (225 B &P 5
fR 2 A]) from August 2008 to May 2014 and from May 2014 to May
2017 respectively; deputy manager of Pangang Group Chengdu
Steel and Metal Company* (2255 B ZBR 8 AR E T A7) from
June 2002 to August 2008; the deputy general manager of Pangang
Group Chengdu Seamless Steel Pipe Company Limited* (23 2=
R EP 458 B PR E LA R)) from December 2000 to May 2002;
the chief engineer, deputy general manager and chief dispatcher
from June 1995 to December 2000 of Chengdu Seamless Steel Pipe
Factory* (AKX #BEE4EIHER); and the deputy factory director and
the factory director of Chengdu Seamless Rolling Factory* (A £B£E
42 B HR) from June 1993 to May 1995; and the deputy factory
director of Chengdu Seamless Tube Factory I1* (A &PEELEE]E — 5
&) from May 1991 to May 1993. Mr. Cheng gained his experiences
in production of metal in a factory located in Sichuan in the PRC
from July 1987 to May 1989 and technical experiences in iron and
steel metallurgical processing and thermal processing in a research
institute in the PRC from May 1982 to August 1984. Mr. Cheng
obtained a master’s degree in metal pressure processing in Beijing
Steel and Metal College* (b 5l #Z2F%) in June 1987.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Gan Shuya (F#izz), aged 57

Chief Operating Officer (Resigned as Executive Director on 1 April
2024)

Ms. Gan was an executive Director appointed on 27 February 2019
and resigned on 1 April 2024. She currently is the chief operating
officer of the Group responsible for the overall operational and
financial management of the Group. Ms. Gan has more than
39 years of experience in auditing and accounting in oil-related
industry. She joined the Group on 23 August 2010. She has been
the director and financial director of Dalipal Pipe since October
2016 and December 2017, respectively. Ms. Gan has been the
assistant to the general manager of Dalipal Pipe from October
2010 to December 2017; the manager of finance department and
assistant of the general manager of Dalipal Special Type Equipment
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (ENERHFREEREFRAFT) from
August 2009 to September 2010 and from July 2009 to September
2010, respectively; and department head and manager of finance
department of Dalipal Group Co., Ltd.* (1 EEBBR A F]) from
October 2007 to March 2008 and from April 2008 to June 2009,
respectively. Prior to joining the Group, she held various positions in
Hebei Yanhua Accounting Firm Company Limited* (4t &5t
EiZ=#FT A MR A R)), incuding the auditor, project manager, senior
project manager and department manager from December 1998 to
September 2007. She was also the auditor of North China Petroleum
Audit Office Fourth Audit Office* (4t A M ET R F N ETZ) from
January 1997 to November 1998; the auditor and the accountant
of North China Second Drilling from July 1991 to December 1996
and from May 1985 to August 1988, respectively; and the worker of
Cangzhou Machine Maintenance Factory of North China Petroleum
Second Drilling Company* CGEIL A HEERRE _#HTIEAFA
INHEIER) from September 1984 to April 1985. Ms. Gan is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Gan completed
a course in accountancy at the Adult Higher Education, School of
Continuing Education, Hebei University* (aldb AKE3 78 KE2) in July
2001. She obtained the qualification of PRC certified public valuer
in September 2005 and the qualification of PRC certified public
accountant in May 1995.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. Lau Ying Kit (212 #§), aged 51

Company Secretary and Finance and Investor Relations Director

Mr. Lau Ying Kit (B ££) is the director of finance and investor
relations and the company secretary of the Group. He joined
the Group in December 2021. Prior to joining to the Group, Mr.
Lau worked as the chief financial officer, company secretary and
independent non-executive directors for certain listed companies
in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr. Lau has over 21 years experience
in financing and accounting in China, Hong Kong and Canada.
Mr. Lau is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and holds a master degree in finance from City
University of Hong Kong. He is currently also an independent non-
executive director of four companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, namely Kingdom Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 528), United Strength Power Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2337), Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 6833)
and Kangli International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 6890). He
was also an independent non-executive director of China Wood
Optimization (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 1885) until 15 February
2022.
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Business Review

Development of the Group’s Industry during the Year

In 2024, facing the complex and ever-changing domestic and
international economic environment, China’s economic operation
is moving forward steadily, and innovation-driven and high-
quality development have become the main theme. Against this
background, the development focus of many industries has begun
to shift from quantity to quality, from traditional manufacturing
to intelligent manufacturing, and from high consumption to low-
carbon and green. The special seamless steel pipe for energy
industry to which the Group belongs has also faced challenges
such as intensified homogeneous competition, market demand
differentiation, declining capacity utilisation, and structural
transformation and upgrading. Therefore, developing high-value-
added, high-tech specialty products and improving the level of
intelligent, green, and lean manufacturing have become the
direction and consensus of industry development.

During the Year, due to the influence of many factors, the Group's
industry still lacked endogenous power, resulting in a further
imbalance between supply and demand, showing the characteristics
of high supply, differentiation of demand structure, continuous
price decline, and continuous squeeze on benefits. From the supply
perspective, the continuous release of new production capacity has
led to intensified market competition. Some small and medium-sized
enterprises have faced greater operating pressure, while the merger
and reorganisation of large enterprises have been accelerated, and
the industrial concentration has been further improved. It is expected
that the future market will show the coexistence of key enterprises
and characteristic enterprises, and the profit differentiation between
leading enterprises and small and medium-sized enterprises. From
the demand perspective, with the global economic recovery and the
advancement of infrastructure construction, driven by the oil, natural
gas, chemical and other industries, market demand has increased,
but affected by domestic infrastructure and other policy controls,
the demand for seamless steel pipes has fluctuated and been
generally on a downward trend. According to Mysteel’s research
and statistics, the output of seamless steel pipes decreased by about
6% and exports decreased by about 5% year-on-year during the
Year.

At present, China economy has entered into a stage of high-quality
development. Driven by domestic supply-side structural reforms
and the construction of a strong manufacturing nation initiative,
and other strategic policies, industrial structure adjustment,
manufacturing transformation and upgrading, and the accelerated
development of high-end manufacturing have stimulated the
demand for high-end and specialty products. It is expected that the
industry in which the Group is located will continue to differentiate.
Differentiated specialty enterprises will be able to better cope
with market competition and industry challenges by grasping
industry development trends and increasing product research and
development and technological innovation.
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Main Business and Business Model of the Group during
the Year

The Group’s main business was research and development,
production, technical services and sales of high-end energy pipes and
special seamless steel pipes. The products are widely used in various
energy development, mining, transportation and energy equipment
manufacturing pipes such as oil, natural gas, shale gas and new
energy. Customers include well-known domestic and overseas oil
companies, petrochemical companies, mechanical processing and
manufacturing companies, geological exploration and coal mining
companies, etc. The Company is a nationally recognised high-tech
enterprise and a national intellectual property advantage enterprise,
and a Hong Kong listed company that focuses on the production of
special pipes.

The Group's business model is to “production determined by sales”,
combining market pricing and self-pricing, and formulate sales
strategies based on value. The R&D end focuses on technology
accumulation and self-R&D, and cooperates with well-known
domestic universities to continuously strengthen the research
on cutting-edge technologies of seamless steel pipes and the
development of economical high-end products to meet the needs
of customers at different levels. The production end gives full play
to the advantages of the full industrial chain, has the ability to
quickly transform mass production and small batch, multi-variety
refined production, and independently calculates business units to
create the core competitiveness of each production line. On the
procurement end, the Company’s raw materials are scrap steel and
various alloys. Through supplier evaluation, in line with the principle
of quality first and win-win cooperation, a stable supply channel is
formed to ensure procurement quality.

During the Year, the Group was committed to “adjusting
structure, improving efficiency and reducing costs” to build core
competitiveness, expanding the coverage of non-API specialty pipe
products, developing economical coal, geological drill pipe materials
and high-grade steel boom pipes for engineering machinery,
cylinder pipes, perforating gun barrels, acid-resistant pipeline pipes,
hydrogen transmission pipes, etc., and has supplied them to well-
known domestic and overseas companies, sales of exclusive branded
products increased by 38% and sales of non-API speciality products
increased by 21% during the Year. With the construction of the
Company’s “High-end Oil Drilling and Energy Equipment Pipe
Production Line”, the implementation of the “specialised, refined,
exceptional and innovative (3 ~ 5 * % + )" business strategy
will further enhance the Company’s differentiated competitive
advantage and greatly enhance the competitiveness of its products.
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Analysis of Core Competitiveness

During the Year, the Group continued to build its core competitive
strengths in technology research and development, intelligent
manufacturing, green and low-carbon, lean management and talent
training:

)

In terms of technology R&D, the self-designed high-grade steel
casing resistant to hydrogen sulfide corrosion was supplied in
batches, with stable and reliable performance, and has been
widely used in domestic shale gas blocks with high hydrogen
sulfide content; the self-designed economical low-Cr oil
casing products resistant to carbon dioxide and chloride ion
corrosion were supplied to domestic and overseas markets, and
strategically expanded domestic and overseas markets due to
their good cost effectiveness; the successfully developed heavy
oil thermal recovery casing with high-grade steel, excellent
high-temperature mechanical properties, The company has
enhanced its position in the field of casing for thermal wells;
the economical special buckle developed in cooperation with
the Pipe Research Institute has completed test evaluation and
achieved batch supply, and its performance and reliability have
been recognised by customers; the Company has achieved good
results in the development of high-corrosion-resistant materials,
high-precision mechanical pipe rolling process research and
high-purity special alloy smelting technology breakthroughs in
cooperation with well-known domestic universities, and has
successfully used them in the production of the Company’s
double-high products; it has carried out in-depth research
and development of steel pipes for hydrogen storage and
transportation pipelines, participated in the compilation of the
“Steel Pipes for Hydrogen Storage and Transportation Pipelines”
standard, and participated in the revision and review of various
industry standards, which has enhanced the Company’s industry
status and its role in technology leadership.

In terms of intelligent manufacturing, the large-scale
intelligent manufacturing equipment introduced in the newly
built production lines represents the forefront of industry
development and will strongly enhance the core competitiveness
of the Company, including: the full-process material tracking
system, which can realise the real-time tracking and recording
of product production and quality data; digitalised testing
equipment, which can build a comprehensive, efficient and
accurate testing system to effectively ensure product quality;
extensive use of intelligent equipment to replace manual
operations, which can realise unmanned operation of most
of processes, improve production efficiency, and provide
guarantees for the stability and consistency of product quality;
process modeling system can ensure that the production
process is in the optimal state; intelligent turnover system, which
can realise the full automation and intelligent management
of product storage and circulation in intermediate processes
and finished product storage and shipment, greatly shorten
the material turnover time and improve logistics operation
efficiency.
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3)

In terms of green development, the Company continue to
increase R&D investment in green and low-carbon products
such as high strength, high toughness, corrosion resistance,
long life, energy saving and material saving, and create
environmentally friendly products. All 20 steel grades of the
Company'’s products within the scope of the API certificate have
passed the green product certification, and the “green content”
of product manufacturing has been continuously improved;
the Company has once again obtained the China Classification
Society certification and passed 5 product carbon footprint
evaluation certificates, marking that the Company’s green and
sustainable development management has reached a new level;
the Company's self-developed T4 special buckle product has
obtained the first supply chain carbon footprint certification
in the Southwest Oil and Gas Field, reflecting customers’
recognition of the Company’s green development concept.
Through strategic cooperation, a green supply chain is created,
environmental management is incorporated into the supplier
evaluation system, and suppliers are guided to practice the
green development concept. In terms of energy conservation
and emission reduction, advanced technologies and products
such as full oxygen combustion, ultraviolet ray curing coatings,
and recycled water recycling are introduced, and energy-saving
transformation of hydraulic systems, control and utilisation of
industrial water circulation chloride ions, etc., are carried out,
effectively achieving energy conservation and carbon reduction
goals, and emission indicators such as sulfides, nitrogen oxides,
and particulate matter are far lower than the ultra-low emission
standards of Hebei Province. The step-by-step implementation
of photovoltaic power generation and wind power generation
will help the Company transform towards green energy.

In terms of lean operation, the Company combined lean
improvement with professional management such as
technology R&D management, quality management, site
management and safety management, introduced external
experts to guide, further promoted site visualisation and
6S cleaning activities, and established a lean improvement
system promotion mechanism; encouraged employees to
participate in self-improvement management, through an
employee technology and management innovation incubation
platform, widely solicited innovation proposals, and formed
a good innovation atmosphere in the Company; promoted
management standardisation work, focused on improving
process capabilities, sorted out improvement points from the
perspectives of efficiency, quality and equipment, optimised
operation processes and operation specifications; continued to
promote differentiated design of products and processes, and
completed the implementation of a number of cost reduction
and efficiency improvement measures.
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(5) In terms of talent training, the talent management project
takes “cognitive improvement” as the main line and uses
the IDP self-improvement plan and key special projects as the
implementation tools. It has successively carried out training
activities such as Peking University famous teacher classes, mid-
and senior-level tutor guidance, reading salons and IDP plan
review to enhance deeper cognition of oneself, others and
society, and lay a talent foundation for the realisation of the
Company’s business and strategic goals; launched a technical
talent management project, through the three major work tasks
of knowledge accumulation, hierarchical empowerment, special
projects and learning sharing, extract technical talent knowledge
and experience, and empower personnel professionally to build
a technical talent team training system; the operation team
takes the improvement of team leader capabilities as the main
line, and takes the point evaluation of operation employees
as the starting point. Through the development of specific
businesses such as 6S cleaning, safety level management,
guality level management, cost transfer management,
equipment management, etc., the management capabilities and
management awareness of grassroots managers are gradually
improved, thereby improving the execution capabilities of
operational staff.

Progress of Middle East Development Strategy

In March 2024, the Group’s Board of Directors finalised the Middle
East Strategic Development Plan, marking a step forward in the
Company’s expansion of its business in international markets.
During the Year, the Group (i) has acquired an industrial investment
license issued by the Ministry of Investment of Saudi Arabia for
its construction of facilities as well as future investment and
financing in Saudi Arabia; (ii) has successfully obtained the company
registration certificate issued by the Ministry of Commerce of Saudi
Arabia; (i) has successfully registered its trademarks (graphic and
text) with the Saudi Authority of Intellectual Property; (iv) has signed
a letter of intent with SPARK, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Saudi Aramco, regarding the Group's establishment of production
facility; (v) has signed a memorandum of cooperation with MCC
Capital in connection with the establishment of the abovementioned
production facility; and (vi) has been included in Saudi Aramco’s
e-marketplace supplier database.
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The Company believes that:

1. The Middle East is an important partner of China’s “Belt and
Road Initiative”, and the development in the Middle East is in
line with China’s national policy. The Middle East is a global hub
connecting Asia, Europe and Africa. Strategic development in
the Middle East is conducive to obtaining local policy, financing
and other support.

2. The Middle East's oil production and reserves are among the
highest in the world, and there is a considerable market demand
for oil and gas pipes and new energy pipelines. The Middle East
is rich in natural energy resources and has absolute advantages
in developing green new energy, and there is a huge potential
demand for new energy pipelines. Establishing production
facilities in the Middle East can better develop overseas markets.

The Company’s construction of production facilities in Saudi
Arabia will help the Company better serve local customers, provide
customers with tailor-made products and services, further enhance
the Company’s international brand awareness, and be more
conducive to the expansion of the Company’s products in the
international market.

Outlook

The management of the Group believes that although the industry
development has shown a complex and changeable situation
due to multiple factors during the Year, the uncertainty of the
economy will exist in the future. However, as macroeconomic
policies are gradually implemented and the market establishes new
expectations, the demand for seamless steel pipes will be expected
to increase under the impetus of multiple industries in 2025, and
the industry will pay more attention to sustainable development.
The development trend of the industry will be to improve product
performance through technological innovation and product research
and development to meet the needs of the high-end market;
to improve production efficiency and product quality through
intelligent manufacturing and digital transformation, and enhance
market competitiveness; to achieve green production through
environmental protection investment and promote the sustainable
development of enterprises; to build a complete supply chain system
through industrial chain integration and coordinated development,
to achieve complementary advantages and resource sharing, and
to enhance overall competitiveness; to reduce dependence on a
single market through the expansion of international markets and
effectively respond to trade risks.
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In 2025, the Group will be firmly committed to the integration of
governance, internationalisation of markets and globalisation of
capital, adhere to the product strategy advantage of “strengthening
one pipe, moderately diversifying, and creating unique leading
products”, comprehensively focus on the positioning of high-end
structural upgrades and expansions, focus on the expansion of
non-API specialty products and markets such as sulfur resistance,
hydrogen resistance, and carbon dioxide resistance and other
corrosion resistance, comprehensively promote the unique
leading products that have been created, and actively explore
new development directions for the industry, mainly targeting
pipelines under special service conditions, hydrogen transmission
pipes in the new energy field, boiler pipes in the thermal power
field, and antibacterial and corrosion-resistant casing in the oil
and gas extraction environment, etc., to create new advantages
in new fields; the multi-dimensional and systematic introduction
of intelligent equipment has achieved comprehensive intelligent
upgrades in the production process, not only achieving results in
product quality, production efficiency, logistics and transportation,
but also achieving major breakthroughs in the field of environmental
protection; the Company has served downstream customer groups
with process innovation, technological innovation and green product
research and development, established an ecological priority,
green and low-carbon development model, and provided support
for the green and low-carbon transformation of the entire energy
industry. At the same time, the Company have actively led suppliers
to practice the ESG concept, resonated with suppliers, and jointly
explored the path of green development; the Company will continue
to promote overseas oil company certification and increase our share
of the international market; the Company have built a management,
technology, and operation team that highly identifies with the
corporate culture, consciously practices the corporate culture,
keeps pace with the Company, and develops sustainably, providing
strong support for the overseas market development strategy while
achieving steady growth in operating performance.
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The Phase Two Expansion has made important progress, and the
main factory building has been successfully topped out, which marks
the entry of construction into the equipment installation stage and
is accelerating towards the goal of production commencement by
the end of the year. After the Phase Two Expansion is completed
and put into production, the main products will be high-end energy
equipment, further expanding and enriching high-pressure boiler
pipes, tubing, perforating gun pipes, high-strength boom pipes,
oil drill pipes and other types of pipes. It will not only effectively
supplement the Company’s existing product specifications and the
range of product mix in our mechanical products category, and help
optimise and upgrade the Company’s product structure, but will
also become an accelerated pioneer in the development of the same
industry towards high-end, intelligent and green directions, and
push the Company’s high-quality development into the fast lane.

Although the Group still recorded a loss for the Year, it managed
to control its loss in the second half of the Year and the operating
conditions have improved significantly compared to the first half.
At present, although the domestic and international situations are
still unclear and affect the seamless steel pipe industry, the Board
believes that the Group’s operations and overall strategic execution
for the year of 2025 have remained steady, and is cautiously
optimistic about the overall industry recovery and improvement.

With steadly advancing our Phase Two Expansion and the Middle
East Strategic Development Plan including the construction of
production in SPARK and the dual listing or secondary listing on
the Saudi Exchange, etc., the Board is confident about the future
development.
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Financial Review
Revenue

The Group recorded a total revenue of RMB3,292.3 million for the
Year, representing a decrease of 14.5% from RMB3,850.0 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the Year, the
revenue of oil and gas pipes and new energy pipes and special
seamless steel pipes decreased, while other products have not been
sold. The following table sets forth the Group’s segment revenue
both in absolute amount and as a percentage of its revenue for the
periods presented:

g JE1]
Wy 55

AEBRAFEHSREE EARK3,292.3
BB BEHZE2023F12831B8E8ARE
3,850.0 BT N FE145% @ KEEARRKAR
BAERIEFRAE RERERETRE TR &
HERBARBRFE - TRIDASEEREHBEA
DEMANBE SR MEBERANB DL

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023 Changes
BZ2024F 1L FE BZ2023F 1L FE 25
Percentage Percentage
Sales of Sales Sales of Sales Sales
HE HEMSL HE HEML HE sl
RMB million %  RMB million %  RMB million %
ARBBEER % AREBEET % AREBEET %
Sale of: HE ¢
Oil and gas pipes BRARARAE 2,19.4 66.7 2,459.9 63.9 (263.5) (10.7)
New energy pipes and #TacBAE &
special seamless steel 45Tk ELNE
pipes 1,095.9 333 1,331.9 34.6 (236.0) (17.7)
Other products HiER - 0.0 58.2 1.5 (58.2) (100.0)
Total B&F 3,292.3 100.0 3,850.0 100.0 (557.7) (14.5)

When compared with 2023, the Group recorded a decrease in
revenue generated by the sale of (i) oil and gas pipes to RMB2,196.4
million for the Year (2023: RMB2,459.9 million), representing a
decrease of 10.7%; and (ii) new energy pipes and special seamless
steel pipes to RMB1,095.9 million for the Year (2023: RMB1,331.9
million), representing a decrease of 17.7%. In addition, the Group
did not record any revenue attributable to sale of other products
during the Year (2023: RMB58.2 million).

B023F ML - AFEAREEIEE()AMK
RARAEEEMNUARLE ARE219%.4
BEL(2023F : ARM245998FE L)
IR 10.7%  R()VFEER B E K& 45 ok & 4
MEMNHEEWABAFEARE 1,0959 &
Er(2023 F : AR® 13319 &) -
WA 17.7% o AN - REBRAFEIL ERE
ERREHEEEMERMNRA(2023F : AR
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The decrease in the Group’s revenue during the Year was mainly
due to the slowdown in investment in energy exploration in
domestic and overseas markets, which led to an insufficient market
demand and a significant decline in both sales volume and sales
price. The following table sets forth the geographical distribution of
the Group’s revenue both in absolute amount and as a percentage
of its revenue for the periods presented:

For the year ended
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For the year ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023 Changes
B22014FLEE BZ2023FLLE5E 2
Percentage Percentage
Sales of Sales Sales of Sales Sales
HE HEMRL HE HEML HE el
RMB million %  RMB million %  RMB million %
AR¥EBER % AREEET % AREFET %
Domestic Sales Bl A 2,913.9 88.5 2,862.8 74.4 51.1 1.8
Overseas Sales B 4MH & 378.4 11.5 987.2 25.6 (608.8) 61.7)
Total &5 3,292.3 100.0 3,850.0 100.0 (557.7) (14.5)

For the Year, the Group’s overseas sales decreased to RMB378.4
million (2023: RMB987.2 million), mainly due to the global economic
downturn, reduced investment in new regional development in
overseas markets, and increased shipping costs due to regional
political instability, resulting in a significant decline in sales volume
and sales price. On the other hand, the Group’s revenue generated
from domestic sales for the Year remained stable with an increment
of 1.8% when compared with that in 2023.

Cost of sales

The Group recorded a total cost of sales of RMB3,028.9 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of 8.8% as compared to
RMB3,321.8 million recorded for the year ended 31 December
2023. Such decrease in the total cost of sales was mainly due to
the decrease in sales volume and the decrease in the price of raw
materials.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's total gross profit for the Year was RMB263.4 million,
representing a decrease of RMB264.8 million as compared to
RMB528.2 million recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Group's overall gross profit margin for the Year was 8.0%,
representing a decrease of 5.7 percentage points from 13.7% for
the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the intensified
economic downturn, the decline in production volume and sales
volume, and the significant drop in sales prices. However, the price
of raw materials is relatively firm, and the decline in the price of raw
materials is much lower than the decline in sales prices.

RFEE  AEEGIINEEREBREZARE
378.4B &L (20234F : ARMO872HE L)
FERZEOBERX - BINTISHRIEFEE
BB MEEBUA TR EFGENA EAELE
A= SEHESRNEERYNREEAK
R Z— A AFEAEEREEANHEERK
AMERET - $82023F 1 IN1.8% ©

HER A

KEE AEEHSHERNAGEARE
3,0289F &L - BWEE2023F12A31HILEE
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Other income

For the Year, the Group’s other income was RMB67.3 million,
representing an increase of RMB22.2 million from RMB45.1 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was
mainly due to the increase in government grants, by-product income
and exchange gains.

Selling expenses

For the Year, the Group's selling expenses were RMB142.3 million,
representing a decrease of 9.4% as compared to RMB157.0 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in freight charges and commission
resulting from the decline in sales volume.

Administrative expenses

For the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were RMB187.9
million, representing an increase of 7.4% as compared to
RMB175.0 million recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in labor expenses,
impairment losses and equity-settled share-based payment expenses.

Finance costs

For the Year, the finance costs of the Group were RMB86.9 million,
representing a decrease of 2.4% as compared to RMB89.0 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease
mainly due to the optimisation of financing structure and the
reduction of loan interest rates.

Income tax credit/(expenses)

The Group recorded income tax credit of RMB9.3 million for the
Year and income tax expenses of RMB17.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease in income tax
expenses of RMB27.1 million. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in profit.

(Loss)/profit for the year

The Group recorded a loss for the year of RMB77.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 whereas it recorded a profit for
the year of RMB134.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing a decrease in profit of RMB211.6 million. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue and gross profit
for the reasons mentioned above.
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Non-IFRS measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, we also use
adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net (loss)/
profit margin (non-IFRS measure) as additional non-IFRS measures,
which are not required by, or presented in accordance with, IFRS
Accounting Standards.

We believe these non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of
operating performance from year to year and company to company
by eliminating potential impacts of certain items. We believe that
these measures provide useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations
in the same manner as they help our management. However,
our presentation of adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure)
and adjusted net (loss)/profit margin (non-IFRS measure) may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other
companies. The use of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an
analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation from, or as
a substitute for an analysis of, our results of operations or financial
condition as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

The following table reconciles our adjusted net (loss)/profit
(non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net (loss)/profit margin (non-IFRS
measure) for the years presented to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards:
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2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB million RMB million
ARBBEERT AREBBET
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER), = F) (77.1) 134.5
Add: -
— Equity-settled share-based payment — AR 4 B UARR 1D B AR
expenses INEGERa 20.3 7.4
Adjusted net (loss)/profit R (&), ME
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Adjusted net (loss)/profit margin ARG (E1E) FE=
(non-IFRS measure) (FEBIR B 15 R &R &) (1.7%) 3.7%
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Capital expenditure

For the Year, the Group invested RMB327.6 million in property,
plant and equipment (2023: RMB86.8 million). The increase in
capital expenditure was mainly due to the Group’s commencement
of the Phase Two Expansion in 2024.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group has mainly financed its working capital and other cash
requirements by net cash generated from operating activities and
resorted to external financing including both long-term and short-
term bank borrowings in case the projected operating cash flow is
insufficient to meet the capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank and on hand amounted
to RMB412.1 million (2023: RMB432.6 million) and were mainly
denominated in RMB, with certain amount denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars.

As at 31 December 2024, interest-bearing borrowings of the Group
amounted to RMB2,212.6 million, among which RMB696.8 million
were long-term interest-bearing borrowings and RMB1,515.8
million were short-term interest-bearing borrowings and all were
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2024, RMB1,898.6 million
(31 December 2023: RMB1,580.2 million) of the interest-bearing
borrowings of the Group have been charged at fixed interest rates.

Debt to equity ratio of the Group, which is calculated by the net
liabilities (interest-bearing borrowings net of cash at bank and
on hand) divided by the total equity as at the respective year end
and multiplied by 100%, was 136.9% as at 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of 45.5 percentage points from 91.4% as
at 31 December 2023. Such increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in borrowings and a decrease in total equity resulting from
the loss for the Year.

Current ratio of the Group, which is calculated based on the current
assets divided by the current liabilities, decreased from 1.15 as at 31
December 2023 to 1.02 as at 31 December 2024.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,795 employees (31
December 2023: 1,658 employees) in total, and total staff costs
(inclusive of Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to
RMB252.9 million (2023: RMB227.6 million).
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The Group believes its success depends on its employees’ provision
of consistent, high quality and reliable services. In order to attract,
retain and enrich the knowledge, skill level and qualifications of
its employees, the Group places a strong emphasis on training for
employees. In addition, the Group offers competitive remuneration
packages, including basic salary, performance-based bonuses and
share incentives, and reviews the remuneration packages annually
according to industry benchmark, financial results, as well as the
performance of employees. The Company has also adopted Share
Option Scheme and Share Award Plans for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including the
employees of the Group, who have contributions to the Group.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of RMB1,131.8 million (2023:
RMB1,220.8 million) and other chattels with carrying amount of
RMB755.9 million (2023: 629.0 million) were pledged as collateral
for the Group's bank borrowings.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates its business in the PRC and positively
expands its overseas business. The Group hedges its exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations through forward foreign exchange
settlement and it is expected that the Group will not be subject to
any materially adverse effects arising from exchange rate fluctuation.
Nevertheless, the Group will closely monitor the financial market
and would consider appropriate measures as and when necessary.

Significant investments held and material acquisitions
and disposals

For the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments or
have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures of the Company (2023: nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group does not have any contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).
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Use of Proceeds from IPO

The Share were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
8 November 2019 by way of IPO. The net proceeds after deducting
the underwriting commission and other costs and expenses arising
from the IPO were approximately HK$426.3 million (approximately
RMB383.7 million). As stated in the Prospectus, the Company
intended to use the proceeds (i) to fund the Phase Two Expansion; (ii)
to strengthen the Group’s product research and development and
innovation capabilities; (iii) to strengthen the Group'’s relationships
with key customers, expand the Group’s customer base and further
expand the Group’s sales to overseas markets; and (iv) for general
replenishment of working capital and other general corporate
purpose. On 10 June 2020, the Board resolved to allocate part of
the unutilised net proceeds of the Phase Two Expansion for the
repayment of certain existing interest-bearing borrowings of the
Group. For details of the Reallocation, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 10 June 2020.

During the Year, the net proceeds were utilised as follows:
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TREIFABRBFERAFEANERBR :

Unutilised ~ Total amount  Total amount Unutilised

Original proceeds as at utilised for utilised asat  proceeds as at

planned use of Amountof  31December thereporting  31December 31 December

netproceeds  Reallocation 2023 period 2024 2024

SEPEES B 1E2024% BE202%

Rt 8 12A318  REEER 12318 128318

FigsE AERN BERN BERN KERMH

BERE ENORRE  FERERE E BRE  SRERE

(RMB million) ~ (RMB million) ~ (RMB million) ~ (RMBmillion) ~ (RMB million) ~ (RMB million)

(\E%EET) (AR¥EBER) (AR¥BER) (\R%AET) (ARNEER) (ARWEER)

To fund the Phase Two Expansion BE-_BRABEEIMES 339.2 (200.0) 114 114 139.2 -
Tostrengthen the Group's product ~ JIEREBHNERHTEA

research and development and ElEiEd

innovation capabilties 92 - 5.4 5.4 92 -

To strengthen the Group’s MAAEEELERPH)

relationships with key customers, B BAAEERER

enlarge the Group's customer base 28 + Wik —#FHEA

and further expand the Group's TEBEBINIANEE

sales to overseas markets 1.1 - 19 19 1.7 -
For general replenishment of working - BRI R EEE 4

capital and other general coporate  Ef—RIELR AR

purpose 276 - - - 276 -
For repayment of borrowings AREEEN - 2000 - - 2000 -
Total At 3837 - 18.7 18.7 3837 -

REAWABRIBFRERAFEREMER -

All the unutilised proceeds had been utilised during the Year.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

The Directors presented their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the development,
manufacturing and sale of oil and gas pipes, new energy pipes and
special seamless steel pipes and other products. The activities of
the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business
and geographical segments is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December
2024, a discussion on the Group’s future business development and
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 14 to 16
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 26 to 40.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Year by key financial
performance indicators is set out in the section headed “Financial
Review"” on pages 34 to 39.

The Company promotes the culture of adhering to the highest
ethical standards of business conduct and commits to comply
with all prevailing laws and regulations in all its operating regions.
During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-
compliance or breach of the applicable legislation or regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

There was no significant event after Year up to the date of this
report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the Year have
been reviewed and approved by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Audit and Risk Management Committee is
of the opinion that such financial statements comply with the
applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and all other
applicable legal requirements. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee therefore recommended the Board to approve the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the Year. The results
of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 198.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$0.04 per
Share).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting is currently scheduled to be held on
Friday, 23 May 2025. A notice convening the AGM and other
relevant documents will be published and made available to the
Shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE
AGM

In order for determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 20 May 2025 to Friday, 23 May 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025
AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 19 May 2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is subject to various environmental laws
and regulations set by the PRC national, provincial and municipal
governments. Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the Year,
the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that
have significant impact on the operations of the Group. Further, any
changes in applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. A report on the environmental,
social and governance aspects has been prepared with reference
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules and is set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social & Governance Report” on pages 85 to 187
of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group
is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its suppliers and business partners.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 276 of this report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The changes in share capital of the Company during the Year are set
out in note 23(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the trustee(s) of the Share Award Plans had
purchased Shares on the Stock Exchange or off the market for the
purpose of satisfying the share awards granted or to be granted
under the Share Award Plans, further details of which are set out
in note 23(c)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and note 23(a) to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately RMB39.9 million, included
in the Company’s retained profits and share premium accounts.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends to Shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. In accordance with the Article of Association, dividends
shall be distributed out of the retained profits or other reserve
(representing the share premium account of the Company).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchases attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
42.8% of the Group’s total purchases and the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier accounted
for approximately 12.6% of the Group’s total purchases. The
percentages of sales for the year attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined accounted for approximately 42.6% of
the Group's total sales and the percentage of the sales attributable
to the Group's largest customer accounted for approximately 15.4%
of the Group’s total sales.

€N

KARRAFEERRAEBE RS TS RER M
5¥23(b) °

BE BERELEERQR LHES

HARGERER -+ B5 S B0 EREA S AR SR
SUBIMBEA - LBITREIR B BIE B
I BRI BORR S SR+ — SRS R A B
BBEMEE23(00) » B ERIRID - ADTRE
B AFREEE L WE AR T b
TS -

(G

REE RARBRFANREEBFE D BIER
AR EBRMEAPFEHRRTHMEE230)

MR2024F12A31H » ARG A EHD REFEELD
ABAREEIIAE Bt ARRBIHREEF
R R B -

BERSBEEEEENERNAVERER) - £A
DA E AR KM S A RIGSC A RIR S - DA R e
REBEDIRSIKTIER - ARABEHERTEE
BB EER AT - AARRMDEE N AR
DIRSRNA S TR - RIBABSREAA - B
BB BIRE & M S E i i (BN R BH AR
HER) DK °

FTEFEFRHEER

FA - AEBAAEEEEEOEREE D LEA
EEEIRBETA42 8% - M AL B S A FERfE
HRFREE DL AE AL ARBEELN12.6% -
AEERAARRFEENFREETOLEHER
EBERIHELNL2.6%  MAEBZEARFSBEEN
HERE A EE B EERL15.4% ©



None of the Director, any of their close associate or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

DONATION

The donations made by the Group during the Year were RMB87.9
thousand.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Fanyong (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hongyao (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Xu Wenhong

Mr. Meng Yuxiang

Ms. Gan Shuya (Resigned on 1 April 2024)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yin Zhixiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Kaigi
Mr. Wong Jovi Chi Wing
Mr. Cheng Haitao

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, one-
third of our Directors will retire in the AGM. Mr. Guo, Mr. Wong and
Mr. Cheng will retire as Directors at the AGM, and being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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Each of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors has
signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
two years from 19 June 2022 upon expiration of their original
appointment letters on 18 June 2022. During the engagement
period, either the Company or the Independent Non-executive
Director may terminate the engagement by giving not less than
fifteen days’ prior written notice to the other party. Commencing
from the Effective Date, the engagement shall automatically renew
for successive terms of one year each on the day immediately
following the expiration of the current term, unless terminated
earlier by either party giving not less than fifteen days’ prior written
notice to the other party.

No Director proposed to be re-elected at the AGM has an unexpired
service contract with the Group, which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Biographical information of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 17 to 25 of this
annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors have been independent
throughout the Year and remain independent as of the date of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company, or as otherwise required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange are as follows:
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Notes:

(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company.

(2) These Shares were held by Rosy Astral. Rosy Astral is owned as to approximately
80.63% by Mr. Meng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Meng is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Rosy Astral.

(3) These Shares represent the maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued to him upon the exercise of the pre-IPO share options granted to him
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are set out under the section headed “Share Option Schemes” below.

(4) The percentage represents the number of Shares or registered capital involved
divided by the number of the Company’s issued Shares as at 31 December 2024,
being 1,503,168,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was to incentivise or reward eligible
participants (i.e. (i) any full-time or part-time employee (including
any executive Director) of the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);
(ii) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Group or Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier
or customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any Shareholder of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(vi) any adviser or consultant to any area of business or business
development of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) such other
persons who in the sole opinion of the Board may contribute or
have contributed to the development and growth of the Group; and
(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more persons belonging
to any of the above classes of participants for their contribution to
the Group, for the purpose of motivating them to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and attracting
and retaining the aforementioned eligible participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of
our Group.
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For any options granted to Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or any of their respective associate,
options to be granted to any of these persons shall be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the proposed
grantee of options). Where any option granted to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any of
their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued or to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant, (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue; and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval by resolutions of the Shareholders (voting by way
of poll) at which all core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting in favour, and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time.

The Company is aware that under the new rule 17.03A of the
Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, participants
of share schemes shall only comprise employee participants, related
entity participants and service providers (as defined in the Listing
Rules). The Company will only grant the share options under the
Share Option Scheme to eligible participants in compliance with
the new rule 17.03A and pursuant to the transitional arrangements
for share schemes existing as at 1 January 2023 as specified by the
Stock Exchange.

The number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the total Shares of the
Company in issue, without prior approval from the Shareholders
and with such participants and his close associates abstaining from
voting.

The amount payable on acceptance of the grant is HK$1.00, which
will be payable on or before a prescribed acceptance date, and
any offer of option made by the Directors under the Share Option
Scheme shall be open for acceptance for a period of up to the
earlier of 21 days from the relevant offer date. In relation to any
options granted under the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share.
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The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised. However,
at the time of granting of the options, the Board may specify any
such minimum period.

The vesting period of the options granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme is determinable by the directors and to be stated
in the offer to the grantee. The exercise period of such options to
be granted is also determinable by the directors, save that such
period must not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless
otherwise terminated by the Shareholders in general meeting in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date of its adoption which was 19 June 2019, after which
no further options will be granted or offered but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting
options granted prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or
otherwise as may be require. As at the date of this report, the Share
Option Scheme had a remaining life of approximately 4 years.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date, i.e. 150,000,000 Shares
(representing 9.98% of the total number of issued Shares of
the Company as at the date of this report), unless Shareholders’
approval has been obtained.
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Details of the movements in the Company’s outstanding share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the Year

were as follows:
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Outstanding During the Year Outstanding
Exercise asat Exercise Price KEE as at 31
Category of period 1January  per Share December
participant Date of grant (Note 1) 2024 HKD Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2024
20245 Bk 20245
il 1818 fIfER 128318
SEEEH EHAH (Hii1) HRATHE B 2R 2Ky d BhiE BRM EKROHE
Employee 10 December 2021 From 30 November 2023 1,000,000 256 - 500,000 - - 500,000
B2 20215124108 to 30 November 2031 (Note 2)
2003F11A308E (st 2)
203151174308
10 December 2021 From 2 December 2024 to 1,000,000 256 - - - - 1,000,000
20214127108 30 November 2031
20245127202
203151174308
10 December 2021 From 1 December 2025 to 1,000,000 256 - - - - 1,000,000
20214127108 30 November 2031
20255127102
203151174308
10 December 2021 From 30 November 2026 to 1,000,000 256 - - - - 1,000,000
20214127108 30 November 2031
20265113062
203151174308
Total &3t - - 4,000,000 - - 500,000 - - 3,500,000
Notes: st -

1. The vesting period of the share options under the Share Option Scheme is from
the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The weighted average closing share price immediately before the date on which

the share options were exercised was HK$5.63 per share.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 150,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 9.98% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report, whereas the number
of share options available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit of the Share Option Scheme as at each of 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 was 146,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.71% of the issued share capital of the Company as

at the date of this report.

1. BREREETARBRENSEPELR LB DMS
BEEITESRN -

2. EREREREETEASNNONETHETRHERAT
fR5.63% 7T °

HEARRE B - KERERT S AT
#284150,000,0000% « (HARRQBIRATRE HEE
BITIRANH19.98% » MiRIEZATEI A 3R 1 A RE
AEREBRE 2024461 B1H M2024F12 A31H » B
RS T & O 5 HEBR BB 5 Bl 4 146,000,000/% % 15
EARRBRAHRE BB B TARAEL9.71% °
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Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 19 June 2019, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted
by a resolution in writing passed by the then Shareholders to
incentivise or reward eligible participants (i.e. any full-time or part-
time employee (including any executive Director) of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and any non-executive Directors or proposed
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any
Invested Entity) for their contribution to the Group for the purpose
of motivating the eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit
of the Group, and attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-
going relationship with the eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme had
a remaining life of approximately 4 years.

There is no maximum entitlement limit for the participants as
specified in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

The amount payable on acceptance of the grant is HK$1.00, which
will be payable on or before a prescribed acceptance date, and
any offer of option made by the Directors under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall be open for acceptance for a period of up
to the earlier of 21 days from the relevant offer date or the latest
practicable date as specified in the Prospectus. For the avoidance of
doubt, no further option may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which the share options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must be held before it can
be exercised once the relevant share options have been vested on
the grantees, unless otherwise determined by the Directors. Please
refer to the below for further information about the applicable
vesting period and the exercise period of the options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

In relation to any options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, the exercise price is determined at the discretion of the
Directors, provided that it shall be not less than the nominal value
of a Share. Please refer below for further information about the
exercise price of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

BEXARMBENERESTS
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Upon termination of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme in accordance R ERAR A% & /X /A B9 2 & A BB A 51 21 B0 R A AR
with its term by the Shareholders in general meeting, no further FA® F&R|FE BT eERET b ERE -
options will be offered but the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option 1B E XA RIS E BB AR IE ST 2 ISR E L E R
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary &R NREFRDHIR S - (F1THEEE Z AT B
to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted prior B X AR E R BT 2B ER Al fEE ZHH
thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the b5 7 T{8 B (E (I B G BEARME A 2K -

terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Movements of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share  A&FEE @ RIFE XN ARBEERBRETEIREZ

Option Scheme during the Year were as follows: AT BT -
Outstanding  Exercise Price Outstanding
Exercise asat  perShare During the Year asat
Category of period 1 January HKD i 31 December
participant Date of grant (Note 1) 2024 (Note 2) Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2024
R204% BRAE R2004%
e 1818 ElER 128318
SEEER RiLBH (hit1) WA (i) 2R B B BA¥ WA
Directors
g%
Mr. Zhang 8 October 2019 From 11 November 2024 3,000,000 0477 - - - 3,000,000 -
REE 201910788 to 8 November 2026 (Note 3)
04ENANA (h#3)
E2026511788
8 October 2019 From 10 November 2025 3,000,000 0417 - - - - 3,000,000
201951078H 0.8 November 2026
2025E11A10R
22026511 78R
6,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000
Ms. Gan 8 October 2019 From 9 November 2023 1,200,000 041 - - - - 1,200,000
Tat 201910488 0.8 November 2025
12023%11498
E2025%11 A8
8 October 2019 From 11 November 2024 2,400,000 0477 - - - 2,400,000 -
201910784 08 November 2025 (Note 3)
#04ENANA (h##3)
E2025%11A8A
3,600,000 - - - - 2,400,000 1,200,000
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Outstanding ~ Exercise Price Outstanding
Exercise asat  perShare During the Year asat
Category of period 1 January HKD R 31 December
participant Date of grant (Note 1) 2024 (Note 2) Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2024
R2004E BRARE R204E
s 181R EER 12A31H
SEEER RiLRH (1) WA (i) =it Bl B 2AN HATE
Employee 8 October 2019 From 9 November 2020 1,500,000 0477 - - - - 1,500,000
E8 2019510788 to 8 November 2025
12020511798
E225%511A8H
8 October 2019 From 9 November 2022 1,500,000 0477 - - - - 1,500,000
201910488 to 8 November 2025
12022511498
E225%11 A8
8 October 2019 From 9 November 2023 1,500,000 0477 - - - - 1,500,000
2019%10A8H to 8 November 2025
12023511498
E2025%11 A8
8 October 2019 From 11 November 2024 3,000,000 0477 - - - 3,000,000 -
2019F1078A to 8 November 2025 (Note 3)
0sENANA (hi3)
E)25%11A8A
7,500,000 - - - - 3000000 4500000
Total 5t 17,100,000 - - - - 8,400,000 8,700,000
Notes: HiaE -

(N

The vesting period of the share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.
The vesting of the share options is subject to the fulfilment of certain vesting
conditions. Please refer to the Prospectus of the Company for further details of the
vesting conditions.

The exercise price represents 30% of the final offer price of each Share upon
Listing (i.e. HK$1.59).

As all of the vesting conditions in relation to the financial performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were not met, 100% of the share
options expected to be vested on 11 November 2024 has lapsed on the date when
the Board approved the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 (i.e. 22 March 2024).

Except for the options which have lapsed or exercised under the Pre-

IPO

Share Option Scheme as set out above, no other share options

have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024.

m
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As both of the vesting conditions in relation to the financial
performance of the Group for the Year were not met, all of the
share options granted to Mr. Zhang expected to be vested on 10
November 2025 have lapsed on the date when the Board approved
the final results of the Group for the Year (i.e. 31 March 2025).
Accordingly, the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all the outstanding options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at the date of this report was
5,700,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.38% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this report. No further
options can be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
after the latest practicable date (i.e. 20 October 2019) prior to the
printing of the Prospectus.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company has adopted the Share Award Plans on 31 May 2022
(the “Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share Award Plans
are to (i) recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible
participants to the growth and development of the Group and to
give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Award Plans, the Share Incentive Committee
which as at the date of this report, comprises of Mr. Meng, Mr. Guo
and Mr. Cheng, may, at its power and authority from the Board,
select any eligible participant to participate in the Share Award Plans
and make an award of Shares (the “Awards”) to them from time
to time. Eligible participants under the Connected Persons’ Share
Award Plan are directors (excluding all non-executive Directors
including independent non-executive Directors) and chief executives
of the Group, and eligible participants under the Non-Connected
Persons’ Share Award Plan are any full-time employees of Group
who are not connected persons of the Company.

Subject to any early termination in accordance with the rules of
the Share Award Plans, the Share Award Plans shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing from 31 May 2022,
being the Adoption Date. After the expiry of such 10-year term, no
further awards may be made but the rules of the Share Award Plans
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give
effect to any Awards made prior thereto and the administration of
the trust property held by the trustees. As at the date of this report,
the Share Award Plans have a remaining life of over 7 years.
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According to the Share Award Plans, the Award Shares shall
principally be (i) existing Shares as may be purchased by the trustees
on the Stock Exchange or off the market; (i) such Shares as may be
allotted or issued to the Trustee as a holder of Shares, whether by
way of scrip dividend or otherwise; and (iii) such Shares which any
person or company recommended by the Company may irrevocably
donate or transfer to or irrevocably vest or caused to be vested in
the trustees to be held upon trusts.

The Board or the Share Incentive Committee may, after having
regard to all relevant circumstances and affairs of the Group
(including without limitation the Group’s business and operational
conditions, its business plans and cashflow requirements currently
and in the near future,) from time to time cause to be paid to the
trustees from the Company’s resources such amount of money
which may be utilised by the trustees to purchase Shares which will
constitute the shares pool.

The Share Incentive Committee may from time to time, at its
discretion, determine the earliest vesting date and other subsequent
date(s), if any, upon which the award Shares held by the trustees
upon trust and which are referable to a selected participant shall
vest in that selected participant.

The Share Incentive Committee may specify the condition(s) and/
or performance target(s) (if any) that must be duly fulfilled by the
relevant selected participant before any of the award Shares may
be transferred to and vested in such selected participant under an
award.

The maximum number of Shares to be purchased by the trustee for
the purpose of the Share Award Plans shall in aggregate not exceed
10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date
of the Share Award Plans (i.e. not exceeding 149,846,800 Shares)
throughout the term of the Share Award Plans.

The maximum number of Shares which may be subject to an award
or awards to a selected participant shall not in aggregate exceed, in
any continuous 12-month period, 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date throughout the term of the
Share Award Plans.
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Details of movement of award shares of the Group during the year — #(1-2024F12 A31BFE IE - ANE B 1) 1EE &

ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: FFFIEMT -
Unvested During the Year Unvested
Date of Vesting as at rEE asat
Category of grant date 1 January 31 December
Participant (Note 2) (Note 3) 2024 Granted Vested Cancelled Lapsed 2024
ETH BEA 120245 20245
SEEEH (hiz2) (H#3) 1B1RX8E [RE6 EHE [EhE BA¥M 12B31BARE
Top five highest paid 17 August 2023 1 May 2024 135,222 - 135,222 - - -
employees (Note 1) 2023%8A178 202455418
SERREMET (Hi1) 1 January 2025 101,417 - - - - 101,417
2025F1 718
1 January 2026 101,417 - - - - 101,417
202651 A1A
30 October 2024 1 October 2025 - 66,690 - - - 66,690
2024%10A308 2025410418
1 January 2026 - 50,018 - - - 50,018
20261718
1 January 2027 - 50,018 - - - 50,018
200751 1A
338,056 166,726 135,222 - - 369,560
Other employees 17 August 2023 1 May 2024 3,404,367 - 3,404,367 - - -
EfET 2023F8A178 202455818
1 January 2025 2,553,275 - - - - 2,553,275
20251 A1A
1 January 2026 2,553,276 - - - - 2,553,276
202651 A1A
30 October 2024 1 October 2025 - 1,034,090 - - - 1,034,090
2024F10A308 202510718
1 January 2026 - 775,567 - - - 775,567
2026E1A1H
1 January 2027 - 775,568 - - - 775,568
2027F1718
8,510,918 2,585,225 3,404,367 - - 7,691,776

Total #5t 8,848,974 2,751,951 3,539,589 - - 8,061,336
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Notes:

(1) The top five highest paid employees of the Group refers to the five individuals with
highest emoluments as disclose in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
of which two of them are Directors. For the avoidance of doubt, only individuals
who are not Directors and who are among the top five highest paid individuals of
the Group are within this category of participants.

(2)  The closing price of the shares on 16 August 2023 and 29 October 2024, being
the date immediately before the date on which the award shares were granted
was HK$3.93 and HK$3.76 per share respectively.

(3) The vesting of the award shares is set out as follows: 40% of the total award
shares granted on 17 August 2023 will vest on 1 May 2024, each of 30% of the
total award shares will vest on 1 January 2025 and 1 January 2026 respectively;
40% of the total award shares granted on 30 October 2024 will vest on 1 October
2025, each of 30% of the total award shares will vest on 1 January 2026 and 1
January 2027 respectively, provided that the relevant grantees remain, as at the
respective vesting dates, employed by the Group. Relevant grantees ceasing to be
employees of the Group by reason of retirement, shall remain eligible.

During the Year, 2,751,951 award shares were granted, 3,539,589
award shares were vested and no award shares, cancelled or lapsed.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Share Award Plans” in this report, during the Year, none
of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, was a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to have any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a Director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

et -
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Controlling Shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
has any contract of significance (including contract of significance
for the provision of services) with the Company or its subsidiaries
subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed
or taken to have an interest and/or short position in the Shares or
the underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of SFO, or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company:

Long positions in the ordinary Shares of the Company
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ERRRNERSHES

ARARHEAEMIRIFHE R BN FRAAFEDN
PER R #R i AR X B AR A R Sk EL B A B
AAEAERAGN(BREERERENERS
#) e

FERRRRD RAEBRDVER
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2024512318 » TIIAL(EERARQAFE
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest ordinary Shares shareholding
RRER ERME ZREREE BAREESH
(Note 1) (Note 3)
(HizE1) (B15#3)
Ms. Luo Yumei Interest of spouse (Note 2) 706,353,600(L) 46.99%
BEwZT BoiBiEes (M1at2)
Rosy Astral Beneficial owner 706,353,600(L) 46.99%
BE BERBEBA
Polaris Swift Beneficial owner 417,822,000(L) 27.80%
EfE EmmAA
Notes: Hiat -

(1) The letter “L" denotes the shareholder’s long position in the Shares and
underlying Shares.

(2)  Ms. Luo Yumei is the spouse of Mr. Meng. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Luo Yumei
is deemed to be interested in the Shares of the Company which Mr. Meng is
interested in.

(3) The percentage represents the number of Shares or registered capital involved
divided by the number of the Company’s issued Shares as at 31 December 2024,
being 1,503,168,000.

(1) FEILURRZERERD MAERN TR -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates had interests in businesses which compete or are
likely to compete either directly or indirectly with the businesses of
the Group as are required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the Covenantors, each being a Controlling Shareholder
of the Company, has entered into a Deed of Non-Competition in
favour of the Company on 19 June 2019, pursuant to which each of
the Covenantors has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken to
the Group that he/it will not, and will procure his/its close associates
(other than members of the Group) not to directly or indirectly
participate, acquire or hold any right or interest in or otherwise be
involved in or undertake any business (other than the business of
the Group) that directly or indirectly competes, or may compete, any
business which is in any respect in competition with or similar to or is
likely to be in competition with the business of the Group. For details
of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the Prospectus.

Each of the Covenantors has provided to the Company an annual
written confirmation in respect of his/its compliance with the Deed
of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the compliance with the non-competition undertaking by
the Covenantors under the Deed of Non-Competition and are of
the view that such non-competition undertaking has been complied
with during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the material related party transactions made during
the Year is disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. The related party transactions set out in note 26(a)
and 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and such transactions
are fully exempt from any announcement, reporting, annual
review or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the relevant requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of the connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions.
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PROPERTY INTERESTS

The Group holds 100% interest in various land parcels located at
North of Nanshugang Road, Bohai New District, Cangzhou, Hebei
Province, the PRC with total site area of approximately 994,887
sg.m. for industrial usage for the Phase Two Expansion. The property
under construction comprises portion of land parcels with a total site
area of approximately 530,925 sq.m.. Construction for Phase Two
Expansion is in progress as at the date of this report, and is expected
to be completed by December 2025.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emolument policy for Directors’ remuneration are set up by the
Remuneration Committee, and the emoluments of the Directors are
mainly determined having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes and the Share
Award Plans as incentives to Directors and eligible employees, details
of the scheme are set out in the sections headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Share Award Plans” above in this report and in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s contribution to defined contribution
retirement schemes in the PRC and Hong Kong are set out in note
6(b) to the financial statements. Under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), no forfeited contributions for the
MPF Scheme may be used by the employer to reduce the existing
level of contributions as the contributions are fully vested to the
employee upon payments to the MPF Scheme. Under the retirement
benefit plan managed by the local government authority in the PRC
participated by the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC,
no forfeited contributions will be used by the employer to reduce
the existing level of contributions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director
was entitled during the Year and remains entitled up to the date of
this report to the compensation out of the assets of the Company
for all losses or liabilities incurred due to the execution of his/her
duties or taken place related to such execution. The Company has
taken out the appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policy for the Directors and officers of the Group as a means of
security.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Plans, there was not any subsisting
equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the
Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the minimum public float of 25% as required under the
Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
report.

AUDITOR

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for their reappointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Meng Fanyong
Chairman

31 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 8
November 2019. The Company’s corporate governance situation
during the Year was as follows. This report complies with the
mandatory disclosure requirements as set out in part 1 of the CG
Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY
Corporate Culture

“Striving to be a first-class enterprise, serving first-class customers
and building a century-old brand” is the vision and mission of the
Group. Closely focusing on to achieve this vision and mission, the
Board and the management of the Company lead all employees
to always adhere to the basic value principle of “compliance with
laws and regulations, honesty and trustworthiness”. Continuous
improvement, uninterrupted innovation and courageous reform
are the inexhaustible driving force for the long-term development
of the Company. The Company advocates concentric thinking,
common goals and simultaneous actions to respond to changes
with openness and sharing, and always pursues “No Best, Only
Better”. The Group will achieve harmonious development among
Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and the society with
its steady growth and excellent performance.

Corporate Strategy

To achieve the goal for the Company’s long-term development,
the Group focuses on its financial and ESG performance to
achieve sustainable development. The Group exercises stringent
management over the Group’s revenue, earnings, margins and
costs, return on capital and investments and other financing
activities. The Group’s core competitiveness in operational
excellence, product innovation and technology infrastructure is an
important measure for the Group to capture business opportunities
in various industries. In recent years, the Group has been increasing
its investment in research and development to facilitate innovation
and smart technology manufacturing. The Group is also committed
to maintaining a healthy liquidity and flexibility, maintaining a long-
term and balanced debt repayment profile, and actively managing
cash flows and working capital. A discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance is included in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report. The Group aims to create long-term value and
basis in achieving the Group’s objectives. Meanwhile, the Group is
increasingly focused on ESG and exploring the next steps to support
the global transition to a low-carbon economy by achieving net
zero emissions, good health and well-being of our employees, and
inclusion and diversity in the work-place. Further details about the
Group’s ESG initiatives and its key relationships with stakeholders
are disclosed in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to follow best practices in corporate
governance in order to enhance the Shareholders’ value by ensuring
standards in integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure.
The Company has emphasizes on a quality board, sound internal
controls, transparency and accountability to all Shareholders as its
corporate governance principles. The Company has adopted the
code provisions set out in part 2 of the CG Code as its own code
of corporate governance. During the Year, the Company was in
compliance with all relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions in terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all
Directors have confirmed to the Company that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the
Year.

Due to the fact that designated employees (including senior
management) may from time to time have access to inside
information as a result of their employment, the Company has
extended the scope of the code of conduct to include such
employees.

LEADERSHIP
Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategies
as well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of
the Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering overall strategies of the Group, major acquisitions
and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
recommendations on Directors’ appointment or re-appointment,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant
operational and financial matters. The Board has delegated to
management the authority and responsibility for daily management
of the Group, implementation of strategies approved by the Board,
monitoring operating budgets, implementation of internal control
procedures, and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and other rules and regulations. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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Board Composition

During the Year, the Board consisted nine Directors with the
following composition:

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Fanyong (chairman of the Board,
chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Zhang Hongyao (vice-chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer)

Ms. Xu Wenhong (chairlady of ESG Committee)

Mr. Meng Yuxiang

Ms. Gan Shuya (resigned on 1 April 2024)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Yin Zhixiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Kaigi (chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong Jovi Chi Wing (chairman of Audit and Risk Management
Committee)

Mr. Cheng Haitao

To the best knowledge of the Company, except for Mr. Meng
being the father of Mr. YX Meng, none of the Board members have
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. Such balanced Board is composed to ensure
strong independence existed across the Board. The composition of
the Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective
leadership. The biographical details of Directors are set out on
pages 17 to 25 under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profiles” in this annual report.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

All of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors are
experienced and of high calibre. They are equipped with academic
and professional qualifications in either accounting, investment
or oil pipe production. With their experience gained from various
sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective discharge
of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each independent
non-executive Director has given an annual written confirmation
of his independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and the Company considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent within the definition of the
Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Board at all times has met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Meng is the chairman of the Board who is responsible for
leading the efficient business development of the Group.

Mr. Zhang is the chief executive officer of the Group who
is responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is held accountable to the Company’s Shareholders
and stakeholders. It is responsible for the overall leadership and
control of the Company, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success of
the Company. The Board makes decisions on the strategies of the
Group in the best interests of the Group, and reserves its right of
decision all major matters relating to budgets, policy, strategies,
internal control, risk management, material transactions, financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company.
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All Directors have brought in precious and valuable business
insights, experience and knowledge to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. They are all provided with full and timely
access to information of the Company as well as access to contact
and services of the Company Secretary and management. In order
to ensure that independent views and inputs are available to the
Directors, the Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution of
each Director in performing his/her responsibilities to the Company.
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

The Board understands that independent views and input are
vital elements to good corporate governance. The Company has
mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board, among others, (i) each individual directors
can access to the advice from the management and external
independent professional of the Company directly, when necessary;
and (ii) dedicated meetings between independent-non executive
Directors and chairman of the Board or external auditors had been
arranged for the independent non-executive Directors to express
their own views and raise any matters or irregularities which may
have impact on the Company and provide constructive advice
accordingly. The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanisms on an annual basis.

As at 31 December 2024, four Board Committees, namely the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and ESG Committee, have been set up
and delegated various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference.

Through the chief executive officer of the Group whom the Board
has delegated authorities, the management of the Group is provided
with authority and responsibility for implementing the decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operations and
management of the Group.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

OF DIRECTORS

The CG Code provides that all Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board

remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the Year to the Company. During the Year, each of the Directors
participated in continuous professional development by reading
materials relating to the discharge of their duties and responsibilities

and regulatory updates.

Name of Director
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Mr. Meng Fanyong
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The Company has also continuously updated Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The CG Code stipulates that non-executive Directors shall be
appointed for a specific term subject to re-election at regular
intervals. The appointment of all Directors is also subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles
of Association. The Articles of Association stipulates that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall only hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after their appointment and shall be eligible for re-election
at the annual general meeting, and that every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The procedures and
process of removal of Directors are also laid down in the Articles of
Association.

Each executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company, pursuant to which they have agreed to serve as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years beginning on 19 June
2022 (for Mr. Meng, Ms. Xu and Mr. YX Meng) or 1 January 2023
(for Mr. Zhang), which can be terminated by either party by not less
than three months written notice. The term of the service contract
will be automatically renewed and extended for one year after the
current term expires, until either party terminates by giving written
notice to the other party at least three months in advance.

The non-executive Director has been appointed with effect from 4
April 2022 for fixed term of 3 years, and such appointment can be
terminated by either party by giving a written notice to the other
party at least 15 days in advance.

Each independent non-executive Director has been appointed for
an initial term of two years beginning on 19 June 2022, and can be
terminated by either party by giving a written notice to the other
party at least 15 days in advance. The term of office of the non-
executive Director and each of the independent non-executive
Director will be automatically renewed and extended for one year
after the expiry of the current term at that time, until either party
terminates by giving written notice to the other party at least 15
days in advance.
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None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lau Ying Kit is the Company Secretary of the Company
responsible for providing compliance and company secretarial
services to the Group and assisting the Group to cope with the
changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial
needs.

Mr. Lau Ying Kit was appointed as the Company Secretary on 10
December 2021.

Mr. Lau undertook no less than 15 hours of professional training to
update their skills and knowledge for the Year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As at 31 December 2024, four Board Committees, namely the Audit
and Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee, have been
established for the roles of overseeing particular aspects of the
Group under defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees are provided on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website. A list of the composition of each
Board Committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on page
4 of this report.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong (as
committee chairman), Mr. Guo and Mr. Cheng. Mr. Wong possesses
the required qualification under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee adopted by the Board during the relevant period aligned
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are made
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is mainly responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor; reviewing, in draft
form, the interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group
and significant financial reporting judgements contained therein;
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, and the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held 3 meetings
during the Year. At the meetings, the committee reviewed the
Group’s financial statements, external auditor KPMG's audit plan
and quotation, and the terms of reference of the committee. The
Audit and Risk Management Committee has also reviewed the
Group's financial results and monitored the audit process with the
attendance of the external auditors before reporting and submitting
to the Board for their approval.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Meng (as
committee chairman), Mr. Guo and Mr. Cheng. Subsequent to
the Year, the composition of the Nomination Committee has been
changed to consist Mr. Guo Kaigi (Chairman), Ms. Xu Wenhong and
Mr. Cheng Haitao with effect from 31 March 2025.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee adopted by
the Board are aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are currently made available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, structure, size and diversity of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
nomination, appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
CEO and reviewing the board diversity policy adopted by the
Company. For more information on the Company’s policy on board
diversity, please refer to the section headed “Board Diversity Policy”
in this report.

The Board has adopted written policy for the nomination of new
Directors. In evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship,
the criteria to be taken into account when considering the suitability
of a candidate shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the
Board of its responsibilities.

Pursuant to the procedures adopted by the Board for nomination of
new Directors, pursuant to which (i) the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new Director and the biographical information of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria set out in the written
policy adopted for the nomination of new Directors; (ii) if the process
yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should rank them by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate; (iii)
the Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship; and (iv) for any
person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as a Director
at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria set out in the written policy adopted for the nomination of
new Directors to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.
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To ensure a proper understanding of the operations and
businesses of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under the applicable laws and regulations (including
the Listing Rules), the newly appointed Directors will be provided
with a comprehensive, tailored and formal induction prior to/on the
first occasion of his/her appointment.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings to
discuss and review the suitability regarding Board size, structure
and combination, in light of the Company’s business and strategic
direction.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive directors and one executive Director, namely Mr. Guo (as
committee chairman), Mr. Cheng and Mr. YX Meng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee adopted
by the Board are aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are currently made available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors and senior
management, on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy and reviewing matters
relating to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Share Option Scheme
and Shares Award Plans.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of part 2 of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings
to discuss and review the Company’s remuneration structure and
amount of remuneration for the Directors and chief executive.

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management
will depend on their respective contractual terms under service
agreement/appointment letter and is fixed by the Board with
reference to the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
the performance of the Group and the prevailing market conditions.
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The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and a
Share Option Scheme on 19 June 2019, and the Share Award Plans
on 31 May 2022. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is to recognise and reward the contribution of certain Directors and
senior management of the Group to the growth and development
of the Group and the Listing and the purpose of the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Plans are to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution of the Group. Details of the share option schemes
and the Share Award Plans are set out in the Report of the Board of
Directors.

Range of Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration, which included share-based payments, of the
senior management of the Company for the Year, is set out by band
below:
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240 )| A
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001%7C%2,500,0007 7T 1
HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000 £21,000,0007 7T 1
2

ESG Committee

The ESG Committee consists of one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Xu (as committee
chairlady), Mr. Guo, and Mr. Wong.

The terms of reference of the ESG Committee adopted by the Board
are aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and
are made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The ESG Committee is responsible for performing, and
has performed, the functions set out in the CG Code.
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The ESG Committee is mainly responsible for proposing applicable
principles of corporate governance and reviewing and determining
corporate governance policies to maintain the effectiveness of the
Group's corporate governance and non-financial internal control
systems, thereby improving and ensuring the Group’s corporate
Governance practices meet high standards; and also overseeing of
the Group’s achievement of ESG-related objectives and monitoring
the relevant performance of the Group and its ESG risk management
and internal control system, and the reviewing of the Group’s
compliance with the CG Code and the ESG Reporting Guide as
set out in Appendix C1 and Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules,
respectively. During the Year, 2 meetings of the ESG Committee
were held to discuss and review the corporate governance report
prepared by the Company regularly.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and hence the purpose of the Board
Diversity Policy aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors. The Company considered diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects and
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge.

The Board as of the date of this Annual Report is considered well-
balanced in terms of the aforesaid characteristics, and of a diverse
mix appropriate for the business of the Group. During the Year,
with two female Directors (one of whom resigned with effect from
1 April 2024), it is also considered that gender diversity has been
achieved in respect of the Board.

In order to achieve gender diversity in Board succession, the
Company would also put further emphasis on gender balance and
gender equality in future recruitments and identification of potential
candidates, so that sufficient potential candidates of different
gender are in place to fill the vacancy of the Board, when necessary.

During the Year, in respect of the gender diversity at workforce level
(including management), the female representation is about 18% of
the total workforce. Given the business of the Group remain heavily
reliant on machines operation and manual labour, it is expected
equality of gender ratio will be difficult to achieve within the Group.
However, the Group will still strive to enhance gender diversity (in
terms of gender ratio) across all levels of the workforce so far as
reasonably practicable. The Company will apply the same measures as
taken in achieving gender diversity in Board succession as mentioned
in the section headed “Board Diversity Policy” in this report to
achieve gender diversity at workforce level.
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The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually on
the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend candidate(s) to the Board for adoption. The Company
aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board that are relevant to the Company’s business growth. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will also review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness annually.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience
relevant to the Company’s business, the Nomination Committee
considered that the existing Board was suitably qualified with
professional backgrounds and/or equipped with extensive expertise
for the purposes of providing direction to and oversight of the
Group's strategic and business in achieving its objectives.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company planned in advance four scheduled Board meetings
a year at approximately quarterly intervals in order to ensure that
all Directors could plan in advance their availability to attend the
scheduled Board meetings. Additional meetings will be held as and
when required. During the regular meetings of the Board, the Board
reviewed the operation and financial performance, and reviewed
and approved the annual and interim results of the Group.

During the Year, the Board has held 5 meetings. All Directors were
given the opportunity to include any matter on the agenda of
regular board meetings, and had sufficient time to review in advance
documents and data related to matters to be discussed at board
meetings.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors. Every Board member are entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
have the liberty to seek external professional advice upon reasonable
request.
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MEETING ATTENDANCE RECORDS

During the Year, 3 Audit and Risk Management Committee
meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meeting, 2 Remuneration
Committee meetings, 2 ESG Committee meeting, 5 board meetings
and one annual general meeting had been held. The Company’s
Director attendance is set out below:
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Shareholders meeting BREAE

The Board is responsible for maintaining a continuous contact
with Shareholders, in particular communicating with Shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages Shareholders to participate. One general meeting was
held during the Year.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the fee for 2024 annual audit service and non-
audit services (including interim review and tax consulting) fees paid/
payable to the Company’s auditor, KPMG, was RMB2.1 million and
RMB1.1 million, respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which
the Shareholders will be entitled to receive any dividend the
Company declares. Pursuant to the dividend policy, dividend shall
be approximately 40% of the profit of the Group for the particular
financial year and the payment and amount of any dividend will
be at the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Group's
general business condition and strategies, cash flows, financial
results, capital requirements and taxation conditions, interests of
respective Shareholders, statutory restrictions, and other factors that
the Board deems relevant.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2023: HK$0.04 per share).
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company and of the results and cash flows of the Group for the
year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent,
fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The statement of the independent auditor of the
Company about their responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report from
pages 188 to 197 of this report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for
the design and implementation of internal controls and risk
management which covers financial reporting, operations,
compliance and risk management (including ESG risk) of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring and annual review of
the effectiveness of such internal controls and risk management. The
Board has delegated such responsibility to the management of the
Company. The management, under the supervision of the Board,
has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

During the Year, the Audit and the Risk Management Committee
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management matters that are significant to the Group on an on-
going basis. The Audit and Risk Management Committee also
consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as
well as their training programmes and budgets.
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The Company has established a independent internal audit
department. The Group has also engaged an independent
professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems. The
independent professional firm engaged has performed a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems covering the Year. The review covered all key controls and
based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation.
The internal audit department has reviewed the review result
submitted by the independent professional firm and recommended
the same be submitted to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee for their consideration. The overall opinion on the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

For the Year and up to the date of this report, the Board has
considered and is satisfied that the internal control system in place,
which covers all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management (including ESG risks)
functions, is reasonably effective and adequate.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

Certain measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include the following:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e All employees are required to strictly adhere to the employment
terms regarding the management of confidential information.

In addition, all employees are required to strictly adhere to
the rules and regulations regarding the management of inside
information, including all employees who, because of his/her office
or employment, are likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Company, and are required to comply with the
Model Code.
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The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any
of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures that the information
is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality
may have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose
the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in the announcements or circulars of
the Company is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false
or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company has established an internal audit department. The
internal audit department is highly independent and is responsible
for evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems, and supervising the management
to continuously improve the areas of risk management (including
ESG risks) and internal control. The internal audit department
examines key issues related to accounting practices and all major
internal control issues, and provides investigation results and
recommendations for improvement directly to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an EGM.
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Shareholders to convene an EGM

The Eligible Shareholder(s) shall at all times have the right, by written
Requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

Eligible Shareholder(s) must deposit the Requisition signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong, which for the time being is at
Room 4006, 40th Floor, Jardine House, 1 Connaught Place, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, and state in the
Requisition that the Board is required to convene an EGM to deal
with any matters specified in the Requisition. The relevant general
meeting shall be held within two months after the submission of the
relevant request.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the
Company, the reason(s) to convene an EGM, the agenda proposed
to be included and the details of the business(es) proposed to be
transacted at the EGM. The Requisition must be signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and the
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited. If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM within
two months and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at an EGM after the deposit of the
Requisition.

Putting enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders shall mail a written inquiry to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Address: Room 4006, 40th
Floor, Jardine House, 1 Connaught Place, Hong Kong), or email to
ir@dalipal.com, stating the Company Secretary as the recipient.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director
of the Company for election as a Director, the Shareholder must
deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) to the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17th
Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Annual Report 2024 65 8 ’l

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREBWE

BRRBABRRERIAE

EERBRRNEMAKESEEAEHRNESTSX
REAMERL  BEXEFTGARBREHIRNE N
BRIEARERIAMEMEIE -

AERBEEABEARSEEENEREEXZARN
AMBEEEELEENI (BRI AR BSRELES 1%
18K E401E4006 % ) B A A MEWE - MAAE
KBRS ERRRERIRS EEBRARTEN
T E1E - BEREANSERERE BEREM
18R RET -

EREVABEIBEBAERBRNER,E
- ARARFNFERE - BREREHAREH
RE -~ R ANEELRRBERFRIANGMEZ
BRIZEIANFHIE - EREVAHBBAEERER
BE o

ARABEZERE - MABEBRRRO TN MFF
REBHARBNRNBPELREEZFESR
BRAFIZE - WMEREEER/LEAR - A7
WERBEREFENERERERERMEARNER
BRFERIAEG KRB AERBRE2HEE K
IRBRMABRIFRIAE -

BRROESERHESN

RRAGEEESHBTERRFINEELES
FE Gl R BB RLEES 1518 I RE40E
4006 %) @ sk EF Eir@dalipal.com * AR A1
ERWHEA -

BRREBMUASBRESNERF

IR EHE R A (AR R EERINZEES -
BHRAG —HEmMBN([BNE DEIEARRA
NEBRMDBFECLE R EFFEZLARAA]
U ABEEREICRERSBPOIT7E - &
RRUR I A B R RIFNE o



82 Dalipal Holdings Limited 3 ) &2 i% 5 R 2 &)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

_I/J'_\%E/l:l#&m

The Notice must state clearly the name, the contact information of
the Shareholder and his/her/their shareholding, the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
and signed by the Shareholder concerned (other than the person
proposed to be elected). The Notice must also be accompanied by
a letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be elected on
his/her willingness to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of the Notice and the letter of consent will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
by the Company of the general meeting convened for election of
Directors and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which the Notice to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.

The Notice will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Nomination
Committee of the Company and the Board to consider to include
the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting proposing such
person to be elected as a Director.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals
at general meetings

A Shareholder should lodge a written Proposal with his/her/its
detailed contact information at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong, with a copy of the Proposal served to the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong at their respective address
and contact details set out on page 6 of this annual report.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder concerned at
the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as
follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one clear days in writing if the
Proposal requires approval in an annual general meeting of the
Company; and

(2) Notice of not less than fourteen clear days in writing if the
Proposal requires approval in an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.
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VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions set out
in the notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company will be voted by poll.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No amendment has been made to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company during the Year.

The current Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings, as effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
allowing investors to understand the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Board endeavour to make themselves available
at the annual general meeting to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company, which
contains the channels for Shareholders to communicate their
views on matters related to the Company, and steps taken by the
Company to solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders
and stakeholders is set out as follows:

— The Board shall maintain on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and the investment community;
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—  Communication methods between the Company, Shareholders
and investment community include the followings:

(i) raising of enquiries by Shareholders to the Company
through the contact provided by the Company;

(i) provision of bilingual corporate communications by the
Company;

(i) publication of information and materials and business
updates of the Company on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company;

(iv) holding of Shareholders’ meetings; and

(v) any other activities conducted to facilitate communication
the relevant stakeholders.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company for the
Year. On the basis that (i) a general meeting was held to reach out
to individual Shareholders and stakeholders to encourage their
participation in the matters of the Company and to raise enquiries
and (ii) all bilingual announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, and voluntary announcements on business updates of the
Group are made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company to provide Shareholders and stakeholders with
easy and timely access to the latest development of the Group, the
Board considered that its Shareholders’ communication policy was
effectively implemented during the Year.

The AGM of the Company will be held on Friday, 23 May 2025,
with notice of the AGM sent to the Shareholders not less than 21
clear days before the date of AGM.

The Company maintains a website at www.dalipal.com where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company's business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are made available for
public access.
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About this Report:

Dalipal Holdings Limited (the “Company”, “we", or “our")
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) are
pleased to publish their sixth Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report (the “Report”), which provides an overview of the
material ESG issues affecting the Group’s operations and related
management measures. This report aims to enhance stakeholders’
understanding of the Group's sustainability goals and strategies, and
to disclose ESG key performance indicators and future development
directions, so as to further promote the coordinated development of
business, environment and social responsibility.

"

us

Reporting Period and Scope

This report presents the Group’s ESG measures and performance
for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”).

The reporting scope in this report is consistent with the 2023
Annual Report, and in view of the contribution to the Group’s
revenue, it covers all subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong and
Hebei Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), whose
core business is mainly engaged in the research and development,
production, technical services and sales of high-end oil and gas
pipes, new energy pipes and special seamless steel pipes, etc.

The Group will continue to assess the impact of its business on key
ESG aspects and load this report.

Reporting Guidelines

In order to provide stakeholders with a clearer understanding of the
progress and direction of the Group’s operations and sustainable
development, this report is prepared in accordance with the
mandatory disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Guide"”) and its “Comply or
Explain” provisions as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). In addition to meeting the compliance requirements,
the Group has also identified a number of material key performance
indicators to provide additional supplemental disclosures, which
are detailed in the text of the report and summarised in Appendix
1 Key Performance index. For ease of reading, readers may refer to
the Index to Appendix C2 of the Listing Requirements of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in Appendix 2: Index to Appendix
C2 "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” for an
in-depth reading of this report.
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In compiling the process, the Group adhered to the following four
reporting principles:
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The principles require The
issues covered in the Report
should reflect significant
economic, environmental and
social impacts of the Group,
or be in a scope that affects
the stakeholders’ evaluation
and decision-making.

To this end, the Group uses
various communication
channels to understand
stakeholders’ expectations
of the Company in terms of
sustainable development, so
as to identify key issues of
importance to the Group.
During the year, the Group
conducted a stakeholder
survey to rearrange the
materiality of key issues.
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The principles require that
the Report should disclose
KPIs in a measurable
manner.

To this end, the data in
this report is disclosed and
calculated in accordance
with the requirements of
the ESG Guide, Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs, and
Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs
to disclose the Group’s
environmental and social
KPIs in a quantifiable manner
wherever possible.
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The principles require that
the Report should reflect the
sustainability performance of
the Group as a whole in an
unbiased manner.

To this end, the Group
impartially presents
environmental, social and
governance issues that
significantly impact the
Group's business, including
the achievements, impacts,
challenges, etc., and
formulates a response plan.
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The Principles require that
the Group should confirm
that the methodologies for
preparing the ESG reports
are consistent with those
used in previous years, and
state any revised reporting
methodology or indicate
other relevant factors that
may affect meaningful
comparisons.

To this end, the scope of

the Report is consistent with
the Report presented in the
previous year, and the use of
consistent statistical methods
allows for meaningful future
comparisons of ESG data. If
the methodology used and
the scope of the report are
changed, we will explain it in
the notes for stakeholders’
reference.
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Access to the Report

This report has been prepared in both English and Chinese and
uploaded to the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website (http:/
www.dalipal.com). If there is any conflict or inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.

Feedback

The Group attaches great importance to the valuable feedback of
stakeholders. If you have any questions or comments about this
report or our environmental and social policies and performance,
please feel free to share your comments and suggestions with us at
ir@dalipal.com.

About the Group
Company Profile

The Group is an international Company focused on investing in
high-end intelligent manufacturing and green manufacturing. It was
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
“Stock Exchange”) on November 8, 2019. Its manufacturing entity,
Dalipal Pipe Co., Ltd., was established in 1998 and is a specialized,
full-industry-chain enterprise integrating R&D, manufacturing, and
services in the intelligent manufacturing of OCTG. The Company is
located in the Cangzhou Bohai New Area, a national-level economic
and technological development zone, within the one-hour economic
circle of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei. It has passed the clean production
audit and has been recognized as a National High-Tech Enterprise,
a National Green Factory, a National Industrial Carbon Peak
“Leader” Enterprise, a Hebei Province Innovation-Driven Leading
Enterprise, a Hebei Province Industrial Quality Benchmark Enterprise,
a Cangzhou City Leading Technology Innovation Enterprise, and
the Hebei Province Petroleum Pipe Technology Innovation Center.
Its technology center has also been certified as a Hebei Province
Enterprise Technology Center and a Hebei Province Industrial
Enterprise R&D Institution (A-Level).
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For over 20 years, the Company has been dedicated to the R&D,
manufacturing, and services of petroleum pipes, with advanced
technology and equipment and a strong full-industry-chain
advantage. It operates intelligent and green production lines for
pipe billet production (using scrap metal as the main raw material),
petroleum pipe rolling, pipe-end thickening, heat treatment,
and petroleum pipe processing, as well as an intelligent turnover
warehouse for petroleum pipes. These systems enable seamless
information integration throughout the entire manufacturing
process, from raw materials to final products, ensuring real-time
online monitoring of product quality. This allows the Company to
efficiently and swiftly deliver high-quality products to meet customer
needs. Its main products include 2 3/8”"-20" APl and non-API
petroleum pipes with high resistance to collapse, corrosion, and
high temperatures, as well as special-thread petroleum pipes used
for shale gas, natural gas, and coalbed methane extraction. The
Company also provides high-end energy equipment components
for wind power, nuclear power, hydropower, and petrochemical
industries. Among them, special-purpose petroleum pipes with
high-temperature, high-pressure, corrosion-resistant, high-collapse-
resistant, and special-thread features, along with high-strength,
sulfur-resistant oil and gas transmission pipes, have achieved
industry-leading technological levels. The Company’s products
are widely used in major oil and gas fields, including North China,
Daging, Changging, Southwest China, Shengli, and Xinjiang, and
have been certified by internationally renowned enterprises such as
Kuwait Oil Company (KOC). The products are exported to over 70
countries and regions worldwide.

The Company emphasizes innovation-driven development, adhering
to a path of high-quality growth while continuously strengthening
its brand competitiveness. By leveraging Internet technologies, it
fully implements clean production, intelligent manufacturing, and
green manufacturing, striving to become a specialized supplier with
core competitiveness and sustainable development capabilities,
primarily focused on OCTG (including natural gas, shale gas and
coalbed methane). The Company is committed to providing the oil
and energy industry with world-class, one-stop integrated supply
chain services, creating greater value for customers worldwide.

The Company actively takes on its social responsibility by promoting
balanced economic growth, social progress, and environmental
protection. It considers the needs of customers, suppliers, employees,
society, and shareholders, ensuring harmonious coexistence and
shared development for all stakeholders.
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Corporate Culture

The meaning of Dalipal
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XL
BHENEE

"3 1" is the Chinese interpretation of “Dalipal”, and “Dalipal” [ /7% |2 Dalipal |## &4 - il Dalipal /R
is derived from the recombination of the English words “Darling” B H X B[ Darling ] (GRZ &) A Pal | (B ) 19
(intimate) and “Pal” (partner), which translates as “intimate B4 @ EAIEZHNEMR] -

partner”.

Serve the society

EOBME

Serve customers diligently

H BEP

Benefit employees

B BEBH

Corporate Purpose

BERE

St

Corporate Mission
EEm

Corporate Spirit

T

Corporate Ethics
PRERE

Quality Philosophy

EEE

Core Values

ZMEEE

While pursuing growth, the Company actively fulfills its social responsibilities, ensuring
that its achievements benefit society.

AREERNRAE - BERTHEERM  BRERMAKRB/LEER -

It is fully committed to creating value for customers, earning their trust through
competitive products and strong, efficient services.

ENREFPEEEE  UBRFINER AENNRRRY  BISEFER -

The Company’s development brings widespread benefits to employees, shareholders,
and partners alike.

RAEEZEET  BR - AFBHEEESR °

Creating Value, Creating Opportunities,
Innovative Development, Creating Harmony

RIEEE  AlEKe
BIFTEER - A&

Strive for Excellence, Build a Century-Old Enterprise
Bl— - EF

Unyielding Determination, Self-Improvement,
Pursuit of Excellence, Meticulous Attention to Detail

B NE - BElaH

Integrity, Honesty, and Transparency
HIEEE @ KAZEE

One Pipe, One Well;
One Pipe, One Market

RIRBAE - RS - RIRIHTRI G RE
—RE—AH  —RE—METS

Respect, Integrity, Teamwork, Innovation

BE - #E - B 8
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2024 Awards & Honors

In 2024, the Group upheld its innovation-driven approach,
deepening its intelligent transformation and striving to become
a global benchmark for high-end manufacturing. Committed to
sustainable development, the Company actively responded to
China’s “dual carbon” goals and strengthened its ESG strategy
and practices according to the latest policies from national and
regulatory bodies. It made continuous progress in corporate
governance, environmental sustainability, and social responsibility.
In 2024, the Company received the “Annual Outstanding High-
End Manufacturing Enterprise” award at the “Gelonghui Global
Investment Carnival 2025” and was honored with the "ESG
Excellence Award” by the Hong Kong Stock 100 Research
Center. Additionally, its subsidiary successfully passed the “Hebei
Province High-Tech Enterprise review” and “Municipal-Level 2024
Outstanding Taxpayer among Private Enterprises’ Title”
recognized as an Outstanding Unit in the 99 Giving Day fundraising
campaign, and one of its labor union groups was awarded the title
of “National Model Worker's Home.”

, was

2024 FEHRIB R EE

2024 - SEZFAFBEBNES  FME
A BRTEEEEEN S EET -
FRAFETRIES  BHRERERBXREHKR]E
1% RIEEREE ﬁ%%?ﬁﬁﬁxi ﬁk@
FIESGEEE - SEEESGEE © £ IR
REMTEBRES A EFERN - mmi@ﬂ
TE[RIEIE - 2HRIRESZFEE - 2025 | E[F
EE e m a2 4815 - BB 10058
FLAHL[ESGEMPEE | - B ARRBIILE

EBMRMAEER  BEOIILE A/ D
| mRN2024FERECEMHINE [T -
HIORm ABRES PR S
NERESH 2 EREEB TR

E XA

ERES

CERTIFICATE OF AWARD

SEAR AT
fFEEaERE. 01921, HK
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Sustainability Governance
ESG Management

The Group integrates the concept of sustainable development
into the Company’s development strategy and daily operation
management system, continuously practices the concept of ESG
development, actively responds to national and international
policies, the requirements of the Stock Exchange and ESG ratings,
etc., closely aligns with the actual development of the Company,
deeply benchmarks the best practices of the industry, analyzes
the challenges faced by the Company, continuously improves the
ESG management model, optimizes the ESG indicator system, and
deepens the connotation of ESG work.

The Group strictly adheres to the Listing Rules of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and relevant legal regulations. Leveraging
ESG management as an opportunity to deepen and integrate
sustainability into our business, we established a governance
structure in 2022 that combines clear accountability, centralized
control, and tiered management. Led by the Board, this top-down
approach ensures the Company’s compliant operations and efficient

performance.
The Board
=y

RIS HEMERHRS

EBRER
ESGEE

AEEBAHEERESBAQRRZEREEEM
AESETIERER  FERBITESGRRES &
13 22 e B R AN BIPR IR~ B X P FIESGRY AR E 3k
FBRUAAFBRER  FAEIETERE
BE - DT ARG MTEGKE - TETEESGE
BER - B(LESGIEIER R  FLESGIIEAR o

IR E B AR B R R P TR R R AR AR R
TE © AESGE M I R AZETE BEH - 702022
FEN THEREEW SHEZESRERBES
RRIEZENE  LEF2AEERL - BEM TR
BRARIME BICE E S BUEE

Secretariat of

Remuneration
Committee
FMEESY

Nomination

Committee
REEESY

ESG Committee
ESGEE®

the Board

EFenER

Management Committee

Audits and Risk
EZREREREEES

ESG Working Group

ESGT /M
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Board Diversity

EEEREZ L

fi
CDaa

Percentage of executive directors (%) 0

HITEEEL 5 O . O /0

Percentage of non-executive directors (%) O/
SFTTE B 12.5% g “

” Percentage of (o)
male directors (%) 87 . 5 /0

SHEEMNL

Percentage of (o)

female directors (%) 1 2 . 5 /0

 KIEEEAL

'~

N o

Percentage of independent non-executive directors (%) (o)
BYFRITEREL 3 7 . 5 /O

N,

-
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RIE - tEANERHRE
The Board
R

¢ Lead in identifying, evaluating, and defining the ESG-related risks and opportunities of the Group;

e Review and approve ESG management policies, strategies, priorities, and goals; and

e Convene regular meetings to oversee and discuss ESG-related matters, ensuring the establishment
of appropriate and effective ESG risk management, internal controls, and improvement systems, to
formulate effective risk response plans and practice the concept of sustainable development.

o THEEBN - FHEREEAEEMESCHERE RS ;

o Tk HUEESGEIRE - KE - BAMEBR &

s NEHMAMGREE  fIWESGHEBEE @ WHRAKBEE MTZBERHESCGRRER - NElEE
RBEGE - URIETZ AR ARELE - BERAFEERED -

ESG Committee

ESGEE=Z

e Schedule regular meetings to maintain the effectiveness of ESG management practices within the
Group;

e Report to the Board after meetings to elevate and ensure high standards of ESG management within
the Group;

e Review the Group's objectives, strategies, risks, opportunities, measures, policies, management
guidelines, and routines related to ESG, and provide recommendations to the Board;

e Supervise the Group’s progress towards ESG-related objectives and monitor the Group’s performance and
make recommendations to the Board regarding the necessary actions to enhance the performance;

e Review, evaluate, and verify the accuracy and significance of disclosures and disclosure processes
within corporate governance reports and ESG reports based on reporting principles;

¢ Ensure the Group has appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems,
supervise and review ESG trends and related response plans; and

e Review and monitor the training and ongoing professional development of the group’s directors and
senior management (including training and ongoing professional development related to ESG and
corporate governance).

o THIRHEEE  AMREAEENESCERERNABIL

s REZRRBRMEZGER  UERNBRIEENESCERALERSIRERITE

o HIE RN AEEEHESCGH BIR - K - Eb - #E - B BER  BEEAMHRER  TRES

SIRHES
o EEASEESGHEARNERBEANERARENRR - UHRTHEBEREMFROTER
E=gRLER

o RIBHERBNER - FHAMKBELEE AME MESCHRE NHHEE - WEBRENERIENSEN

o BMRAEEBBEENAMHESCRMREEMARMEIERL - BB RRFESGEE MARERE =
4

o BERIKERAKEEZENSREEABBIILSEZEEXER(215E ESC REXEABERANIEINR
FEHEERR) ©

ESG Working Group
ESGTE/JME

Formulate ESG-related policies and action plans;

Manage ESG-related risks and opportunities within the Company;
Drive the implementation of ESG-related initiatives; and

Collect, organize, and compile the ESG report of the Company.
BEBTESGHRBBR RT3 S

ETR N BIESGHE B L s

HEEESGIEZ ERMMIT &

e - BEIBMEH A RESGHRE -
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The Group has established the “Environmental, Social Responsibility,
and Corporate Governance Management System” ((3R1% « & &
ERATPREEIERIE)), with the Board taking full responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG strategy and related initiatives,
ensuring a solid foundation for the continuous advancement of ESG
efforts. During the Reporting Period, we linked the remuneration of
directors and senior management to ESG performance indicators,
incorporating key metrics such as energy usage, greenhouse
gas emissions, safety, compliance governance, innovation, anti-
corruption, and ESG performance improvement into the performance
evaluation system for directors and senior executives. These
indicators were further broken down and assigned to management
teams and business units. Ultimately, remuneration and performance
evaluations were determined based on the achievement of annual
ESG targets, ensuring the effective implementation of the company’s
ESG key indicators and management measures.

During the Reporting Period, to enhance the effectiveness of ESG
management, the Group introduced several measures, including
report the Company’s ESG indicators, the completion status of ESG
action plans, and subsequent work plans to the ESG Committee
semi-annually. The committee will also provide professional advice
to ensure that the progress and results of ESG initiatives are
regularly communicated and reviewed. An ESG information dynamic
collection and dissemination mechanism has been established,
which continuously tracks and organizes domestic and international
ESG-related policies, best practices from industry-leading companies,
and the execution of the company’s ESG action plans. Periodic
ESG updates are compiled and sent to the board members and
ESG-related personnel to continually improve the ESG expertise
and decision-making capabilities of relevant staff. Additionally, to
enhance the Company’s expertise in ESG, the Group has specifically
appointed Riskory Consultancy Limited as a professional advisor
to provide annual consulting services on ESG and sustainability to
support the company’s sustainable development efforts.

During the Reporting Period, We have also added an “ESG Policy”
section to the ESG page on the Company website to strengthen the
transparency of ESG-related policy disclosures.

AEEDHTEGRE H2ETRARDAEER
FIE) HEEC2EMASEVEBAREEMNESG
R RMBETIIE - BARFERAFARESGIIE
IRPEBRE - REHE - BABESLSRE
BN HIEEESGEBIRIZAMD - iR - AE
REHEW T2 AFARE  AF - xES -
ESGHEMIRF SRR ZEAZZE  MAES
MERERABNBERBRESISZERZH
WERDE - MEERBEREMEREAM © &
IR B T R ESGIEIZ R SER 1B 1T R 9 F1 357 BN
B - AR R BIESGRAR FEZ M B IR HE Y
SEHBETT o

G - RIRFTESGE IR BE - ALK EITETIE
ZIEENE - RESYFRESGEEEMEARE
THESGHETR « ESGTTEN A M A ek 165 R 8 8 T
YEEHE] - HEIRESG T {ERE E MK R1G UATE BB
MERAR ¢ I ESGIS B ENREE SR AN HE XML -
WIBS RIEHER MR A INESGAR B R
T TEEMEESEEREMARARESGIT
BT EIMBMITER - T R R ESGEN RE R T
XEEFENERESGHEBEBAE - BERA
HEABMESGEERENAKE S « N &
TRADBEESGHEMNEXEE - AEEREH|
Z{T T Riskory Consultancy Limited 22 # 50
BERBRMREESGRAIFHER R A ENZ AR
1% - ABBHHEB AR A IS EEE -

WESHE - RATEAREBESGHETRET
[ESGHK 1T EB - 8(LESGHEBBRIE B AV
BRE -
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Case study: ESG performance improvement training
=P | ESGEMIREAZELEI

On August 30, 2024, the Group invited senior consultants of Riskory Consultancy Limited to conduct special
training on ESG performance improvement for members of the Board, senior management and ESG working
group of the Company and its subsidiaries. With the theme of insight into the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
corporate governance and climate information disclosure requirements, ESG rating analysis and performance
improvement, the training closely aligned with the company’s actual development, in-depth benchmarking
and analysis of the challenges faced by the Company, and put forward practical and effective performance
improvement action suggestions, providing directions and ideas for the Company to improve ESG performance
and rating performance.

20248 A30H © A& Mg ERiskory Consultancy Limited & RERE AR M TARIEEEKE - BAEEAR
FESGIE/NERK B #1T T ESGERBUIRA BREIE o HMIILURBREBME R HAT - EEANRIREEHER
T ESGBAMEBENRAAETE  BERARARZREER - AAHE - S ARIFMEROKE - WiRE T
PEBRNEBIRFATEIES - AR RRAESGEMFTRRBIRM T HREEBE

o omm B

Dalipal Holdings Lim

|
ited

. Board Meeting —
b Sl

P _,._.(.‘1 y TRl

0

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) training
IRE (g REIAESG) I
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Response on United Nations Sustainable Development

Goals

In the course of the Group’s operations, we are focused on achieving
the following four United Nations Sustainable Development Goals
("UNSDGs") that are closely related to the Group’s business, and
we are committed to contributing to ESG through our operational

performance.

United Nations
Sustainable
Development Goals Specified Target

BEeBETRERRER MEER

BEETRERREERE

FEAEENEERET  BRMAINEEREATH
BHEBEERS SAABNBARBERREEZ
(TUNSDGs]) » G FE BT &8 FMRIAHESG
HEERER

Dalipal’s involvement and response

EHENSRKEE

3.9 Reduce iliness and death
from harmful chemicals and

pollution
B RESUEAL

600D HEALTH By 2030, drastically reduce the
AND WELL-BEING

number of deaths and illnesses

. from hazardous chemicals, air,
water, soil, and other pollution.

39RO BENBYENTRIERK

3 — Health and well- WERBEME T
being TEATT20304F LART - KIER
3 IR BRICBYE « SR K5

P BIBIBRUREMISRERK
BVEIIE T KR A B o

Properly dispose of hazardous waste generated in
production activities, and appoint a professional
and qualified waste disposal company to collect,
store, treat and dispose of waste to reduce the risk
of discomfort caused by hazardous materials to
employees.

ERBEERDTRENAZTERY  ZEEX
RERBEEMBELRKSE  FfF  BENEERE
W AR B THRAEEMEXTENRE -

9.4 Upgrading all industries and

infrastructure for sustainable

development

By 2030, all countries should act

according to their capabilities to
EE . AEAEERE upgrade infrastructure, transform
AND INFRASTRUCTURE businesses and industries so that
they can be sustainable, improve
energy efficiency, and adopt
clean and environmentally friendly
technologies and industrial

9 — Industrialization,

innovation and processes. .

infrastructure 9.4FH R S T £ AR R M AT
9—TXik ~ AlFT & BARERR

EigE® FERTT20305F IART - FHAREREER

e BUETREE - IR RHE
R REEREMRME - AE
PR RLF NIRRT B T 55
12 PR B A R AR IE A T
HHBENTTE)

Actively optimize the production process,
independently develop and innovate and apply for
patents and software copyrights, such as innovation
incubation platforms;

Build a smart factory composed of intelligent
equipment such as robots, CNC machine tools,
logistics and warehousing equipment, testing
equipment, and automated production lines; and
Actively optimize production technology, such as
adding volatile organic compound collection devices,
to reduce pollution and achieve clean production.

BRECEETE  gXHABEAIFTHBEN &
FEEHE - AT A

ITET BEaEEA - BUZHR - MRRREE - 8
K BRLEERTERRBEKNE LR
K

BRECEERN - MIEEHUE SRR ER
B ORISR BREFLEE -
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United Nations

Sustainable

Development Goals Specified Target Dalipal’s involvement and response

BEESARREEE MAEES EHENSHEREE
12.2 Sustainable management ¢ Developed a number of new product to meet the
and use of natural resources consumer needs, such as rare earth corrosion-
Achieve sustainable management resistant oil casing, which can greatly improve
and efficient use of natural the life of oil and gas wells and reduce resource
resources by 2030. consumption.
1228 RERN T RHEEEMN o MMEZEMEMMTHEEDTR - IH +ME a0
A ET  MEaRIEEEIRAS50% A E - Af KIBE R A S
TEATC20305 AR - BEIREAE RIFHFw - R ERERE
BT E T IR MBI R A(E
=8

. 12.4 Responsible for the
1 f&ﬁﬁﬁ" == management of chemicals and
AND PRODUCTION waste
By 2020, in accordance with the
m agreed international framework,

chemicals and wastes will be
managed in an environmentally
sound manner throughout their
life cycle, significantly reducing
their release into air, water and
soil, thereby reducing their adverse
effects on human health and the
environment.
NRASBCERANBEYHEE
TERATT20205F LART @ HKIBZER)
BIFRIRHE - (LR EEmEEREY)
B AT - UFERRNT
ANZEER R EREEY)
RIER A PR R 2R, - KR
TEP - UR AP ASRIEER
BRGNP E o

12 — Responsible
consumption and
production

122-BEEHERAEE

13.3 Build knowledge and Formulated the “Carbon Peak and Carbon Reduction

capacity to address climate Implementation Plan”;
change e The ESG Committee invited ESG experts to provide
- Improve education, awareness, training for the Group’s senior management, and
13 CLIMATE ACTION and human and institutional conducts multiple internal trainings for management
capacities for climate change and employees to understand climate information
mitigation, adaptation, impact and enhance awareness through education; and
@ reduction and early warning. e Conducted a pilot program to offset carbon

emissions from operations with carbon credits.
HIECHE R R EETER) |

13.38 M B SRR B L Y FI A

13 — Climate action

hgpyiyit B . ESGEECHBISCERAEESHTEERER
AIRTT TERIER L HPRE - EE - H o HANEATER - BTZETSREY . TR
YERTEE | NEHE FREEHENES  BAYEHASH &

RIS - B ALY
EIEEES °

EITREEE  AREREBES BREPHRIN -
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Dt 13 MARCH 2025
RIFERENCE V368162025

' % United Nations
§, C ) Framework Convention on
=

"4 Cimate Change

VOLUNTARY Presented to

< T . . Dalipal Holdings Limited
CANCELLATION Project
CERTIFICATE Hebei ChengAn Biomass Cogeneration Project

Reason for cancellation
Our company would like to contribute to climate action by offsetting our greenhouse
2as emissions

Number of units 7 CERs
cancelled Equbvalent 07 tnnets) o OO
Project title Hebei ChengAn Biomass Cogeneration Project (Project Code: 3797)
BH & B RR 22 4 )'E ZAE B 2 TE B (Hebei ChengAn Biomass Cogeneration Project)
(EB#RI% - 3797)
Introduction This carbon offset project use local cotton straw to generate electricity and sell the

generated electricity to the Hebei provincial grid to replace electricity generation
from coal-fired power plants. The project will help reduce greenhouse gas
emissions, improve resource use, protect the environment, provide employment
opportunities and increase the income of local residents. In addition, the Certified
Emission Reductions (“CERs”) of this project will also be used to achieve carbon
neutrality at the 2022 Asian Games in Hangzhou and the 2022 Asian Paralympic
Games in Hangzhou.

SEERERIE B MR MARERHES - WEMEANE HEEHRTIEEEN -
NERREBERNEE - WEE FRRREREBHN - TE2BREMA R
BRE - URRBEBERSFIRAZHEROWA « 1H0 - I8 B B REEE
(TCERs]) TR# AR 2022 AN TR i@ G M2022 F AN DN RE & FUAE R
e

i
>

For readers who wish to learn more about corporate governance, EiB& 2 TROEEANFE @ B2HAEH

please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s 2024F FMARCEEERRE) o IbH - A&
2024 Annual Report. Additionally, the Group will regularly update B 7R & EEIFFHESGE &P BIFESGIRE -
the ESG section, which includes ESG reports, ESG actions, and ESG ~ ESG7T8)  ESGEUR ZB&IE @ FiFHhE THEA
policies, to keep stakeholders informed about the Group’'s ESG S EIAJESGERHEE °

strategy.
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Risk and Opportunity Identification

After discussion by the Board and management, the ESG risks
and opportunities identified by the Group are as follows, please
refer to the climate change section for climate-related risks and
opportunities.

Risks identified

ESG disclosure standards are becoming more stringent

As global attention to the transparency of ESG information
continues to rise, countries are strengthening relevant disclosure
standards and enhancing corporate environmental responsibility. For
oil pipe companies, this will result in higher compliance costs and
increased pressure for information disclosure, requiring companies to
establish more comprehensive environmental data monitoring and
reporting mechanisms to meet the increasingly stringent compliance
requirements.

Increasing Quality Requirements from Downstream Customers

Due to evolving industry trends, energy consumption demands,
and market developments, downstream customers are increasingly
seeking high-end, specialized, eco-friendly, and differentiated
premium products. In response, the Group must enhance investment
in new product and technology development, accelerating the
transformation of its product portfolio.

Opportunities have been identified

The development of the energy industry has brought more green
opportunities

As the global “dual carbon” goals deepen, the oil and gas industry
is facing an upgrading challenge from “new” to “green.” The
integration of oil and gas exploration and development with green
energy will help drive companies towards the middle ground of
combining new technologies with traditional application scenarios.
This will continuously enhance technological innovation capabilities,
explore new development opportunities, develop emerging
businesses, and seize the brand-new opportunities brought about by
industry transformation.

RIS HEMERHRS

JEE e ER A4 38 58

REFSNEEENNHRR  ARECHEIDN
ESGRMREMBIT - RIKIB R S H
AMRIRZ B D ©

E#FIm R

ESGHXFEIZE B 1%

BEERIREIRE - ESGIERBRAEMNRDLE T
’E - SEHDMNEERERRERE  atd
ERFBEM - BHNHELEME  BHRES
MERRAREEREREN  BREXREYEN
SEEMRBEURER ERES] - LR E B S
RE) AR EK

T E P E i B E ST AR
ROTERERHER K  TERREMLFREZ T
BEPEBANRSmE BRIl  #Eel  ER
fEmmEER - KREFTBINAFER - FIMH
IR - IREmAABER X

E#FI#E
FERERBERFKE ZHIE

BEE IR B B IRRURAEE - HREXRLE
B[ ¥ A AR AT RO FHARBRB - Tl SRR R 3
HEHERNBAEER  BEORESRRERN
BAMTAEG RS REA T EHS - TERA
RERBIFTRE ) - BEFNBRERRE - FMAEE
% WIBHETRE R ISR ZHZMH -
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Accelerate the transformation and upgrading of digital intelligence
The application of digital technologies and intelligent management
(such as artificial intelligence, the Internet of Things, and big data
analytics) in the energy and manufacturing industries is becoming
increasingly advanced. Companies can leverage smart monitoring,
data analysis, and automated production technologies to enhance
energy efficiency management and carbon emission monitoring in
pipeline production, thereby reducing environmental impact and
improving operational efficiency.

National Policy Support Driving Growth

The Chinese government has successively introduced policies and
financial support measures for green and low-carbon transformation,
energy conservation, and emission reduction. These initiatives
provide the Company with new opportunities and directions for
green development, driving it to leverage technological innovation
and equipment upgrades for green transformation. Additionally,
these policies help reduce costs and accelerate the Company’s
transition toward sustainability.

These risks and opportunities together shape the future development
direction of oil pipe companies. Companies should actively address
challenges and seize opportunities by driving low-carbon technology
innovation, expanding the use of green energy, and achieving
sustainable growth.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group understands that stakeholder feedback is crucial in
driving the sustainable development of the company. Therefore,
we always adhere to the principle of “Creating value, creating
opportunities, innovating development, and creating harmony,”
and actively engage with various key stakeholders to gain a deeper
understanding of their concerns. The Group has established
diversified communication channels, including stakeholder surveys,
social media, interviews, exchange meetings, direct mail, and
hotlines, to proactively collect and respond to stakeholder opinions.
This open and continuous dialogue not only helps identify and
anticipate potential risks but also ensures that the sustainable
development strategy aligns more closely with the interests of all
parties, promoting the joint development of the company and
society.

TERBE LB TTR

B RIMESREE(MATERE  WBER
REEON) AL RESEEXTNEMA AR
b - RERGFPEEER - BEITRES
HEEERAT - SRTME A AR RE R E IR BB
AgES) - M ERBEFESRELNRE -

BIZ R X I F IR

R RB R EEM AR EREL - B ER
ERMMP BT - BRRSEERBR
TEZHRAMEE - RE QARG B RIE
o RBTTAFETRESCE - WEETRA
BN RREERMAFEER -

ELE R EEBRREE T MELERRNER
R EEEGELE - WITERS - ED
EREMRIR - MAKERR - BHRAFEE
< o

FESR

REBRA  HOENBRERBEEAHESE
ROBETEFEE - Bt - HPIGERFEE
EEE - AIERE  BFER - AIEMEINR
A - BEETR RS ERE O RAT B
PEVEDEE - AEBREY T ZTCrBRRE -
BREFNERS  HER A RGHE
EERBHRARERS  TBHREARERNHE
MER - ERFAMASENSE TMERBRER
MIBRIEERR - SRR AISEE R ER
BENNE - HEPOERY S HFER
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Our Responses and Measures

BHERAIE BEAN R E EREE
Government e Legal compliance e Conduct on-site inspections Operate and manage in
RS ° and checks accordance with the law,

X

Proper tax payment
Promote regional economic
development and
employment

BTER
HOEMTL
HEFEEEERRLE

Research and submit reports
for approval through

work meetings and report
preparation

The Stock Exchange
disclosure website for
publishing information such
as annual reports, interim
reports, and announcements
Company website

Legal control

EMER  gd
MrREBEBIEEE
TEmERENERRE
DA AL
EEMERHMBRAT
(MBS R2 P 1) PR BB AR U B4
BRI - REHRE
SN

YNGIFER

AP

pay taxes, strengthen

safety management,
cooperate with government
supervision, inspections, and
evaluations (if applicable),
and actively fulfill social
responsibilities.

FOESEMEE RAT - N
BEEEE  KABFME
B rERFE@E) - 1
BEAELERET -

101
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Stakeholders and their expectations

FEREGE

Engagement Channel

BEARN

Our Responses and Measures
R E R EiE

Shareholders
and Investors

BREEEE

Ig':’\\

Return on investment
Disclosure and Transparency
Protect the interests of
shareholders and treat them
fairly

Business risk management

REDHR

BRI EERE
RIBBER A& AT
PR

EBEREE

Annual General Meetings
and other shareholder
meetings

Disclose information such
as annual reports, interim
reports and announcements
on the website of the Stock
Exchange

Meet with investors and
analysts

Company website

BERAFEARREMBRE
AE

B B TR A B R
AR - HERE RAS
BIREE R EE
NGIFEDA

Issue notices of general
meetings and proposing
resolutions in accordance
with the Regulations, and
disclosing information

of the Group through

the publication of
announcements/circulars
and periodic reports.

Carry out a different

form of investor activities
with an aim to improve
investors' recognition.
Disclosed Company Contact
details on the website and
in reports and ensured all
communication channels
were available and effective.
RIFR B HMRRAGES
RIRZRZR - BAEMA
&/ BEMNTERREHRER
EEBH -
RIBEREERMEMEIT
BEREANKREE S -
FAAB L B R A AR ER N A
WER R EEER
BEYAA °




Annual Report 2024 F &3k

103

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE - HENERRS

Stakeholders and their expectations
HOEREHE

Engagement Channel

BEARX

Our Responses and Measures
R E EREE

Employee

’E
U

Client

®P
Q)
A\ax<
[—\

Safeguard the rights and
interests of employees
Working environment
Career development
opportunities
Occupational health and
safety

Self-actualization
TRIE(E B HORER K e
TIEIRIE
BxuRE#e
BEERET D
BRER

Safe and high-quality
products and services
Stable relationships
Transparency of information
Integrity

Business ethics

2R BEEm LR
RERIE
BRBEHAE

E4E

[EESELG

Regular meetings
Training, seminars and
briefing sessions
Intranet and email
Annual performance
appraisal

EE

A R
PEBESE « EBRAAAT
T

Website, brochure, disclose
information such as annual
reports, interim reports
and announcements on
the website of the Stock
Exchange

Email and customer service
hotline

Feedback and reporting
Regular meetings
International certifications
Exhibition

193k - B - BRAHE
RSB AR - IR -
h R A
THLEFRBHE
RIRE s

e

B

RES

Provide a healthy and safe
working environment.
Develop a fair mechanism
for promotion.
Care for employees by
helping those in need.
Organize employee activities
and provided training.
RERRELZEHITERE -
SN EYE D o
BUEEBBRERES -
REFEEPNES - B
1B 8RR MHIETI -

Strengthen quality
management to ensure
stable service standards,
entered into long-term
strategic cooperation
agreements and obtained
international certifications
from professional
institutions.

Use a sales management
platform to optimize sales
processes, strengthened
daily communication with
customers, and built long-
term relationships with
quality customers.
IEEEEE - AERRT
RERTE - HAIRPEES
YR 1 B MR I U

g 277
T\ﬁu EAL °

EREEEEFa@LHE
kf IRREFHE TR

C WEREEEPEYRS
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Stakeholders and their expectations

Engagement Channel

Our Responses and Measures

BHERAIE BEARN R E R EiE

Suppliers/ e Long-term partnerships e Business meetings, supplier e  Select the best suppliers/
Partners e Honest cooperation meetings, telephone calls partners through open

=y e Fairness and openness and interviews invitation bidding
GIERM e Share sources for custom e Regular meetings e Suppliers/partners fulfill

ﬁ ingredients e Review and assessment contracts according to

- e  Reduce risk e Tendering agreements.

o RHIAIEERE

o HMEAF

o ¥ 1FH

o REFIRBDZFERKIR
o [REER

Peer/trade e Experience sharing
associations e Cooperate

FI%17% e Fair competition
gl

. BEBHE
. A
. ATHF

Company website
Open procurement platform
Training

Xes  HEREE
BRELEHK

EHEE

et Rt

B

BE B LFMH
NEAE - BT A

=

Industry conferences
On-site visits
Standard publicity
Training

Seminar

BES T
BHHED
FEEE
=

i

Utilize the e-procurement
platform to advance
procurement processes,
enhance daily
communication, and
establish long-term
cooperative relationships
with high-quality suppliers/
business partners.
Strengthen supplier/partner

training.
BB AFBBRREERE
HLRERS, A EBEE -

HIERE, BIERH - KR
EETAR -
EREET e HERERE
B insg BEER - Y EE
BiER EBEHEYR
HIEERIR -

ISR GRS, AR AL
Al o

Adhere to fair competition,
cooperate with peers to
achieve a win-win situation,
share experience, participate
in various industry seminars,
and promote the sustainable
development of the industry.
BREATHE  HRAXS
15 BRHAR  H=LR
SMSETEMTE - #F)
ITENARFERR
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Our Responses and Measures

BHERAIE BEAN BMMEERERE

Market Compliance with laws and e Disclosure of Information e Comply with regulatory
Regulators regulations e Report requirements in a strict

MSEEH Disclosure of Information e Consultation manner, disclosed and

m

The general
public
HERR
ﬁﬁ
&

BSFRREM
BREE

Community involvement
Social responsibility
Promote employment
Consultation is transparent

HEm e
HERE
fRHERL
B

SEBE

Public welfare activities and
social investment

Press conference

Company website

N AP ERE
CEREGS
NEIAEE

reported real information

in a timely and accurate
manner according to law.
BIRETERERTE - RIEE

FERE - ERMIRER2W
HEEEH -

Priority is given to locals
seeking job opportunities,
promoting community
building and development,
and keeping the
communication channels
between the Group and the
community open.

Timely and accurate
disclosure of information.
B E BAM A SR T E#
g REMERRER R
FAEEEMRBREES
@ o

KB - AERER R

pilll3

B o
N

105



'I O 6 Dalipal Holdings Limited 3% ) ¥ {2 & B R A 7

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE  HEMEL®RS

Materiality Assessment

To develop sustainable development policies and measures, and to
focus on disclosing relevant content in this report, we conducted
a stakeholder survey during the Reporting Period, based on our
business operations and the impact on stakeholders. A total of 24
material topics were identified, and definitions for each topic were
clarified based on actual operations. During the assessment process,
we comprehensively considered the Group’s operational situation
and stakeholder concerns, inviting employees, customers, suppliers,
experts, and investors to participate in the survey. Based on the
evaluation results, we determined the priority of the material topics.

To ensure that this report accurately and objectively reflects the
Group's ESG performance during the Reporting Period, we engaged
professional consultants to assist in completing the following
materiality analysis process:

Reviewed regulatory
trends, international
standards, and material
issues of peers

Invited stakeholders to
fill out questionnaire
BHEET

Reviewed material
issues identified last
year
EEAFEEMZE

Prioritized material

2

e

EEH S
BT AR RER RN  WEARERE
SREAARND - RS RN G 5 2
EENHBHENRE MR THOENEE
& AHBBIHAREREE  DRERKRE
SRESRETE - BT - RABAE
EREENEERN RIFHENBTE  BEE
T EF - R SREREESEENEE
& - BRBTHE SRR S ERANELR -

RERARERERATBRRAEEERSE
HIFMVESGR IR - MIFIIEFHE T HEXRER - HBhx
AT EZMEDHTIRIE |

Confirmed issues and
constructed materiality
matrix

Submitted for review
and verification by

management
20
%
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List of Environmental, Social and Governance Related Issues BiE R E A EEE
Category Materiality
i) EEMRE

Environment
RIR

—_

O NOUTE WN = 0N s WN

Environmental management system
Emissions of exhaust gases

Waste management

Water management

Greenhouse gas emissions

Energy efficiency

Climate change risks and opportunities
Biodiversity conservation
RIREEER

BERHEL

BEEYER

IKERERR

BERBEBEN

BEIRGE AR

SRR E LR B S
MR RE

Social

e

N —m — —a a v a n v y n O N —m s s (O
SCLEPNOUEWN=2O0" LNV EWN=O"

Employee rights and benefits

Diversity and Inclusion

. Development and training of employees
. Occupational health and safety

. Supplier management

Product quality

. Customer service

Customer privacy protection

. Intellectual property protection

Welfare and charity

Innovative research and development
Information security

B T BiE A

ZtEER

. BT ERERE
CBERERTE
. frEmER
EmEE

. BFR%
BEFRILRE

. FIBERERE
NEmEEE
BT

. ]
EELE

Corporate Governance
hEER

NNNNNNNN
A WN-=DHBWN =

. ESG governance

. Business ethics

. Protection of investors’ rights and interests
Risk management

. ESGEA

. ARER

. WEEEmIRE

- ERREE
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Materiality Matrix EEMERE

We identified 24 issues that are of most concern to our stakeholders i) 88 H24EF D EZ AT - A RERKY
and that are most important to the Group at the same time, witha AEEZASERGEE  EEUSOWHRDOT ¢
list of materiality analyses as follows:

Materiality Matrix
ERMIER

HEOENEEY

Importance to the stakeholders

Importance to the Group

HAREENERN

@ Environmental ® Social @ Governance
RiE te TEER
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Compliance Management

Legal compliance is the cornerstone of sustainable corporate
development. The Group upholds the compliance management
policy of “Legal compliance, adherence to principles, integrity and
trustworthiness, and steady progress,” following the principles
of comprehensive coverage, clear responsibilities, and practical
efficiency. We continuously refine a comprehensive compliance
management system tailored to the company’s development to
safeguard our business operations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group formulated a compliance
management system implementation plan, established a compliance
team, and defined compliance management policies and objectives.
In alignment with external policies and standards, we developed
the “Compliance Management System” ({(&#HEIEHIE)) and
revised the “Comprehensive Risk Management System” ({2 &
BEIEHIE)) and the “Legal and Regulatory Compliance Control
Procedures” CERER R EAbE A ESKIEHIF2F) , among other
compliance documents. Additionally, we enhanced risk assessment
standards and implemented routine compliance obligation
identification, adaptation, and risk assessment. During the Reporting
Period, over 100 new compliance obligations were identified, more
than 10 typical cases were documented, and over 130 potential risks
were mitigated.

RIE  HEMERHRS

ERERE

REARBEEAFERRNEL  SEHERH
[EOEER - BTEA - HETE - TIRE0E 1K
BREETH  BRZEEZ  BEFWMAIBE
BHHRA - HETEESARNERNEEAR
BEER  REGREEM -

MEHME  SEREAREEEBREETR - A
EAFER - PREAREEAFHMEE £650
FBURFIMREE - HIECEREREFE) - B85 K2
HRRE R R ) RCERER K H b iE R 2 skiE
FIEFIFEHR XY TERRFTHIRE -
{EFRRAHFEBHER - S BRI E - &
HHAEIFTIEHE R 100 IEA RETS - FERK 108278
BAIZR) - BHET1308RTRE AR o

wRE

m——

Case Study: The Group’s subsidiary passed the

ISO 37301:2021 compliance management system
certification

Rf| : REEFATIEBISO 37301:2021 5 REEH A
S

During the Reporting Period, Dalipal Pipe Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of the Group, officially passed the ISO 37301:2021 compliance
management system certification and obtained the compliance
management system certification issued by the British Standards
Institution (“BSI”).The American Society for Quality Accreditation
Board for Certification Body Accreditation Authority) recognizes
the enterprise with the mark certificate, which indicates that the
company’s compliance system construction and management
level have met the requirements of international standards.

WEPHE - AEBFRARENEAHEREERARIENRE
ISO37301:2021 5 A E R B RRAF - WS REIF 2R = (BS))
WENAHEEEREARERE A RERNEHEESEA
ANAB(EBIBIRIZEHE - EHEE2eRERBERITEE
2IRUEEEENLE  EEEQARAAERERMERK

FemeBRRERK -

bsi.
Certificate of Registration

fAATRIER - 150 37301:2021

® &

i, RIS o DALIPAL PIPE COMPANY
ol Park
@ Hanshugang Road
mLw Bohal New District.
it Cangatvn
A Hebei
AR oLy
5 061113 s
LTy MSFC 808841
WG 150 570000 EAHENIAIE. WEANEF
FAESTR. BERIIT. LA WA, WA TR, T
RSN, W R AR R
“The comphance management of production, ssles, and procurement of of and gas ppes, new
e inck ey
el
it
Wichanl Lo Sentor Vi Prostdont, AP Amsirence
NEAEER, X120 TN, 1200
anREnn, 041206 R, 2271208
¢ Poe 1001

= making excellence a habit™

.
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To enhance employees’ compliance awareness and foster a
culture of compliance, we have developed the “Code of Business
Conduct” ({{&%71TA*¥8])) and utilized various methods —
including specialized training programs, promotional articles, video
learning, compliance-themed music performances, and surveys — to
communicate the Company’s compliance culture to all employees
and suppliers, fostering a shared commitment to compliance. During
the Reporting Period, we published 11 compliance-focused articles
covering topics such as safety, quality, corporate compliance culture,
and system knowledge. Additionally, we launched four compliance
training courses on the Company’s Beisen training platform and
conducted a company-wide compliance survey, collecting a total
of 316 responses. Through a comprehensive analysis of the survey
results, we implemented targeted improvements in areas such as
legal and regulatory awareness, whistleblowing channels, procedural
guidelines, and role-specific compliance training. Furthermore, we
formulated and disclosed the “Dalipal Holdings Limited Tax Policy”
(CENEERAR AT B ), strengthening the Company's
tax management framework.

REFTETINARER LESHEXICLRE R
PR ERITRER])  WBEFRERF
J - HEXEE - REEE - ARTHER - S5
HEEFLRBIA > MERET HERSTEER
AARXE  BEARAH - MEHE - Heth
Hjﬂ%fé\%ﬁiﬁlé?ﬁx NERELE  HEE -
TERERXE BRABZEBAAANT  FIA

/&ﬁlitwmiﬁjl\$4*§*ﬁ4/ﬂ AL AREE
GHAE VR - HEFREIZ161ES - BIBHE
SNEREDMMNERE - EEESR  BREEE
& HERENEMBEEIIS T EmETTEA
STEMERNE - ARNHETRECENEZERE
FRAFHMEE) - BREE AR EIERE -

A AREPRSREERAEHEI

Case Study: Practical Training on Compliance Management System

In April 2024, to further enhance the Company’s compliance management standards and mitigate compliance risks,
the Group invited a senior lecturer from the BSI to lead a two-day “Practical Training on Compliance Management
System”. Over 30 participants, including company executives, department heads, and key compliance personnel,
attended the training. At the end of the program, participants took an assessment to evaluate their learning outcomes.
A total of 30 employees successfully passed the exam and obtained certification issued by BSI.

2024F AR - RE—FRARAESHREEKYT - BIEEHEAR - SESBEBEIRERGBS)NERBMEE
) - RAIEE - X%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁa)\&/\%ﬁﬁﬁkﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
SINABRE2IEFINAR - mRBBEKR - HBE30EE THEBEZFAILRE TBIRE

EHEE IR T ABMAN(ARERERERE
AB3 - I
HEE o

Rig




Annual Report 2024 F &3k

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Anti-corruption

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy toward unethical
behaviors such as bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
To reinforce this commitment, we have established and publicly
disclosed our Anti-Corruption Policy on the company’s website (Link:
http://www.dalipal.com/tsjb/). The Group strictly abides by the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FFZE A
REMBERTIEE#HFE)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China (/& A RAME & EEE) ), Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A RFEFEFIE)),
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance ({7 - BEEZ &) ) and other
relevant laws and regulations, formulates and implements the “Anti-
Fraud and Whistleblowing Management System"({ iz SE#F L £2 3R &
BHIE) ), adheres to the corporate ethics of honesty and integrity,
and opposes any form of commercial bribery, extortion, fraud,
money laundering, unfair competition and other non-compliance
behaviors. If an employee violates company regulations and engages
in fraudulent activities, disciplinary actions will be imposed based
on the severity of the misconduct. These actions may include, but
are not limited to, warnings, demerits, demotions, downgrades,
dismissals, or termination of employment. In cases involving
suspected illegal activities, the matter will be referred to judicial
authorities or other relevant regulatory bodies for legal processing.

During the Reporting Period, in alignment with the compliance
management system requirements, we established policies such as
the “External Donations and Sponsorship Management Policy”( (¥t
MBS - BB)EIEHIE)) and the “Gift Acceptance Management
Guidelines” ({(EXEREEHE)) to clarify management
expectations. These policies strictly prohibit any individual from
making or receiving kickbacks and encourage employees to uphold
legal and ethical standards in their daily work and interactions.
We have established monitoring procedures requiring employees
in sensitive positions, such as procurement, quality inspection,
and sales, to sign the “Employee Integrity and Self-Discipline
Commitment”({B TERZBEEFE)). Using the Beisen HR
system, we maintain a clear and updated list of employees in
sensitive roles, enabling dynamic tracking of personnel changes,
including hiring, transfers, role changes, and resignations.
Additionally, we have incorporated compliance reviews into the
hiring and transfer processes, with a particular focus on conducting
targeted compliance background checks for employees in high-risk
sensitive positions.

BRIE - HENERRS

RES

REBBRKBRFEEMEBEE - 9K - BEFR
GRBETEETRARNTETRAMEE - 4
FEWRARBUARMTRESBRE (5
http://www.dalipal.com/tsjb/) o EZ % 8 sF( 2
AREFBIR T EEBRTE) « (REARLNEH
[oksE) (R EEARFLFEIFE Y RCP7 LR RS
BEDERAEVERER - 1T B i R FFiR e
RWEEGE)  BRIFELE - AR5 W
EEE  REFMEARIEERR - $F - ]
FFARE TEERFUREMSBTERIT
R BEIRRAIEATERERTE  BIBE
FERIBEHNERERE TUES - BFETRRE
CRCHR - PRAE - PR B REBZHER
L OPIREAILTEN - B RAMBE S HMEE
FBPIMEOERRIR ©

D

BRERHE BEEREEEBRELR - B
ETCHIMBRE - BEBEENE) (BXERE
BHOE)SHERGIE - BEEEENR - BREEM
ARSMBNEEZEM - BB THERETHE
MEAEFRBAR TR ~ ETHRIEER - RIFBREK
BoHEnkh HESHREEUBIHZB(ET
FRZBEAEERSE)  BBILARHRE SRS
MABBEMEE  BERBBEUABAR &
fe - RN MBEBLAENREARE - Al - EAB AR
MERPIENERBERE - FHRE=SERE
REABETHHHEENAREEESNR

117



1 1 2 Dalipal Holdings Limited 3 ) &2 i% 5 R 2 &)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE  HEMEL®RS

The Group strictly complies with the Audit Law of the People’s
Republic of China (¥ A RHEFEIZETA) ) and other relevant
laws and regulations. We have established an “Internal Audit
Management System” ({AIZFEFTEIEHIE) ). and conduct annual
internal and external business ethics audits covering key areas
such as production, procurement, and sales to ensure compliance
and integrity. During the Reporting Period, leveraging compliance
management system reviews, the Company conducted an internal
business ethics audit focused on anti-bribery and anti-corruption.
This process identified and addressed seven areas for improvement,
including policy enhancements and training initiatives. Additionally,
we carried out a third-party business ethics audit and successfully
obtained ISO 37301:2021 compliance management system
certification.

Whistleblowing Policy

To prevent unethical behavior, the Group has established
multiple whistleblowing channels, including a dedicated website,
procurement system, reporting email, and hotline. Additionally,
we have posted QR codes for whistleblowing in high-traffic and
high-risk areas such as company entrances, shuttle buses, and
restrooms. This ensures that employees, suppliers, customers, and
other stakeholders can report cases of corruption, fraud, bribery,
and other illegal activities. Upon receiving a report, the Company’s
Audit and Supervision Department promptly conducts investigations
and verifications. Major cases are escalated to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board. If a case involves criminal
activity, it will be referred to judicial authorities for legal action.

The Group strictly maintains the confidentiality of whistleblower
identities and related information. For whistleblowers who disclose
their identity, we ensure their information is protected throughout
the investigation process. We strictly prohibit any form of unlawful
discrimination or retaliation. Any individual found to have unlawfully
disclosed a whistleblower’s identity or engaged in retaliatory
actions will be deemed to have committed a serious violation of
the Company policies, resulting in dismissal or termination of
employment. If the case involves illegal activity, it will be referred
to judicial authorities or relevant regulatory bodies for legal action.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any legal
proceedings related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud,
or money laundering involving the company or its employees.
Ad(ditionally, no significant legal violations were identified that could
have a material impact on the Group.
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Anti-corruption Training

The Group conducts targeted anti-corruption training for employees,
contractors and suppliers through various initiatives. The Group have
developed and publicly disclosed the “Code of Business Conduct”
((E17A%8])) and the “Supplier Code of Conduct” ({#tfE
77 A%8])), and use multiple training formats to communicate
integrity-related responsibilities and obligations, thereby enhancing
anti-corruption awareness. During the year, we conducted four
dedicated training sessions for all employees, released five anti-
corruption awareness articles, carried out one anonymous survey
and self-assessment, and collected a total of 11 valuable suggestions
on legal education and awareness promotion. Additionally, anti-
corruption content has been incorporated into on boarding training
and examinations for new employees to embed integrity principles
from the outset and strengthen the Company’s ethical defense at
its roots. We also organized one dedicated integrity training session
each for contractors and suppliers, including in-depth explanations
of the Supplier Code of Conduct ({ftfER 7T ALY ).

Environment Aspects
Corporate Culture

As a member of the energy equipment industry, the Group fully
recognizes its responsibility in advancing clean energy development
and contributing to a sustainable future. In response to the “dual
carbon” goals, the Group continuously drives technological
innovation, optimizes energy and resource management, enhances
operational efficiency, and implements energy-saving and emission
reduction measures. These efforts aim to achieve long-term
environmental and economic benefits while supporting the transition
to a low-carbon economy.

Our corporate culture emphasizes a clear environmental protection
philosophy — ecological conservation, pollution control, clean
production, and green development. The key principles include:

(1) Implementing ecological and environmental protection
measures to pursue a green, low-carbon development path.

(2) Adopting a comprehensive management approach, including
source substitution, process control, end treatment, and
waste recycling, to achieve high-quality green and low-carbon
development.

(3) Developing clean energy and environmentally friendly products
while promoting a circular economy.
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Emissions

The Group actively fulfills its social responsibilities and remains
committed to a green, low-carbon, and high-quality development
strategy. We continuously promote energy conservation, emission
reduction, and ultra-low emissions throughout our production and
operations, implementing measures to improve energy efficiency,
reduce pollution, and enhance overall performance. The Group
strictly complies with relevant environmental laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes ({2 A AN EL B #8RE Y05 R IRIRHIVE/A) ), Cleaner
Production Promotion Law ({2 A R HEMENEREER#EIE) ), Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(EBEEPIEINE (ERIFRE HER) ), Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap.354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (B8 A MISE354E (BEMRE
1&%51) ). We have also obtained a “Pollutant Discharge Permit ;52
PBERRET ] %) “issued by local environmental authorities. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not found to have violated any
environmental laws or regulations that had a significant impact on
our operations.

Air Emissions

The Group's air emissions primarily come from particulate matter,
sulfur oxides, and nitrogen oxides generated by industrial furnaces,
kilns, and equipment during the production process. To reduce
air emissions during our operations, we have implemented the
following technologies and measures for control. The production
line's heating furnaces use natural gas as the combustion fuel and
employ low-nitrogen combustion technology and systems, effectively
reducing air emissions. The air treatment facilities utilize advanced
adsorption and catalytic combustion technologies. Nitrogen oxide
emissions are reduced by increasing the furnace thickness and
adding flue gas treatment devices to the heat treatment furnace.
The slagging process at the electric furnace outlet is equipped with
a flue gas collection system to reduce particulate matter emissions.
Additionally, online flue gas monitoring equipment has been
installed at the main emission points. The plant area and key raw
material entry and exit points are equipped with wheel washers and
dust monitoring devices to track airborne dust pollution. We have
optimized industrial processes to reduce internal transportation
frequency, updated to new energy vehicles, and increased the
proportion of clean transportation. We also entrust qualified third-
party service providers to conduct regular testing according to
required frequencies to ensure compliance with emission standards.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s emissions of particulate
matter, sulfur oxides, nitrogen oxides, and other pollutants were
all below the emission limits set by the Bureau of Ecology and
Environment of Cangzhou City. Additionally, all emissions met the
ultra-low emission standards of Hebei Province. The details of the air
emissions are as follows:

RIS HEMERHRS

REE SR - AEBERNY - Ay RElk
WE PR EDEIORIMN T ERIRE BT AT B
B FARSsLEEta BIEBERIRE - BERYE
WEWT :

Permitted Emission Levels
of The Bureau of Ecology
and Environment of

Type of Air Emissions Unit Cangzhou City 2024 2023
BERBERE R B BMNTERBRERFIHNRE 20244 20234
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) Tonnes 55.90 36.12 31.77
EE=E ()] A
Sulfur oxides (SOx) Tonnes 11.97 1.28 0.95
malty A
Particulate matter (PM) Tonnes 74.34 50.87 48.52
SR U

Air Emissions (Tonnes)

BEsR R (W)

.-l
=
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Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions from daily operations primarily originate
from two sources: the indirect emissions from purchased electricity
and the direct emissions from the combustion of fuels in stationary
and mobile sources. To enhance transparency in supply chain
environmental performance, the Group is progressively quantifying
Scope 3 GHG emissions. This includes tracking employee business
trips and commuting emissions through online forms or office
systems, as well as recording waste emissions (such as wastepaper
and sewage) generated during operations. These efforts enable
stakeholders to better understand the environmental impact of our
business activities.

During the Reporting Period, we set the GHG emission intensity
target for 2025" as 113.19 Tonnes of CO, equivalent/revenue in
million RMB, and the total greenhouse gas emissions decreased
compared to the previous year. In addition, in line with our
commitment to achieving the “2030 Carbon Peak and 2060 Carbon
Neutrality” goals, we are gradually formulating mid-to-long-term
guantitative emission reduction targets. The relevant emission data
are as follows:

BEREHH
AEEREREEPELNEERETIEREM
EmE : ——INBENEENEE R EREEE
B Z RGBT IRAUR B RIA R PR R B
B - RIRFHEERRERIRNERE - AEE
ZHEB(CBEBHRERBIEN - FAR RSB
S ARG B T EIREBEB RPN - R
FCEOE £ BIE T E A M EERY) (IR AR H1)57K) B
HE BRI E THRSEBHNRRZE

RIRE IR - B ERI202549 )8 EREEHER
BEEE A3 —EtIREE BETA
REEWZ > MAKAEREAHENEREFE
FrTEE + 2O AERKT 203085 E1& - 20608
MIMERZE  BRAEEESHERRANELR
HEBZ o FERIFE BRI T ¢

Type of GHG Emissions Unit 2024 2023
BERBHFHER B 20245 20235
Scope 1 - Direct emissions Tonnes of CO, equivalent 101,248.12 98,518.15
#HE BN W — S LIRE 8
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions Tonnes of CO, equivalent 255,925.26 268,583.62
#E2 — IR MR — SR E 8
Total Tonnes of CO, equivalent 357,173.38 367,101.77
we WE—SUbIREE
Intensity Tonnes of CO, equivalent/revenue in 108.49 95.35
million RMB
=E WE — SR E 2
BETAREKZ

GHG Emission in the past 3 years (Tonnes)

E=FREREHHE (W)

420,000
399,468.55
400,000
380,000
367,101.77
360,000
340,000
320,000
2022 2023
2022 2023%F

T In 2025, the Company’s high-end oil drilling and energy equipment tubing
production project will commence operations, leading to an increase in the
Group's total greenhouse gas emissions. As a result, the 2025 target value is
expected to be higher than the actual emissions in 2024.

357,173.38

2024
20244
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Waste Management

The Group adheres to the principles of waste reduction at the
source and recycling to minimize the environmental impact of
its business operations. According to statistics, the Group’s daily
operations primarily generate two types of waste: (i) Hazardous
waste, which poses a risk to human health or the environment. This
mainly includes dust removal ash, waste mineral oils, cutting waste
residues, and waste oil packaging drums. (ii) Non-hazardous waste,
which originates from production activities, such as electric furnace
slag, refining slag, iron oxide scale, and waste refractory materials.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of waste generated by the
Group was as follows:

BRIE - HENERRS

BEYEE

REBRFFREBFE RO BT AOEREA - AR
EXBELHRRNTE - KR AREAE
LETERELMBERY  VBEERY Y
AEBRERREARALENECRBRNERY
TERREBRER - BERH - YHEENRERE
KRE  (VEEERY  KELELRY WEE
B RBRE - B MREME o

C AEREELZERYBENT

Type of Waste Unit 2024 2023
BERYEE B 20245 2023F
Hazardous waste Tonnes 10,078.70 8,063.69
BERBEREY WA

Intensity Tonnes/revenue in million RMB 3.06 2.09
=E M, B & T AR

Non-hazardous waste Tonnes 72,206.53 71,620.82
BEEZEY U7

Intensity Tonnes/revenue in million RMB 21.93 18.60
=E M, B &t AR

The Group regularly identifies national and local laws, regulations,
standards, and policy requirements to ensure compliance. It has
established the “Hazardous Waste Management Regulations” ({fZ
REEEIEIRE) ), “ General Waste Management Regulations” ({—
AREEEYEIRIEE D)), “"Environmental Inspection and Monitoring
Management Regulations” (CGRIFERE - BEAIEEME)), and
related emergency response plans, which define the management
requirements and disposal measures for various types of waste.
An annual management plan is developed each year, specifying
the responsibilities, authority, and target objectives of relevant
personnel, strengthening supervision at each stage, and ensuring
implementation through routine inspections, evaluations, and
training. The Group is equipped with an advanced Distributed
Control System (DCS) for pollutant monitoring and dynamic
management, as well as a hazardous waste terminal weighing and
storage system to monitor waste generation in real time. The Group
has also set up a hazardous waste storage facility, where hazardous
waste is properly packaged, weighed, and recorded in accordance
with relevant regulations. All hazardous and non-hazardous waste
leaving the premises is entrusted to qualified third-party service
providers for compliant disposal. Reduce waste generation by using
eco-friendly, high-quality materials such as water-based paints,
recyclable refractories, etc. The Group also continued to explore the
potential of waste recycling, realizing the self-recycling of refining
slag and cutting waste residues as production raw materials, and
outsourcing external institutions or suppliers for recycling of dust
removal ash and waste refractory materials.

REETEHHPIBR R TERER - FEREK
REF - WEHIE(EREMEERT)  (—K
BEEMEERE) CGRERE - EAEERE)
KIARESTER - PAESEERYNEIEZ KM
BREREN - BFEHNEFEEEAE - ARAER
BEAHEE  BEER  BCIREAEE - WiBB
FRAETRE B BINIEEREE - K
SERCHEARENDCSTRMERMEEETR
B BRELKHEEABRRS - RSEERIARE
BEMELER  REALBRERVMAE - &EHA
RMEMIEREREMNITE  BEMNBAEE
i HERBEEBNAEENEEERMHRRAF =
FEEEMEMATAREEXEKEFRA &
BEMRRE - BEMH - KR - TR X
M#E  REBREVEL - ARETSERRRE
EMOHIRE S - BRBRE - YIHIEEESE
REEFRMBTEWMA - FREKX - BEEM AN
B ED R BB RE R EREET A -
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Wastewater Management

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations in
its operating locations and places great emphasis on wastewater
discharge management. The Group has formulated the “Wastewater
Management Regulations” ({EE/KEIEHTE) ), focusing on key areas
such as source reduction, process optimization, and wastewater
treatment. During the Reporting Period, we actively upgraded our
circulating water system management and introduced advanced
water treatment technologies, effectively reducing wastewater

BKREHE
AEERBETELMEMAENERER =
EERBEKFHNERTIE - BIE T(EKEERR
B REREE - T2E(E - BKEEFRD
EFEE - RESR - RAEBREKERRSAE
TTERTTAR - SEREKEIRRM - BRI
IKEETAE -

discharge.
Type of Emission unit 2024 2023
P m R B 2024 20234
Sewage discharge m?3 670.74 3,219.52
BEIKHERL SR

Sewage discharge in the past 3 years (m?)

T =F KB E (ALT5°K)
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Use of Resources

The Group fully recognizes the finite nature of natural resources
and is committed to conserving resources and enhancing their
utilization efficiency. The Group is dedicated to improving resource
efficiency and adheres to an energy management policy focused on
clean production, energy conservation, low-carbon development,
and continuous improvement. The Group has established Internal
management systems, including the Energy Management Control
Procedure (CBEREIBIZEHIFZ)) and Energy Review Control
Procedure ({BEIRFFEIZEHITEZ) ), which are designed to identify,
plan, and manage operations and maintenance activities related to
key energy usage, ensuring the effective management of energy
consumption in production processes, facilities, and equipment.

Energy

The Group is committed to reducing energy consumption,
optimizing the use of electricity and natural gas, and continuously
advancing energy-saving technological upgrades and breakthroughs
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. During the Reporting Period,
the Group actively identified and implemented technologies from
the “National Key Energy-Saving and Carbon Reduction Technology
Promotion Catalog” ((BZREZHEIREMEARIITIEE B ) ). The
Group introduced high-efficiency motors, water pumps, and air
compressors, gradually phasing out energy-intensive equipment to
achieve upgrades and modernization. The Group applied advanced
energy-saving and carbon-reduction technologies, as well as waste
heat recovery technologies, and adopted refined management
practices to address leaks and inefficiencies, effectively reducing
energy consumption and improving energy efficiency. Key energy-
saving retrofit projects completed during the Reporting Period
include hydraulic station upgrades in the electric furnace, pipe billet,
and finishing line areas, dust removal system frequency conversion
upgrades, dryer energy efficiency improvements, and heat
treatment production line upgrades. Additionally, the Group actively
introduced a Just-in-Time (JIT) intelligent production management
system, further optimizing energy use. At the same time, the Group
continued to enhance its circulating water system management to
improve water efficiency.

BRIE - HENERRS
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Case Study: Dust Removal System Frequency Conversion Upgrade in the Pipe Manufacturing
Division

RO HED MBREBIER GBS

During the Reporting Period, the Group carried out a comprehensive upgrade of the existing hot rolling dust removal
system, including the installation of a new frequency converter control room equipped with a high-voltage frequency
converter. This upgrade enables remote control for start-up, shutdown, emergency stop, and frequency adjustment.
With the automated operation of the frequency converter, the motor can achieve optimal energy-saving performance.
Following the upgrade, the project achieved an energy savings rate of 78%.

HELRE - AEEHRENBIRERGET T REITR - IR ARG B REMNBPIES - ABHRER
ZHEE B R RIBRREEFIRIE - BBRARN A EETHRES  BERKEMHERR - BAKER
ERRERRIET8%

Case Study: Dryer Energy-Saving Retrofit

RO FRBE RS

During the Reporting Period, the Group optimized the compressed air dryer equipment through technological
upgrades. The traditional exhaust drying process was upgraded to a zero gas consumption micro-heat adsorption
dryer. The system continuously monitors key parameters, such as the dew point of the adsorption tower and the
temperatures of hot and cold blowing, and automatically stops the heater and blower when these parameters reach
predefined values. This upgrade resolves the issues of high energy consumption and gas usage associated with
traditional micro-heat regenerative adsorption dryers. At the same time, it more stably maintains the pressure in the
compressed air network, improves the operational efficiency of the air compressor, and further reduces electricity
consumption.

HEME - AEEHH=EBERZRREETENEL  BERERNIIREZETEAR ST RAMARMARZ
B - B EDRIRF R TR R AR, - RREDREFMR2 Y - AREEDREER A 8 BT LA EE
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Case Study: Energy-Saving Retrofit of Multiple Hydraulic Stations
=0 ZIERBILE RS

During the Reporting Period, the Group benchmarked against advanced energy-saving technologies in the industry
and conducted comprehensive optimization and upgrades of several hydraulic stations in core production areas. By
introducing an intelligent software control system, servo energy-saving technology, and high-efficiency hardware
equipment, the Group effectively reduced electrical energy waste. According to electricity consumption monitoring

-

LB HI R AT - RIARED A HIT &
BRZES2%  SRERRAE -

Bih - BHIBERED

emmm—

data, the retrofit resulted in a 52% overall electricity savings rate, demonstrating significant energy-saving effects.

WEHRE - AEEHERTELEHRERN  HROEERSNZEARBHETEERLAR - BBSIAER
=REE RE - RIBEAEENBBRETR - ERNESH

Given the nature of our business, the Group’s primary resource
consumption comes from purchased electricity, natural gas as
the main fuel, and vehicle fuel, with no involvement in packaging
materials. To further enhance energy efficiency and strengthen
accountability, we are gradually quantifying energy intensity target
data. During the Reporting Period, our preliminary energy intensity
target? for 2025 is 0.31 GWh/revenue in million RMB, and the
energy consumption data are as follows:

ENEBHE  AEBNETBERERREINE
B URARRATBREME RERRKH - A
THERBEYE o BE—PRASRERBEE -
LB - BRPZFSELEREEBZEE - |
SHR - RIS HIERI2025F R ZE B 122
RO3NTHEE BETAREIRE - LRSS
BT

Type of Energy Unit 2024 2023
BEREE By 2024F 2023F
Indirect energy
EERER
Purchased electricity GWh 476.94 470.95
SNEBE ) &= R
Direct energy
HiERR
Natural gas GWh 499.58 488.29
RAR HIELE
Gasoline GWh 0.40 0.41
U & RAF
Diesel fuel GWh 1.08 1.4
e i
Liquefied petroleum gas GWh 0.00 0.03
BAL AR, =
Total energy consumption GWh 978.00 961.08
BEFUR B4 T SR
Intensity GWh/revenue in million RMB 0.30 0.25
7E =EEBETARE NG

2 In 2025, the Company’s high-end oil drilling and energy equipment tubing
production project will commence operations, leading to an increase in the
Group's total energy consumption. As a result, the 2025 target value is expected
to be higher than the actual consumption in 2024.

2 2025%F © ARlmin A mEBREREREEREEEER B
WABEE  EEERERESESIEIN - EHIt2025F 8
IZEL2024FERERS °
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Water Use y::5/4
The Group adheres to the principle of water conservation by ANREBEFRIFEHLAKFRE] BB ENE - K

implementing equipment upgrades, sewage reuse, and optimizing
irrigation practices in both the plant and office areas to achieve
cost savings and reduce water consumption. At the same time, we

actively conduct employee training on water resource management — PAEIZI/KE R o
to enhance overall awareness of water conservation and improve the

efficiency of water usage, thereby contributing to the conservation

of water resources.

L emmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmsmmmeemmmmmm——————

Case Study: Water Recycling System Management Upgrade
=0 KERAGEEAR

During the Reporting Period, the Company developed an annual water-saving plan, thoroughly reviewing the water
balance of the industrial water recycling system and analyzing changes in water consumption and water quality
indicators across production lines. Focusing on the removal of chloride ions, the Company initiated an upgrade of the
water recycling system, introducing advanced sewage filtration and oil removal technologies, as well as membrane
separation equipment to achieve deep sewage treatment. The system undergoes regular cleaning and maintenance,
with precise dosing of disinfectants. The network layout has also been optimized to ensure interconnected piping
across production lines. In conjunction with graded water quality management, the upgraded system now enables
turbidity replacement for water replenishment, concentrated filtration for waste discharge, oil removal treatment, and
the recycling of high-salinity wastewater through de-salting and de-chlorination. As a result, the water recycling system
has achieved an annual wastewater reuse volume of approximately 240,000 cubic meters, effectively enhancing water
resource utilization efficiency.

WEHRE - ARGE T FEEKTE > 2EMETEKBRAGHRKEFE - WAHNTERA/KEEKERERN
Bl - [ EHRERT /%L - RE) TRKERESIR - sBERENBE/KBRE RN MEOBERE - BIE
IKRERE  EHEAHERS  BRRIGREEE  BLERRR EQRNEREBER - BAKEIRE
B RTREGE  KERESEERBREBRMK  REBREDS - BhEENS EEREKGER R ERA
A FEREEKL248I 77K - BREFIKERFARE -

Case Study: Energy Retrofit for Irrigation System in Green Areas
=6 : cEBARENGE

To improve water efficiency in irrigation for green areas, the Group installed isolation valves to separate the irrigation
pipelines of the office and living areas from those of the production plant. This allowed for targeted irrigation,
effectively reducing underground pipeline leakage issues caused by excessive water usage for landscaping.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has not encountered any
problems in sourcing water resources that are fit for its purposes.
Our water consumption is as follows:

RIS HEMERHRS

RIS - AEEERBERKAELARBE
FMEE - FREWT -

Water Consumption Unit 2024 20233
FEKE B 20245 202343
Total water consumption m?3 726,204.00 739,716.39
BFEKE SR

Intensity m>3/revenue in million RMB 220.58 192.13
=E SHAK S BETARE R

Water Consumption in the past 3 years (m?)
IM=FF#KE (ZFK)
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Green Office

The Group actively integrates the concept of green and sustainable
development into daily office operations. Through various activities
such as special events, training sessions, promotional posts, and
signing the Energy Saving Charter organized by The Environment
and Ecology Bureau of The HKSAR Government of the PRC, we
communicate the green and low-carbon principles and requirements
to all employees. We aim to embed the “green and low-carbon
culture” into daily production and business operations, encouraging
all employees to embrace a low-carbon lifestyle. This initiative
promotes the internalization of green office practices and green
living into the hearts of employees, inspiring them to take practical
actions toward sustainability.

3 To enhance the consistency and comparability of the data, the total water
consumption data for 2023 has been relisted based on actual circumstances,
including the domestic water usage for the office building and dormitory building.
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The Company advocates for the use of natural light, encouraging employees to avoid turning on lights during
the day or leaving them on for extended periods. The lighting in the office and living areas, as well as the air
Office power conditioning in summer, are automatically adjusted based on seasonal and weather changes, with manual
management intervention when necessary. This system is designed to maximize employee comfort while minimizing energy
WAREERE consumption.

RENEBMBE AN LA RABEIREHERE RAEERNRAREMEZTZER BREFHMAAELEBFHE -
‘e ANITFE - UsAREEREEIH R ERERE

Water conservation signs are posted in the office areas to remind employees to save water. A thorough
Office water inspection of water usage in the office areas has been conducted, and valves with individual controls have
management been installed to enable detailed management, helping to avoid leaks, drips, or wastage.

N =
HRAKER EPRRIGRAEEL KRS - IRES TEAMK SR ARZERIGETHS - B IMREPIEEES - BT
BRERHR

The Company encourages the use of electronic document management and promotes practices such as
double-sided printing or copying. For meetings and related training sessions, online platforms are used to
distribute and read digital versions of internal publications, thereby reducing paper consumption. At the same
time, to minimize the use of disposable paper cups, during the Reporting Period, the Group replaced
disposable paper cups for visitor receptions with reusable ceramic cups, which are equipped with UV and
high-temperature disinfection systems, further reducing the consumption of single-use items.
SEETEFXMHER  SERAEEITHNREN IR - SRSZLAERENSE - BBRELT A HEEMBES FiRA
T - SRMERIEFE - B - BRD—RIEEMER - REDPE - REEG RGP EFN KA AR EEFBNE
H - EEBEIMEREREE - BE R RIERE o

Office paper
management

MARRER

The Group will continue to monitor resource usage to assess the ~ ANEEEEEHETDFEREANER - IWEXRK
effectiveness of conservation measures and establish more targeted & 5785 40FEHEA AN - AR ET 7 B B St ¥ M Ak =
improvement actions and goals in the future. EHEFIEAE o
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has developed a full-scrap electric arc furnace (EAF)
smelting process, utilizing renewable scrap steel as the primary raw
material, which offers significant emission reduction advantages.
We strictly comply with the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({##E AR FMBEIRIRREE)), the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Appraising of Environment
Impacts ((FZEARKEMBEREFZETEL)), Emergency
Response Law of the People’s Republic of China ({ZRZIRIEE
FEZEIBHEE) ) and other relevant regulations. To strengthen
environmental governance, we have established multiple specialized
management policies, including”Onsite environmental management
implementation plan” ((GREREEIEHE)), “Discharge Permit
Management Regulations” ({BE/SEFRIEIERT) ), “Greenhouse
Gas Management Regulations” (CEEREZHERTE)),
Environmental “Operation Control Program” ({(GRIZEITIEH|I2
.)), and “Emergency Environmental Emergency Response Plan”
((E3IRIEEZTFEZ) . Upholding the environmental management
principle of “pollution prevention, compliant emissions, legal
compliance, and continuous improvement,” we are committed to
enhancing our environmental and energy management systems.

Currently, all major production facilities of the Group have obtained
ISO 14001 Environmental Management System and ISO 50001
Energy Management System certifications, achieving 100%
certification coverage. Additionally, the Company has passed the
Cleaner Production Audit conducted by the Hebei Academy of
Ecological and Environmental Sciences and has been recognized
as a national-level Green Factory by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology (MIIT).

RIS HEMERHRS
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To ensure the effective implementation of our environmental and
energy management systems, we have engaged professional teams
to conduct regular monitoring of wastewater, air emissions, noise
levels, and other environmental impact factors. We actively identify
and mitigate environmental risks, conduct periodic assessments of
soil and air quality, and perform company-wide internal audits of
the environmental management system annually. Furthermore, we
enlist third-party experts to conduct external audits, continuously
reviewing and assessing environmental impacts and resource usage
risks associated with our business operations. During the Reporting
Period, we carried out 73 environmental risk inspections, identifying
and rectifying 343 environmental issues. In the field of renewable
energy, we are actively promoting the use of clean energy and
participating in green electricity trading. By supporting new energy
customers, we demonstrate our firm commitment to the nation’s
green energy transition through concrete actions.

RERRRREREEERNBRETMEM -
BMZEEXEFERFHRANIEK - BER - B
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Case Study: Employee Environmental Education
P BETRRYE

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted six diverse environmental education initiatives for all employees.
These included activities such as the Dalipal Carbon Reduction Day Special Action — Today’s Interview and Earth Day
Awareness Campaign. These initiatives aimed to deepen employees’ understanding of low-carbon practices in their
daily work and lives while encouraging them to consistently adopt sustainable actions, thereby strengthening the
Company’s culture of sustainability.

BEHE AEEEREEE THRETORSKIENRERERFEY - WIENERBKBFTE -5 AR
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Biodiversity Conservation

The Group recognizes that protecting the environment and natural
resources is a critical responsibility for businesses worldwide. We
actively safeguard the ecological environment throughout our
operations to ensure sustainable development for future generations.
We are committed to complying with biodiversity conservation laws
and regulations, including the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China (AR ZMBEIRIZREE)), the
Wetland Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#ZE A

HABZHIREE) ), the Forest Law of the People’s Republic of
Chlna (e AR FEFIBEZMIE) ), and the Regulations on Nature

Reserves of the People’s Republic of China ({F A R HEFE & AR
[ 4151) ). Additionally, we adhere to management regulations for
ecologically sensitive areas, ensuring that project site selection avoids
ecological red lines, nature reserves, and specially protected areas.
This approach helps protect endangered species and wild flora and
fauna.

RIS HEMERHRS
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We have also developed a “Biodiversity Conservation Policy” ( {4
Y ZEMERFEEE) ), which has been publicly disclosed on our
official website. The policy stipulates that before commencing
any project, we conduct environmental impact assessments in
accordance with legal requirements to evaluate the project’s
impact on biodiversity and local communities. Construction only
begins after obtaining approval for the assessment. Upon project
completion, we promptly restore surface vegetation and soil to
minimize soil erosion and minimize habitat disturbance on affected
land. Additionally, we regularly engage professional teams to assess
natural resources such as soil and air, ensuring the balance, integrity,
and stability of ecosystems. We actively implement measures
to control soil and water erosion and prevent deforestation.
Furthermore, we collaborate with various stakeholders to participate
in biodiversity conservation initiatives, afforestation projects, and
other public welfare programs. Within our facilities, we implement
greening measures to reduce land exposure time. We expect our
suppliers and partners to strictly adhere to biodiversity conservation
measures, actively promote biodiversity protection, and minimize the
environmental impact of their operations.
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Case Study: Tree Planting Activity
=0 ERER

assets.”

TBaHEN  BikzlE]l - B2024%F38128
T8 TRAERTHEG RGOS

Seizing the vitality of spring, we plant the seeds of a greener future. On March 12, 2024, our company’s labor union,
in collaboration with the Bohai New Area Party and Mass Work Department, organized a special event to celebrate
Arbor Day. Through hands-on participation, Dalipal employees actively contributed to green development, reinforcing
our commitment to environmental protection and the principle that “lucid waters and lush mountains are invaluable
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Combating Climate Change

Globally, climate change is intensifying, and extreme weather
events are becoming more frequent, posing significant risks and
uncertainties to business operations. At the 75th United Nations
General Assembly, China proposed its “Dual Carbon Goals,”
committing to peak carbon emissions before 2030 and achieve
carbon neutrality by 2060. During the Reporting Period, the Group
actively responded to this national initiative by introducing the the
“Carbon Peak and Carbon Reduction Implementation Plan” (i
EIE N IER BT ZE) , replacing the previous “Carbon Reduction
Action Plan” (ORI TENE jEJ5 2<) ), and making a concerted effort
to drive low-carbon development.

Governance

The Group’s ESG Committee and ESG Working Group regularly
discuss ESG matters, assess climate-related risks and opportunities,
and submit reports to the Board to ensure that climate-related
issues are integrated into the Group's strategic planning. To keep
the Board informed of the latest climate developments, the Group
actively organizes relevant training sessions aimed at enhancing
directors’ expertise and skill levels, enabling them to effectively
oversee climate-related affairs. When necessary, the Board also
considers engaging professional consultants to obtain expert
advice and improve the quality of decision-making. Furthermore, to
reinforce the importance of climate-related matters, the Company
has incorporated climate action indicators into the KPIs of directors
and management. This incentivizes them to actively fulfill their
responsibilities in addressing climate change and ensures the
Group's steady progress toward sustainable development.

Strategy

In alignment with the guiding principles of the 19th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China and subsequent
plenary sessions, as well as Xi Jinping’s Thought on Ecological
Civilization, the Group actively embraces the concept of low-carbon
development. The goals of carbon peaking and carbon neutrality
have been incorporated into the Group’s “2023-2027 Five-Year
Plan”. With a focus on comprehensive green transformation and
low-carbon energy development, the Group leverages technological
and institutional innovation to drive high-quality growth. By
emphasizing intelligence, informatization, digitalization, and
sustainability, we are committed to building an efficient, low-energy,
and low-emission smart manufacturing facility for petroleum pipes.
This initiative aims to enhance industry-wide digital management
and operational efficiency while actively contributing to the national
carbon peaking and carbon neutrality goals.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group launched the “Carbon Peak  ¥z+5 HAfE - ANEE# L THZER MERE R
and Carbon Reduction Implementation Plan” ({FiZEIE MM EM ROV AEBMEEE U TATENTEEE
77%2)) and disclosed it on its official website. The key action goals

are as follows:

1. Strengthening Top-Level Planning — The Company has established an efficient and collaborative
management system, with oversight from the Board and the ESG Committee, while the ESG Working Group
ensures effective implementation. The Company continuously optimizes its carbon emissions management
framework, integrating green and low-carbon development strategies into all aspects of production and
operations to drive meaningful carbon reduction actions.

BEEERF—LAERTRRGRNIEEERR  HEFE  ESGEESHFAEH ' ESGTE/ MR
BE o HEBLRPREEREKY  SREERERBBME S ERRMALELERRE - HEBRMTE R
HWERE o

2. Advancing Green and Low-Carbon Product Development — The Company collaborates with upstream
suppliers to promote the adoption and application of green and low-carbon materials. In response to customer
demands, it increases investment in developing environmentally friendly products with high strength, high
toughness, corrosion resistance, temperature resilience, long lifespans, and resource efficiency. Additionally,
it actively pursues green product and carbon footprint certifications to enhance market competitiveness and
customer trust.

MARFEEEERTRE - ARIHR LirftERE  KREDSCEBRMESIENER  BEEFPEXR - X
HERE =P8 WES  MEAREERREGER  SHRHEM SR ERRERNHAERA - ITER
BRFEER  BEFARGEERRREERELE BRAEMTSHRNINELEEE -

3. Improving Energy Efficiency — The Company aligns with “Guidelines on Energy Efficiency for Key Energy-

Consuming Products and Equipment” ({ & 2k /3 RE 2= (o &R 1 AL SR #E K 2 « B e 7K ZEAD & A K ZE)) and
accelerates the upgrade of energy-consuming equipment. It introduces advanced energy-saving technologies,
such as electric furnace waste heat power generation, continuous scrap preheating, Amiba residual steel
monitoring, hydraulic servo energy-saving systems, full-oxygen combustion, and just-in-time electric furnace
operations, to enhance overall energy efficiency. Additionally, it promotes waste energy utilization projects to
maximize energy conversion and achieve collaborative carbon reduction.
RABRKT — B EHAREEmR BRI ENRT - EHREKFAEAKTIEM - IRAREREE N
THE - ER SIMEAE SRR RN - INBIEAAR B E RN  FEIEE RO TREEN - FORE SR SRR - R
ERRIARETREFRMT - R2AMRERN - BHEERMLRMTSE - ARUIRE AR BEAENUKT : HEEIRREERI B UE
FOEIELIREIATNGE - BRI FIRAR

4. Enhancing Smart Management — By integrating next-generation industrial internet technologies, the
Company deeply incorporates 5G, loT, cloud computing, big data, and Al into its manufacturing processes.
It aims to achieve customized, flexible, and green manufacturing by developing “dark factories” with
fully automated production lines, digital twin factories, and green factories, thereby strengthening overall
competitiveness and core capabilities.

RAZECETEKRF - BEF KR ITETBBRN - RERESSG - WEHE - T5tHE - KRBE - ALS#S
AIERHR - BREGIE - ML e RE  TERRIH  BFELETHRAGETIR - 2EHEGRE
RERFNFIZOIRET] »

5. Expanding Green Energy Development — The Company invests in clean energy infrastructure, including
solar and wind power, and actively participates in green energy trading. It optimizes transportation methods
for key materials based on local conditions, increasing the proportion of clean transportation.
BRESEEE-—MEANR  REZBERERER  BR2EGEARERS  BAttlE - BLEENEEH
AR REBRERLL o

6. Promoting Integrated Pollution and Carbon Reduction Management — Building on its electric arc
furnace short-process steelmaking using 100% scrap steel, the Company steadily advances ultra-low
emissions initiatives. It actively explores and promotes comprehensive utilization of solid waste, enhancing
the recycling of scrap steel and steel slag to support a circular economy. Furthermore, it conducts carbon
audits and clean production assessments while closely monitoring the research and application of low-carbon
smelting and carbon capture technologies.
fRERSS BB EAE — 2 EMEER MM ER - BPEEBEIENTIE  BRRER - HEE
FEARENA - RIS - HESEERNBUNE - HBBRLHEEE  RAFRRBRIIZE B REEEZ
T - BEREHHERURLR - ISR SR e BRI EER -
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B HRAEARE

The Group actively promotes carbon footprint certification for K’ﬁlﬁfﬁﬁ‘ EmARNIRETHRE BN
its product specifications and has obtained seven certification B7HREEE @ UWHESEREGFAHRRTE
greenhouse gas emissions EEE@Am:tﬁiﬁEHFE&sE$atf C BEFER B & 8k
bling us to quantify and  HFpRIER - BB FIREUREHEIE - RARER

certificates. These certifications measure
throughout the product lifecycle, ena

monitor our carbon footprint while implementing targeted emission

reduction measures to minimize environ

image and market competitiveness.

SERYBHNEE

T - HESME "TAPI

mental impact. During the  5CTRSLERIIHEEERES ZCEMRERZ
Reporting Period, the Company’s API 5CT and 5L series oil casing £ ] BEIR T R AIAR ISR EEE « fELERE
products were awarded the Green Product Certification, reflecting — BBIEBHIES - i —FIRIT AR RS MNTISE
our commitment to green development and environmental /-
protection. This achievement further enhances the Company’s brand
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Risk Management BB EE
After discussions by the Board and management, the identified KEZ=ESNEEEWE @ AFEEDHAIBRE
climate-related risks and opportunities for this year are as follows: TR EES TS -
Climate-related Risks Potential financial impact
SRR RS BEMBETE
Physical Risk
BERER
Global climate change has led to an increase in extreme weather events, e Damage to facilities and supply chain
such as hurricanes, floods, and heatwaves. These disasters may cause instability lead to increased capital
damage to production equipment, increase downtime, and affect supply expenditures

chain stability, resulting in fluctuations in raw material procurement costs.

IR E TR R RIEE - R - HOKM SRS K E R ERE RiEEE  HEBTREERELRX
EREXE  EIREIGN : At G EHEREIBTEM - SEURMBER epeyill

BRI AR ED

Transition risk

B

The Chinese government has introduced a series of policies related to e The high cost of compliance increases
dual control of carbon emissions, carbon trading, and the accuracy of the operating cost

carbon emission data. If companies fail to implement relevant measures or

disclose necessary information in a timely manner, they may be held legally

accountable. Additionally, the EU’s Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism

(CBAM) imposes carbon cost pressures.

The Stock Exchange has updated its climate-related disclosure requirements e  Increased the cost of compliance

in line with IFRS S2 (Climate-related Disclosures), which will be implemented Failure to comply with disclosure

in 2025. requirements will result in damage to
goodwill

BRI AR S @R AIE N

IR S ) A BB ~ KR 5 - BREFBUR R0 R SRR K
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Climate-related Opportunities Potential Financial Impact
KIFEERS BEVBEE
External stakeholders (such as regulatory authorities, investors, and e Enhanced corporate brand image

customers) are increasingly focused on ESG. The Company actively
researches relevant policies to enhance its responsiveness and social
responsibility.

HNEDRE D B (BB - REENET P )HESGUERT - ARERMAR « REARIMEER

MHEBCR - RIS MEeEERS -

In response to the growing customer demand for green and low-carbon e Increased revenue through the
products, the company is proactively taking action by conducting product development of green products
carbon footprint assessments, obtaining green product certifications, and e Enhance the company’s
developing new products. These efforts create new opportunities for the competitiveness

company’s green transition and product portfolio transformation.

EHEFH&E  ERERFTRNEM  ARERES  FREERKE « BEMESEEMGINKRA

B SEERRE  MTERMELIE RARGEEL  EnEBEL o« ESAFARFEN

TR T HHE

The Company implements energy efficiency improvements, resource e Reduced operating costs
recycling, and the use of renewable energy to achieve energy savings and
carbon reduction.

FRAERIRTT - ERERMNA - AT BARRSEITIE  BREMEEREIR - o BREELHA
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Social Aspects

Employment

Corporate Culture and Talent Philosophy — Knowing people and
making good use of them, appointing people only by virtue,  [R¥8 : BKFEAA ©
introducing talents from outside to inside, and achieving talents.

HEEE
2%

EEMEZATB-AAZA  EAKE - Hh5]

Knowing people
and making
good use of
them

HMAER

We give tolerance for
our employees’ faults,
allowing mistakes
during exploration and
innovation. We do not
easily give up on any
employee.

RIEHS - AFFERR
AT A KRR - TR
ZMEEA—FRET ©

\

Appointing
people only by
virtue

EAMEE

We treasure not only
an employee’s ability
and virtue but also
their achievements. We
believe talents are able
to perform duty at any
working level and
capable to work at
different types of job
positions. We
continuously build
channels and platforms
for talent growth, so as
to focus on the career
development for our
employee.

T EHEE - TEEX
B BRI RE ¥
BE M BREEHEEE
BET - ABgEEREL
BRETIRKBE - K
T¥E  BTEIRE
DERG -

~\

Introducing
talents from
outside to
inside

FA] A E

Promotions are
standardized,
appointment with a
basis and the virtuous
of relatives are not
avoided. We persist to
perform assessment
before public
recruitment, on-going
evaluation during
employment, and
comprehensive
actualization after
termination of
employment.
BEFEEE - ERERK
15 BB B
FARILRE - AREE -
FRfgiRE R o

Achieving
talents

FFRATF

On-site learning and
talent promotion are
beneficial to cultivating
and training employees
who act accordingly
with the Company
culture and gain
experience in multiple
positions, so as to
uphold a mindset to
put themselves in the
customers’ shoes.
IS8R - BEEN:
AR EENRKRE
WEEITRRXE - &E
ZRARERY) - LRI
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“A business thrives with its people and ceases without them.”
Employees are the foundation of a company’s steady growth. To
continuously attract and retain top talent, the Group is committed
to creating a fair, safe, and comfortable working environment. We
aim to build a core team and key personnel who deeply identify
with and actively uphold the company’s culture, recognizing them as
essential to the future development of the business.

To ensure employees receive proper protection, the Group strictly
adheres to employment-related laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({(FPEFEARKFEL L) the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({fhZEARKEMBLE S EE),
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Persons with Disabled Persons ({1 #E AR FEMEIER AMREE) ,
the Law on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests of the
People’s Republic of China ({F# AR EMBIFELZETREE)),
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) (&/#&ABIE57E CEIBIEGI) ),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282) (&8 /Af155282
Z (lREMEENH)), and the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485) (B8 A5 4855 CGaHIIERNTED 5TEIER) ).
The Group has established effective employment policies such as
the “Human Resources Management Control Procedure” ((AIE
TREIEIEHIT250) ) and “Performance Management System” ({#&
MEFEHIZ) ). During the Reporting Period, The Group was not
aware of any significant violations of laws and regulations related to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other treatment and welfare that have a significant impact on
the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,795 employees
(2023: 1,658), all of whom were full-time employees.

RIS HEMERHRS
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By Gender By Geographical Region By Age Group
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover rate A EEIR  AEEREES % <B13% ' BB
was 13%, and the breakdown of employee turnover are as follow: R R&Tﬂ%ﬁﬁ‘]iﬂ’ﬁﬁ
By Geographical Region By Gender By Age Group
RiLEE D RIERIE 5 RERERE D
Mainland China Male 18-30
13% 13% . 20%
R B Pubty -] ° 1830 °
Hong Kong Female 31-40
. 0% 129 . 13%
e N ® 3140 °
41-
5042 6%
41-505%
51 or above
. 5%
S1REIA E °
Equal opportunities and diversity FERERZTIE

The Group upholds the principles of equality and fairness. As
outlined in the “Code of Business Conduct” ({{PZ1T A%
811)), the Group strictly opposes any form of discrimination or
harassment, including but not limited to discrimination based on
race, gender, age, religion, disability, and any physical or verbal
harassment, such as sexual harassment. We are committed to
providing equal opportunities for all employees, fostering a fair,
inclusive, and harmonious workplace, and promoting a diverse and
well-balanced talent pool to maximize employees’ potential. By
actively implementing diversity initiatives, our workforce consists of
employees from various ethnic backgrounds, regions, age groups,
and educational levels, ensuring an inclusive and diverse talent
structure. This approach not only enhances workplace equity but
also contributes to the Group’s long-term sustainable development.

The Group attaches great importance to the career development
and rights of female employees, and ensures that promotion
opportunities are not affected by gender. Female employees will
not be dismissed or terminated from their employment contracts
without cause due to pregnancy, maternity leave, breastfeeding,
etc., and their right to basic salary is guaranteed.
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Talent Acquisition and Retention

The Group has established a comprehensive talent recruitment and
retention management system. It has formulated policies such as
the “Measures for Allocation of Human Resources Flow” ({A1E
TERBECE BIEWHE) ), the “Specifications for the Management of
Labour Contract Management” ({484 RIEIETE/RED)), “Rules
for the Management of Work Injury Insurance and Safety Production
Liability Insurance” ((LEBEREBELZZEERETREEEEEA
81J)), and “Detailed Rules for the Handling of Labour Disputes” ( (%5
B)FREIETEMEAI) ). These policies are designed to create a fair
and structured working environment for employees while supporting
the Group’s long-term development.

In employee recruitment, we continuously optimize our hiring
mechanisms. During the Reporting Period, the Group, considering
future production line adjustments and other factors, organized
recruitment specialists to conduct industry benchmarking, perform
in-depth field research at production sites, and strengthen
communication. This allowed for a precise assessment of staffing
needs and the development of a well-structured recruitment
plan. We meticulously refined job qualification requirements
and optimized talent profiles to enhance recruitment accuracy
and improve job-person fit. Additionally, we actively expanded
recruitment channels, including the “Dalipal HR” public account,
Baidu Tieba, 51job, and Liepin. During the reporting period,
we also launched an internal referral program, through which
employees recommended over 90 candidates. Furthermore, we
strengthened school-enterprise collaboration by organizing on-site
campus recruitment events and establishing internship bases. These
initiatives improved talent selection quality while providing students
with internship opportunities to enhance their practical skills.
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Prevention of Child Labor and Forced Labor

The Group is fully committed to respecting and safeguarding
employee rights, firmly prohibiting all forms of child labor and forced
labor. We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, such as
the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({ZZ1-{#
FETTE)), and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors ({HZE AR FEMEIRKF AIRZEZE) ). During
the recruitment process, we utilize an online human resources
system to automatically filter and reject applicants under the age
of 18. We also thoroughly verify their identification documents
to prevent the employment of individuals who do not meet the
national minimum employment age. Furthermore, the Company
ensures the proper retention of employee labor contracts and other
records, establishing comprehensive employee profiles to guarantee
the protection of employee rights.

In the event that the Group identifies any violations related to the
employment of child labor or forced labor, a detailed investigation
will be initiated in accordance with the Company’s internal policies.
Based on the investigation findings, appropriate disciplinary actions
will be taken, or a decision will be made not to impose penalties.
The relevant statutory authorities will be informed and provided with
verified details of the situation. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has not encountered any incidents of child labor or forced
labor.
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Case Study: University-Industry Collaboration and Youth Talent Development

A RE|E - REFAAIFI

During the Reporting Period, the Group signed university-industry cooperation agreements with four universities to
conduct targeted training and collaborative education. Based on the characteristics of academic disciplines and regional
needs, we developed a tailored “University-Industry Collaboration and Integration of Education and Engineering”
talent development plan. Additionally, we actively explored the “University-Industry Integration” education model,
promoting deep integration of industry, academia, and research to jointly cultivate highly skilled professional and
technical talent.
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Case Study: On-Site Job Learning for Recruitment Specialists
RO AEEEEHRENUEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to optimize its talent recruitment process to improve job-person
compatibility. Recruitment specialists visited various plants each month to conduct on-site learning, gaining a deeper
understanding of job responsibilities, environmental requirements, necessary skills, and qualification criteria for each
position. After comprehensive analysis, they developed detailed job profiles for talent recruitment. This initiative not
only enhanced the accuracy of recruitment but also ensured that new employees could adapt more quickly to job

ALK THERR - REEXK - BEREREBEME -
HE - BRARAEE TREMERERTIERR -

requirements, further improving overall human resource management efficiency.
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Dismissal Policy

The Group strictly adheres to national labor laws and regulations
regarding employee termination and resignation, as well as the
relevant procedures outlined in employee contracts. Before formally
announcing an employee’s termination, we commit to providing
advance notice, allowing sufficient time, and clearly explaining
the reasons for the dismissal. Prior to the employee’s departure,
we conduct an exit interview and handle all handover matters to
ensure the protection of their legal rights. During the Reporting
Period, the Group established and optimized an employee departure
analysis mechanism, conducting systematic monthly analyses of
departure data and strictly implementing exit interviews. Through
group discussions, we thoroughly analyze the reasons for employee
turnover. Recruitment specialists participate throughout the
interview process to ensure comprehensive and accurate information
collection. Based on the analysis results, targeted improvement
measures are developed for each position, with continuous follow-
up to optimize the talent retention mechanism, enhance employee
satisfaction, and improve organizational stability.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group is committed to building harmonious employee
relations and strives to create a cooperative and growth-oriented
work environment where each employee receives full support and
motivation to realize their potential and self-worth. To achieve this,
we have established the “Salary Management System* (e
#HIE)) and “Employee Attendance Management Measures”

((ETEHEEPE)), clearly defining employees’ rights and
obligations regarding working hours, rest and leave, compensation,
and benefits. During the Reporting Period, we continued to improve
the Company’s compensation management system. We expanded
the scope of the university graduate subsidy, removing regional
restrictions, and optimized and adjusted the frontline subsidy. The
Group currently offers various forms of compensation, including
wages (including performance-related pay), bonuses, allowances,
and equity incentives, to inspire employee enthusiasm and creativity,
while ensuring the protection of employees’ legal rights.
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The Group is dedicated to enhancing employee well-being and
creating a healthy and harmonious work-life environment. We
strictly comply with local laws, regulations, and policies, providing
comprehensive labor protection for employees and continuously
improving these benefits. Employees are entitled to legal paid leave,
including marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave,
breastfeeding leave, and parental leave. To meet the work and
life needs of employees, we have introduced various amenities in
the company living area, including supermarkets, restaurants, and
other retail stores. We also offer accommodation for employees
(with optional couple units for employees whose spouses are
also part of the company) and provide free wireless internet and
dormitory supplies. Additionally, we have set up a package of
convenient services, including a courier station, an automatic water
dispenser, a mobile phone recharge station for utilities, and shared
washing machines, to continuously improve the living conditions for
employees and ensure their comfort and convenience.

Salary and Bonuses:
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Position Salary, Performance Bonus, Seniority Salary, Achievement and Performance Incentives, Management/

Technology Innovation Award

MATE  BEXITE  ARIE  EEERE B8/ RHREIE - RIESE

Various Types of Subsidies:

CECUEU

Frontline Subsidy, Educational Background Subsidy, High-Temperature Subsidy, Housing Purchase Subsidy, Meal

Subsidy, Travel Subsidy, Seniority and Other Subsidies

—ARTERL - BPIEME SRR - BEMA - W ZIRWEE - TIRSEEREREME

Various Types of Benefits:

ERRE -

Endowment Insurance, Medical Insurance, Unemployment Insurance, Work-related Injury Insurance, Maternity
Insurance, Housing Provident Fund, Health Examination Employee Canteen
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Case Study: Launching Shared Washing Machines to Enhance Employee Convenience

A ERAZHRRE > ERNETEF

During the Reporting Period, the Company introduced shared washing machines in the apartment buildings. With
their convenience and practicality, they have received widespread praise from employees! Each month, over 800
loads of laundry are washed, and the usage continues to rise. This initiative has truly brought ease and convenience to
employees’ lives!
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Employee Communication and Care

The Group has established a comprehensive trade union mechanism
that effectively serves as a “bridge and link” while also functioning
as a platform for education and communication. Through various
initiatives such as forums, tea gatherings, employee feedback
meetings, training sessions, collaborative service research, and
cafeteria satisfaction surveys, the Group organizes and mobilizes
all employees to exercise their democratic rights, participate in
corporate democratic management, and engage in democratic
supervision.

———
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Case Study: Coordination and Service Research

B : i E RIS T

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted quarterly
coordination and service surveys, optimized evaluation and
reward/punishment standards, and publicly shared survey results
with all employees to promote business unit coordination and
management improvement. Throughout the year, a total of
3,265 questionnaires were received, 78 improvement items
were compiled, and 7 positive and negative case studies of
coordination were extracted. Additionally, in conjunction with
Party building work, the company addressed employee concerns
regarding key tasks and weak links, promoting effective
improvements in coordination and service.
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Case Study: Employee Satisfaction Survey

Rp ETmEERASE

On December 14, 2024, the Group conducted an “Employee Satisfaction Survey” for all employees. The questionnaire,
based on the Gallup Q12 management model, focused on two main modules: employee engagement and team work
environment. It assessed 12 dimensions to understand employees’ work experiences, their level of satisfaction with the

company, and their expectations.
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The Group is committed to balancing employees’ work and personal
time, creating a positive, healthy, and caring work environment.
Through a variety of activities, health seminars, and one-on-one
psychological counseling, we provide timely support and care for
employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group organized
diverse activities, such as Lantern Festival celebrations, International
Women's Day tea parties, Children’s Day parent-child activities,
Mother’s Day celebrations, billiards tournaments, Qixi DLPers board
game sessions, and the anniversary factory celebration. These
initiatives aim to enhance employees’ sense of belonging and
strengthen team cohesion.

BRIE - HENERRS
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Case Study: Parent-Child Relationship Salon
=6 BTBERDEED

On May 23, 2024, the Group invited Feng Yu, a Master’'s degree holder in Psychological Counseling and Therapy
from Central China Normal University, to host a themed salon titled “Good Parents Start with Good Emotions.” The
session focused on common parent-child issues, analyzing their causes and sharing emotional management and
communication skills. This event aimed to help employees improve their parent-child relationships and promote a
better work-life balance.
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Case Study: Health Knowledge Lecture and Traditional Chinese Medicine Free Clinic

=5 RENSEERTESY

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s labor union organized a health knowledge lecture and free clinic
event. Senior experts from Cangzhou People’s Hospital were invited to provide professional health guidance and
medical consultations for employees. The experts delivered talks on gastrointestinal health maintenance, early cancer
prevention, and the potential health impacts of snoring and preventive measures. Additionally, three senior chief
physicians from the departments of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Gastroenterology, and Endocrinology set up a
free clinic area on-site, offering one-on-one medical consultation services to employees. After the event, participants
generally expressed that they gained valuable insights, not only expanding their health knowledge but also addressing
long-standing health issues.
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Case Study: Women’s Day Movie Screening & Manicure Event

P WLHBEREFED

In celebration of International Women’s Day, the company’s trade union organized a themed event, “Fiery Spring,
Passionate Life”, to honor and appreciate female employees. As part of the celebration, over 100 female employees
were invited to a special movie screening of the inspirational film “Hot and Spicy”. Additionally, to provide a moment
of relaxation amidst their busy schedules, the company arranged a complimentary manicure session with professional
nail artists. This thoughtful gesture allowed employees to unwind and enjoy a well-deserved break, enhancing their
overall well-being and workplace satisfaction.
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Health and Safety

The Group always prioritizes the safety and health of employees,
considering safety as the most important factor in daily operations.
We adhere to the safety production philosophy of “Safety First,
Prevention First, Full Employee Involvement, and Caring for Life,”
and strive to create a work environment that ensures employees’
well-being. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations, including the the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Work Safety ({(FPZEARKLMBEL 2 EEE)), the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Infectious Diseases ({H#E AR HEFMBEE LR /AE) ) and the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases ( {f#E A R HEFIR B 2R 7875 We have
established multiple safety management systems, including the “HSE
policy” ({HSEEAZ)) “Occupational health and safety operating
procedures” ((BEE[ELZ2EITIZRF)), “Safety production
responsibility system” ((ZB&LZ2EEFMEH)) and “Safety
Production Risk Control Management procedure” ({(ZZ“£ER K
EIRIRE)), continuously improving the company’s occupational
health and safety management system.

The Board bears full supervisory and leadership responsibility
for the Company’s safety production management. Meanwhile,
subsidiaries, in accordance with local legal requirements, establish
safety production committees to oversee the comprehensive
deployment of safety production work, promote safety culture and
standardization, develop employee safety responsibility assessment
standards, and establish and implement corresponding supervisory
and evaluation mechanisms. The Company’s primary responsible
person is the first accountable party for safety production and holds
overall responsibility for the work. Each functional department is
responsible for safety production within its scope of management.
In addition, the company includes safety production indicators in the
remuneration and performance evaluation systems of the Board and
management at all levels.

The Group has also passed ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System certification and HSE management
system certification, with a 100% system certification coverage.
During the Reporting Period, internal and third-party management
system audits were conducted to further ensure the systematic and
effective nature of safety production management.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any serious
violations of laws and regulations related to providing a safe work
environment and ensuring employees’ protection from occupational
hazards that significantly impacted the Group. Additionally, no major
safety incidents or fatalities occurred during operations involving
the company or contractors. During Reporting Period, workdays lost
due to industrial injuries totaled 1,008 days (2023: 471 days). The
statistical data for the past three years is as follows:

BRIE - HENERRS
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Statistical Indicators Unit 2024 2023 2022

BETER B 20245 2023F 2022F

Number of work-related person 0 0 0
fatalities (Including contractor) A

AITHAB(EEBE)

Work-related fatality rate percentage 0 0 0
(Including contractor) Bkt

AIT#HtE(EEBE)

Contractor Health and Safety Management ROBREHTZEER

The Group has developed the the “Stakeholder HSE Supervision
and Management Regulations” ({/HBITHSEEEBEIRHE) ),
which clearly define the safety qualification review requirements for
continuous business units, including various qualification certificates,
safety management systems, plans, and emergency response plans.
Additionally, during the Reporting Period, the Group developed
the "HSE Policy” ({HSEEX3R) ), which has been disclosed on the
official website. This policy requires contractors to comply with the
Company'’s health and safety management policies. Before entering
the factory premises, contractors must undergo company-level
and regional unit safety education, training, and emergency drills,
and sign the “Stakeholder Safety and Environmental Protection
Agreement” ((IHBEHLZE2IRFHBE) ) with the Company.
Furthermore, the Group regularly assesses and evaluates contractors
and conducts follow-up reviews of health and safety management-
related corrective actions throughout the year to ensure the effective
implementation of corrective measures. These efforts aim to
promote continuous improvement and enhance safety management
standards with contractors.
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Safety Management Assurance

The Group fully implements the safety production policies set by
the Party and the state, strictly enforcing the safety production
responsibility system for all employees. We clearly define the
responsibilities of each unit and employee, creating a safety
production framework where the main responsible person leads,
each department regulates according to the rules, and all employees
actively participate. This approach ensures the health and safety
of employees from all angles. During the Reporting Period,
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we continued to promote and optimize programs such as the
“Elementary Safety Inspection and Evaluation Program” ( (F[E
ZEREZTTHE)) and organized a series of “Safety Month”
activities. The specific details are as follows:

Emergency Management
EaEE

The Company has revised and filed its comprehensive emergency
response plan, incorporating 23 on-site emergency handling
procedures. Based on this, various units conducted nine emergency
response drills covering diverse scenarios, including flood prevention,
heatstroke, chemical leaks, confined space operations, and fire
incidents. An innovative training video, Emergency Response Drill for
Natural Gas Leaks, Fires, and Explosions, was produced to provide
employees with a more intuitive understanding of key aspects such as
safety precautions for gas leaks, accident reporting procedures, and
personnel evacuation.
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To maintain operational readiness, the Company’s micro fire brigade
undergoes annual practical and theoretical assessments. In June, the
Safety Management Department organized an evaluation for the
part-time emergency response team, with all 29 members successfully
passing the assessment.
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Inspection & Remediation
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The Company has developed the 2024 Risk Identification, Control,
and Hazard Inspection & Remediation Plan. Leveraging KYT
methodologies, all units conducted risk identification exercises,
compiling risk identification lists for specific job roles and updating
risk distribution maps and risk bulletin boards.
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To enhance safety awareness, the Company utilized various channels
such as monthly safety meetings and safety groups to educate
employees on the criteria for identifying major accident hazards,
reinforcing professional knowledge. A total of 12 major accident
hazard inspections were conducted, refining inspection content and
standards. Additionally, 49 joint safety inspections were organized,
identifying 1,508 issues. Furthermore, two occupational hazard
assessments were carried out, covering 648 monitoring points.
MNAAEZ2EE  L2HSETRAETHEBBBAETHEZRERX
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The Company has implemented multiple initiatives to promote a
strong safety culture and enhance employee safety awareness. These
efforts include displaying safety reminders along high-traffic areas,
continuously disseminating the Safety Month theme and related
safety regulations through company bulletin boards, electronic
displays, and internal media platforms. Employees were also engaged
in signing a company-wide safety commitment, participating in the
“Near-Miss Incident” Safety Awareness Campaign, and watching
safety education films.

RBARNZEREBEZEERE4EEERS  AREILE2HE - 10
EEI VR ZEBEMERERE  BALRREEH EFTRTREE
BENURATEERBTAREERLT2 ATERERRBEN -
HE2EERELR YA  RRIW—NEG 2 2ETHER-RER
B HRETBERIETHERE -

To further strengthen safety knowledge and its practical application,
the Company actively participated in the provincial emergency
knowledge online competition. Additionally, a comprehensive safety
responsibility assessment was conducted to evaluate and enhance the
effectiveness of safety management practices.
BR2EEARERNBEEHRE  RITBTHRT 2 MBI AR EE
ARe  FRZZEEWNZN  2ERELEEEMA

149



'I 5 O Dalipal Holdings Limited 3% ) ¥ {2 & B R A 7

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE  HEMEL®RS

In terms of occupational health and safety, the Company conducts
employee occupational health examinations in accordance with
relevant requirements, achieving a 100% completion rate in
establishing occupational health records for employees. Additionally,
the Company implemented a Noise Reduction Improvement
Program, issuing the “2024 Noise Reduction Implementation
Plan” (R T{EE T E (20244F) ) . Various noise mitigation
measures were successfully carried out, including improvements to
the pipe-end shrinking production line, the outbound receiving bins
in the intelligent warehouse, and the material loading platforms —
effectively reducing noise levels. Alongside equipment and facility
upgrades, the Company actively introduced various types of
earplugs. Through employee trials, the most effective noise-reducing
earplugs were selected. A satisfaction survey on noise reduction
showed that 75% of employees reported an improvement, further
ensuring their physical and mental well-being.

EHERFELZE2IE  ERHEABEREEST
BEEFERTIIF BETHBERBEERBES
100% ° B0 - AEIFAERERHEIBRA T 1E -
FEAGEL TECER TIEE S E (2024
F)) 0 SERRE AR D EELR &R B DUk
EMEREREZERRNEEE - BIHFER
BELE - B MEBITHRBRELIENRE - A
RItLERSETREBNEXMEE - WiBBE
TERRRIE TRERARBIMEE - BB
IR R MEEFAN - 75%HE TRAEFRBRUR
BRTES E—SREFEE TN OEE -

Company'’s Safety Production-related Work
NEREHEERBIE
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Case Study: First Aid Training
RO BRI

During Safety Month, the Group invited emergency experts from Cangzhou People’s Hospital, bringing professional
equipment to the Company, and provided employees with emergency first aid training on the theme “Train the First
Responder, Let Life Revive.”

During the training, experts tailored the content to the Group’s industry characteristics and used various methods
such as theoretical explanations, demonstration drills, interactive teaching, presentations, and video screenings to
deeply explain emergency knowledge and skills, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), trauma first aid,
electrical shock and heatstroke treatment, accident risk prevention, and emergency response to accidental injuries. In
the practical training session, employees actively participated, volunteered to perform simulated operations on stage,
and received one-on-one guidance from experts to ensure they mastered basic on-site emergency first aid skills. This
training not only enhanced employees’ safety awareness but also strengthened their ability to respond to emergencies.

= AR AREBFRNTARBRNESEZEFERRE  RETRET —SUIIEIIE—BE&E -
RLEWENEY | BT ENESEE -

BIEIET  ERESAKENTEREY  BREWHREE THER  BPHEB  GRRTEAAEREZRE
T RAEROMESR  AIERE  ERETERE  FHREARDERBIMGERYSESAMBEREE - &
ERJIRRE - BTRGSH - T8 FaRTRERE  YAERE 8 - BREZERSESMENELSK
BE o IEIIBRINMERA T E TR 2 ER - thile 7 B THHREBRENEELS -
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Case Study: VR Safety Education Experience Activity

RO VREZHERBTES

On September 24, 2024, the Group's Safety Management Department organized a group of over 30 employees to
visit the Cangzhou Emergency Management Bureau for a VR Safety Education Experience. The VR training covered
accident scenarios such as electric shocks, explosions, fires, and falls from heights, allowing employees to experience
simulated incidents firsthand. This immersive approach provided a realistic understanding of the severe consequences
of unsafe operations, reinforcing their safety awareness.

202459241 » ARBR2EIEHAMIBRBE TAERAMNTRSEER 2EVRRE2HERREY - R
BRRERE  BIF AN SREESFFNGR  RETEBHSRE  EBERTERBRENEERR - 18
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Development and Training

As part of its strategic objective to build a highly engaged workforce
that aligns with corporate culture and grows alongside the
Company, the Group has established a comprehensive training
system covering all employees. This includes the”Regulations on
the Management of Employee Training” ({8 THEIIEEHTE))
and the “the Code of Work for The Implementation of Training
Organizations” ({FFIEEEE 5 TIEMRE) , ensuring institutional
support for employee career development. The Group has structured
career development into management and technical tracks. Through
annual talent assessments, talent management enhancement
programs, GPI personality analysis, and 360-degree evaluations,
employees receive personalized career planning support to better
understand their strengths and potential. Following a tiered
development strategy, the Company implements a mentorship
program where senior management and experienced technical
personnel provide guidance to help employees quickly adapt and
excel in their roles. To foster overall workforce growth, the company
continuously refines its learning organization model, emphasizing
practical knowledge application and encouraging collaborative
learning and experience sharing, creating a dynamic and practice-
oriented learning environment.

RIS HEMERHRS
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Key Talent
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HERME

The Group continues to implement the “Deep Blue Program” and
“Blue-Green Program”, with a focus on “Cognitive Advancement”
during the reporting period. A comprehensive talent management
initiative was designed and executed, incorporating Individual
Development Plans (IDP), specialized project coaching, renowned
Peking University faculty courses, monthly reflection journals,
the Employee Assistance Program (EAP), book clubs, and
themed salons. Through cross-departmental and interdisciplinary
exchanges, participants refined their project topics, enhancing
both self-awareness and professional expertise. For technical talent
development, the Group designed tailored training programs
based on the characteristics of technical roles and optimized the
technical personnel evaluation system. Training efforts focused on
six specialized modules, including metallurgy, pipe rolling, and heat
treatment, encompassing knowledge-building courses, foundational
training for employees and new graduates, innovation project
implementation, and technical discussions. This approach reinforces
the philosophy of “learning through practice and hierarchical
empowerment”, fostering a culture of cross-unit collaboration,
strengthening the technical workforce, and laying a solid foundation
for technological innovation and sustainable development.

Assistant Engineer

BhEE T2ER
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Factory Manager Factory Manager
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Case Study: Deep Blue and Blue Green Plan - Special Topic Alignment for Participants
=P RE - BEFEHSEEERFENE

According to the Group's overall talent management project plan, we initiated alignment work for the “Deep Blue”
and “Blue Green” Plan participants’ special projects. Through this alignment process, key issues were identified,
refined, and ultimately developed into actionable project advancement plans. With the involvement of leaders from
various business units, participants received multi-perspective guidance and support, driving effective project progress
while also fostering cross-departmental and interdisciplinary collaboration. Some of the Company’s key initiatives
were integrated into participants’ special projects, which not only maximized opportunities for individual capability
development but also embodied the concept of “cultivating talent through practice,” achieving a deep integration of
this philosophy with the Group’s talent management programs.

RIBATAS BIRIAR EREETS  AREHRE  FSEANSERTEREFREE TE  BBHEZMNL
BEZE  SREURBEREHELESR - BESAREFREN2E MERBBRHEZ AFIEERTS - B
NRBERD - EE2RBEAF BEXEERRANKEET - YRAR - LEHRTFRESZENEERE
BETAR - BREPEACMRERSEARNNET - BRMEFEAESEATEEBRBNRERS °
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During the Reporting Period, a total of 1,795 employees received
training, accumulating a total of 86,605 training hours. Below is the
employee training statistics table:

HBERE - AEEZIABHG 1,754 8%
3116 B 4386,605/ N o AT &R B TIFFIFTET & -

Percentage of Average

employees training hours

trained per employee

(%) (hours)

B£ER

FIlhtE TG Z HI R

Training ZIER (%) (NEF)

By gender RERIE S

Male 5 100 47

Female o8 100 52
By employment category RERERE S

Senior management EREREAR 100 35

Middle management RRERAE 100 56

General staff EEANE 100 48

Supply Chain Management HrEgEEE

The Group upholds the principle of quality first and places great
emphasis on sustainable supply chain management. Internal policies
such as the “Supplier Management Policy” ({ftEREEIRHIE))
and “Supplier Code of Conduct” ({{£fERETTAYER])), have been
established, along with a supplier admission and exit mechanism.
Clear procedures for supplier selection, assessment, evaluation,
development, and elimination ensure that supplier management
aligns with ESG requirements and industry best practices.

In procurement, the Group categorizes purchases based on their
impact on operations, classifying them into critical, non-critical,
and key material procurement. Separate policies, including the
“Raw Material Procurement Management Measures” ({ZE#HFE
BBEIE A %)) and “Auxiliary Material Procurement Management
Measures” ((EHEHRIEEIE 777%)), along with specific technical
procurement standards, regulate procurement processes and
workflows. Each year, an important materials supplier development
plan is formulated based on the annual production plan and supplier
performance reviews. The procurement platform system is used to
enhance communication and oversight, ensuring continuous supplier
evaluation. During the Reporting Period, the Group had 98 qualified
suppliers (2023: 109), all based in mainland China. These suppliers
underwent comprehensive assessments, including product quality,
delivery timeliness, and service performance, to ensure their ability
to meet the Group’s requirements.

AEERTHEZ-WRE - SESERMEER
FEEE - ARECHIE(HREREEINE) R
(HERTTREINDZAEBR - B AHRERAE
NSRS - BAEEER - FHE  FHE /R
FASHEMIEFMESR - WIHETEHEREE
RESGEERE @ MARBRRRERLIUEL EE
HIER -

FEREIHE  RERBUEECLHTERE
RS ARIREE - JEERERE  EEMER
BEHEBETHH - DBERE - BT ERAM
HRRE D BB ECERRBEEIE) - (HR
EREEWAARSEEERBRMIEHS -
VAL AR 88 R IR R TT AT TIEREFF - RIBSARIEHE
B SRR EEEE S MR RIRM
FHIFTEZWEMREEAE IR - WRHRETT
HEREAIEE - BREPRTRET & Nk
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BREERAFRERTARRTERNERM
RISHIRE S - BEHIM - AR T EA KM RER L
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Supplier Engagement, Review and Exit

HEREEA « T > FE - BRHRE

m=o

Supplier Assessment

HererER iz
el

Supplier Review

HERHERIER

el

Supplier Exit
HERR L

The Group implements a strict screening process for new suppliers, requiring them to provide quality, safety, and environmental management
documentation and certifications. For key material suppliers, specific admission criteria are established to ensure they meet the necessary
qualifications.

EREREAEGUER - WERNER 22 BREFETENEE X ER - YESMEFREHREEAFE -

Suppliers are classified and managed according to their type, with special materials suppliers required to submit relevant licensing documents to
ensure compliance with industry standards and company requirements,

SRR RERETORER - BTSRRI USE AR R ST o

Based on the quality and safety requirements of the procured products, the Group conducts a thorough investigation of the supplier's provided
documentation, supplemented by on-site inspections. Suppliers that meet the selection criteria are initially shorthsted and an “Supplier
Capability Assessment Form” is completed. The supplier's status becomes effective only after rs(elvmg the necessary appro\
IRIREREEAE M E B 2 250 - WHAMRHMARETHE - YHURISEE - LR #fﬁ}ﬂ'}f’ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%fﬁﬁ BTN
ERER] - FERIET AR

The Group conducts annual evaluations of suppliers based on their performance in areas such as quality, environmental responsibility, and

socla\ a((oumabmty compiling a list of qualified suppliers.

HEFEEE  IRE U HTEAEEERENERRREETE - fRABHIRE -

For supphers that do not meet the required standards, the Group provides guidance to help them develop corrective actions for identified

issues in their products and services. The effectiveness of these corrective measures is closely monitored and verified

HAABRE -SSR RS MR T MR BRTRE - W RO RIRMERE -

The Group also promotes its management requirements to suppliers, encouraging them to obtain certifications in areas such as

occupational health, environmental management, and other relevant systems, thereby enhancing their overall capabilities.

FEREEATSEERER - HBRRRE THERE RIS REENRARE  EERak))

Suppliers that fail to fulfill or cannot fulfill contract obligations, or those that do not meet quality, safety, environmental, anti-corruption
standards, or whose performance fails to meet evaluation requirements, will be eliminated following approval. This decision is made to ensure
compliance with company standards and regulations.

i‘lzi@ﬁ?TEEEﬁ AR THERREER  Z2RR  RERSER  WRRRARTRERAEEROMMRE - EIERET
LAY

REBESGEE
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ANEERDENEERE DT HER - &t&l\'iﬁ
EHIR BB E T ERTTAER)
YWHET T HIERES - EpESHEmE—
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Supplier ESG Management

In terms of ESG management for suppliers, the Group incorporates
requirements such as green manufacturing, energy conservation,
emissions reduction, and relevant certifications and ESG measures
into the supplier capability evaluation system for production-based
enterprises. During the Reporting Period, the Group developed and
disclosed the “Supplier Code of Conduct” ({fERTTAZERI)),

providing specialized training to ensure suppliers fully understand
and implement ESG principles. This initiative supports key suppliers
in deepening their ESG practices, encouraging the adoption of eco-
friendly production methods to reduce resource consumption and
environmental pollution, and helping them systematically integrate
ESG concepts into their business management and production
processes. Currently, all key suppliers of the Group have obtained
ISO 9001 Quality Management System certification.

LUB A BB FEERIRIES A - HEhHE #HESGEEM
,?I’Q:\)L &ﬂﬂlﬂ)\%ﬂ& B fi Eﬁmﬁi‘#‘ E Al -
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Case Study: Dalipal - RHI Magnesita (China) Strategic Cooperation Project Achieves
Significant Progress

A ENE-RE(TE)BKSFREERRER

Since partnering with RHI Magnesita (China) in 2023, the company has focused on enhancing the service life of
refractory materials. Together, we have advanced the development and application of long-life refractory materials
for clean steel smelting, including magnesia-carbon bricks, electric furnaces, ladles, and tundishes. After nearly a
year of continuous experimentation and optimization, the average service life of a single electric furnace body has
increased from 500 furnaces to 700 furnaces, with a new record of 720 furnaces. Additionally, the average service life
of a steel ladle has increased by 10 furnaces per piece, which is expected to reduce refractory material consumption
by approximately 16% annually. Furthermore, through the recycling of used magnesia-carbon bricks for reuse,
each ton of new magnesia-carbon bricks for clean steel smelting is expected to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by
approximately 90 kg.

H2023F AR ERE(PE)EF AR - EHBREMAMBRRRIAFR - XEHEE T HERF AR EHK
B EE e HeFREMAMBERSSNMEERER - LRI —FRNTEHERNEL  FEEEER
T PR1&E a5 RS00/ER A = 70048 - W IA720ME EAERIFTALE: - BEME FTHRRSHERI0E M - Bt F
JE BRI N REEFER)16% © 5N - BBE B E S IREN RMBERANA - SUERTELRF )6 R S ixE a7
PEAR — S LR BERAI90Kg °

Product Responsibility

Corporate culture on quality — Every piece is for the user, every piece
constitutes a market, and every piece creates the brand. One pipe,
one well, one tube, one market.

The Group upholds the spirit of craftsmanship and treats
every product delivered with the utmost care, implementing
comprehensive quality management to ensure strict control over
product quality at all stages, involving every employee and aspect of
the process. The Group strictly adheres to all laws and regulations
related to quality and product standards, including but not limited
to the the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#
#FEARLFBEERLE)L)), the Civil Code of the People’s Republic
of China ({fF#E ARZXMBIREH)) and the Hong Kong Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.486) (B8 A E486% (B BEAE
B (FLBR) #6451 ), as well as regulations concerning product health
and safety, labeling, and privacy matters.
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Continuously Improving Quality Management System

The Group consistently enhances its quality management system and
adheres to the quality policy of “Quality First, Customer Supreme;
Continuous Improvement, Striving for Excellence; Providing
Customers with First-Class Products and Services”. The Group
has established comprehensive quality management procedures,
including the “Quality Risk Management Control Procedure” ({fn&
AR ERIERFZFE) ). Our main production facilities have obtained
APl Q1 Quality Management System certification, along with API
5CT/API 5L and API 5DP product certifications from the American
Petroleum Institute. Additionally, the Group operates a testing
laboratory certified by the China National Accreditation Service
for Conformity Assessment (CNAS). During the Reporting Period,
the Group successfully conducted and passed internal and third-
party audits of its quality management system. Currently, all major
production sites hold I1SO Quality Management System certification,
with 100% coverage of the certification system. There have been
no significant violations of quality management laws or regulations
that could have a major impact on the Group during the Reporting
Period.

Maintain Product Competitiveness

The Group consistently aligns its strategy with market demand and
customer expectations, benchmarking against the industry’s top
players. We continue to drive transformations in market structure,
customer structure, and product structure, with a strong emphasis
on product research and development and promotion efforts.
The Group maintains a premium quality mindset, focusing on
enhancing manufacturing capabilities and improving overall control
effectiveness.

During the Reporting Period, various quality activities such as quality
level checks, comprehensive quality inspections, and specialized
quality initiatives were conducted to identify, analyze, and resolve
issues from multiple perspectives. Activities like the Red and Black
Flag Awards and bonus pools encouraged units and levels to engage
in self-management and self-inspection. We have also continued
to optimize job procedures, improve the quality inspection process,
and enhance the handling of issues. These improvements have led
to more efficient processing and better inspection capabilities across
production lines, ensuring the quality of products. Additionally,
significant progress has been made in the R&D and sales of new
products, further enriching the Company’s product portfolio and
enhancing the competitiveness of the Dalipal brand.

BRIE - HENERRS
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Moreover, we have successfully passed International Oil 24 BFICKIEBREREAMARRE » AE

Company certifications, and have been included in the supplier
lists of SONATRACH SPA, the largest oil company in Africa, and
Sumitomo Corporation in Japan. This recognition reflects the global

acknowledgment of our brand in international markets. FIBIBRTTIHHFRAT ©
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Case Study: The Company's First “Slim Well” Successfully Completed Drilling
RO AEZHENEEESH B THE

During the Reporting Period, the Company successfully completed the drilling of the first “Slim Well” at the
Changning Block, the Changning H22J-1 well. As of now, the drilling cycle for the two wells at the Changning H22J
platform has improved significantly: the first well was drilled 18.81% faster than conventional wells of the same
size, and the second well was drilled 34.62% faster, demonstrating notable acceleration. Our company provided the
127*10.36 Q125 DLP-T4(HC) casing, offering full-service support throughout the process.

The “Slim Well” concept involves optimizing the well design from the very start to reduce the size of the wellbore
and casing for each section of drilling. The approach shifts from drilling larger holes to smaller ones, effectively
increasing drilling speed, saving on material costs, and reducing the amount of drilling debris. This method contributes
significantly to cost reduction, resource conservation, and land usage reduction. However, compared to conventional
wells, the smaller wellbore and casing size increase the difficulty of drilling and the risks associated with the operation.
This project marked the Company’s full involvement in the Southwest Qilfield’s first “Slim Well” initiative. It not only
extended the Company’s practice from manufacturing to technical design and service but also further validated the
quality and stability of our casing products and technology.
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Case Study: DLP Series “Customized” Combination Solutions Successfully Applied in Heavy
Oil Extraction

=6 : DLPRII EHL HAETH R - B IER TR

During the Reporting Period, the Company successfully delivered over 1,100 tonnes of thermal recovery casing to
CNOOC for heavy oil extraction. This batch of products marked the Company’s first large-scale supply and was
specifically developed as a customized solution under the DLP series. This bespoke combination of technologies
effectively improved the yield strength of the casing under steam injection conditions, ensuring its sealing performance
at high temperatures. This innovation provided the client with a low-cost, high-revenue experience. The product
represents a successful application of the Company’s process design services and marks a significant step forward
in transitioning from product manufacturing to offering personalized technical services. This shift opens new
opportunities for the company in delivering more tailored solutions to meet client needs.

HEME - ARATEHELEBAESRAN 1000BAREEERERET ZHERTER AR EKXH
BHE  EREPIARTPRHEHMDIPRIINESNL JBARMA R  ARURE TR UMERRE TEENERS
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Case Study: Development of 110 Steel Grade Sulfur-Resistant Casing
26 1 1M0MBANREERI 2

As oil and gas drilling depths continue to increase, the demand for high-strength sulfur-resistant casings has also been
rising. To meet this market demand, in 2024, the Company focused on steel cleanliness control and uniformity of
metallographic structure. Through a series of measures, including adjusting alloy compositions, optimizing the smelting
process, and improving heat treatment systems, we broke through the complexities of traditional processes. This led
to the creation of a high-production process tailored to the characteristics of Dalipal’s production line. The Company
successfully designed and developed the high-strength sulfur-resistant casing independently, significantly shortening
the supply cycle. Currently, the product’s resistance to sulfide stress corrosion (SSC) is stable and reliable, with mass
production and delivery successfully achieved. It has been successfully applied in CNPC Southwest Oil and Gas Field
in the high H2S shale gas blocks, which has notably enhanced the Company’s ability to supply products in highly
corrosive environments.

FEE B REBIORENTEIE N - SHAMMEENFTKELERRIEN - RTMEBE—MHFK  2024%F - &
AASORF EAE B SARA IS D IR AR - BEHABASKY - BIUARTEUAMMERGIEHIES
—RDIFEN - STRESR TEEHESR - F8| TERANENERRERFHNALETE - ARFIE XS MR
NRICERMEENE ERFMFAR  YER T REFHOABREE - BAT - ZERI YRS BESSOME
RECIBER 5 CERMELEARN  KWEARPAMARHERANSESMEEEERRN - BERTT
RAVERBERE THEREERES

101



1 6 2 Dalipal Holdings Limited 3 /7 42 A% A BR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE  HEMEL®RS

Case Study: Certification of Pipeline Products by Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC)
RO BBMAHLEERAMAREREEMAR

During the Reporting Period, the Group successfully obtained pipeline product certification from Abu Dhabi National
Oil Company (ADNOC), becoming an approved supplier. ADNOC is one of the most influential companies in the
global energy sector, ranked sixth globally, just behind ExxonMobil and China National Petroleum Corporation (CNPC),
and is the second-largest oil company in the Middle East, after Saudi Aramco.

Following the 2022 certification by Kuwait Oil Company (KOC), the Group'’s successful entry into ADNOC's approved
supplier network further demonstrates the company’s strength in production, quality control, and international market
competitiveness. This certification not only solidifies the Group’s foundation for expanding into the Middle Eastern
market but also opens up further opportunities for future business growth.

WEHAR - EERINEGMMILLEZR A M A T(ADNOC) B EE RS AR ASRMHER - ADNOCESR
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Corporate culture on service — Anticipate what customers think,
respond promptly to customers’ urgent needs, and meeting
customers’ demands is our eternal goal. We adhere to the belief
that service creates value and strive to enhance service value.

Complaint Handling

We understand that customer feedback is the key driver for
product iteration and service upgrades, which is why we place
high importance on maintaining an open and receptive attitude,
carefully listening to our customers’ needs. We have established
a comprehensive customer feedback and complaint handling
mechanism, allowing customers to provide valuable suggestions
through various channels. Upon receiving feedback, each business
unit follows the “Sales Objection Management Regulations” (($5&
EHEIEMT)) to record, analyze, address, and respond to issues.
For typical practices, we extract and create relevant case studies
for internal sharing and learning, enabling us to apply insights
and improve. Throughout the Reporting Period, we continued to
enhance our “Technology + Service” efforts, deepening after-sales
service, tracking, and guidance activities. If any products fail to
meet quality standards, we initiate the recall procedure, handling
the problematic products centrally to ensure product quality and
customer satisfaction. During the Reporting Period, our overall
customer satisfaction score was 96.51 points. All external customer
complaints or issues arising due to Company reasons have been
addressed or resolved. No products were recalled due to safety or
health concerns.
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External customer complaint handling rate
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Overall customer satisfaction score
BRGEmEE

100%

96.51%
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Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to protecting the privacy of employees,
customers, and suppliers and handles all external partners’
information with strict confidentiality. We have established
“Confidentiality Management Policy” (¢RZEEIEHIE)) and the
“Management Rules of Confidential Personnel” (% A B &1E
#BANY), which define confidentiality responsibilities and authority,
classify confidential information based on sensitivity levels, set
confidentiality periods and management requirements, and mark
confidential documents accordingly. Based on the formation
and concentration of confidential information, we designate key
confidentiality areas, classified positions, and a list of personnel with
access to sensitive information, which are regularly reviewed and
updated. Additionally, we leverage information systems to encrypt
and restrict access to core sensitive data such as customer names,
implementing access controls and compression measures to limit the
exposure of confidential information. Any unauthorized disclosure of
customer confidential data will result in strict disciplinary action, and
in severe cases, termination of employment.

The Group also emphasizes the use of digital tools for systematic
confidentiality management. We have formulated an Information
Security Mechanism Development Plan, which includes annual
regional assessments of existing information security mechanisms,
cybersecurity drills, and penetration testing. Core data is safeguarded
through backup management, and all externally accessible
information systems are enhanced with VPN encryption channels
and HTTPS encryption protocols to ensure data integrity and
confidentiality. During the Reporting Period, we also benchmarked
against the ISO 27001 Information Security Management System
standard, revising existing information security management
procedures and requirements. Additionally, we have incorporated
these system requirements into the Group’s new project plans,
including data center and network security construction, further
strengthening our information security protection capabilities.
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Case Study: Information Security Training
=6l FRR2EI

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted company-
wide information and cybersecurity awareness training and
business unit information system policy training to enhance
employees’ awareness of data security and their ability to
respond to security risks effectively.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group strictly complies with the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({1 #EARLMBEIZE) ), the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FPZEARLMBEFRE)), the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({F#E AR
MEEEREL) ), and other relevant legal regulations. We have
established “Intellectual Property Rights Management Control
Procedures” ((EIELEREIEIEHIZF)) and the Intellectua
Property Rights Operation Control Procedures ( 1 REETTHEHI
f2/7)), forming an effective intellectual property (IP) management
system. We continuously strengthen and expand the protection
scope of the company’s trademarks, patents, and copyrights. During
the Reporting Period, the Group conducted internal and third-party
audits of the GBT 29490-2013 Intellectual Property Management
System, while providing ongoing IP-related training to reinforce
employees’ awareness of intellectual property management and
protection, further enhancing our IP management framework.

During the Reporting Period, the Group filed 29 patent applications,
obtained 14 new patents, and secured three new software
copyrights. Additionally, we completed the enterprise standard
filings for four production technology specifications, including L80-
1Cr, L80-3Cr, P110-3Cr CO; corrosion-resistant oil casings, and
DLP110S/DLP110TS sulfur-resistant oil casings. Furthermore, our
project on the development and industrialization of key technologies
for ultra-high-strength, high-toughness, corrosion-resistant casings
received financial support from the Central Government's Fund for
Local Science and Technology Development.

RIS HEMERHRS
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Innovation Incentives

Adhering to the philosophy that “Innovation is the source of
development and the main theme of corporate growth”, the
Group embraces openness and collaboration, actively adapts to
change, and continuously seeks innovative breakthroughs. We have
established management policies such as “Management Innovation
Implementation Measures” ({EIZBIFTE iE##%)) and “Scientific
and Technological Innovation Management Measures” ({EH%
BIFTEIRHEE) ), along with incentive standards for innovation.
Through the development of an innovation incubation platform,
submission of management and technical improvement proposals,
implementation of innovation and capital expenditure projects, and
a strong focus on growth and progress, we encourage all employees
to contribute innovative ideas, fostering a culture of creativity across
the organization. During the Reporting Period, the innovation
incubation platform received a total of 409 proposals, achieving
an implementation rate of 93%. Additionally, 488 rationalization
proposals were submitted, including 158 management-related and
330 technology-related suggestions, resulting in the formation of 48
innovation projects. The Group also successfully completed 19 cost-
reduction and energy-saving projects. Over the year, we awarded
more than RMB 1 million in innovation achievement incentives,
effectively stimulating employees’ enthusiasm for innovation,
facilitating the transformation of innovative ideas into tangible
results, and continuously fostering a company-wide culture of
participation in innovation.
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Case Study: First International Invention Patent Granted

P BEERBEAERRE

During the Reporting Period, the Group received its first international invention patent authorization from the Nigerian
Patent and Trademark Office for a PCT invention patent titled “A Corrosion-Resistant High-Toughness Oil Casing and
Its Preparation Method”. This milestone represents a significant step forward in the Group’s technological innovation
and the internationalization of its independent intellectual property rights.

s MR - BEERNSEMNEERAEN —HPCTERAEMNERE - ENZREA —EMRUSAELHEE R
HEETA] - HWABHNEAKERSHERBERENRE  BEEARAERRAIF RS TNBERBR(T
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Case Study: First Innovation Project to Receive Chinese government Funding

=P : AIFEE AEPRBFERES X

During the Reporting Period, the Hebei Provincial Department of Science and Technology announced the list of
projects selected for the 2024 Chinese Government’s Fund for Local Science and Technology Development, with
Dalipal’s project, “Research and Industrialization of Key Technologies for Ultra-High-Strength, High-Toughness,
Corrosion-Resistant Casings,” among the approved initiatives. This marks the Company’s first technology
commercialization project to receive central government funding. The Company has successfully mastered the
development and manufacturing technologies for ultra-high-strength, high-toughness, and corrosion-resistant
casing steel materials. Furthermore, it has developed high-strength, corrosion-resistant casing steel with outstanding
comprehensive performance and significant economic benefits. As a result of this project, the Group has been granted
five independent invention patents.
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Case Study: Dalipal Gas Collection Management System V1.0
B ENERREEEERRAVIO

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to enhance refined energy management by actively integrating
digital technologies and exploring automated data collection and intelligent analysis of gas consumption. After
extensive evaluation and technical testing, we independently developed the Dalipal Gas Collection Management
System V1.0, successfully obtaining software copyright registration. The system enables real-time communication
with gas meters, automatic calculation of gas consumption, and automated contract information entry, significantly
improving data processing efficiency and accuracy. This advancement accelerates information flow, strengthens cost
management, and provides a solid data foundation for decision-making support.
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Intelligent Manufacturing

The Group has been deeply engaged in smart factory production.
As of the Reporting Period, we have obtained national-level Green
Factory certification and received the “Golden Gear Award — Annual
Outstanding High-End Manufacturing Enterprise”. We operate Asia’s
first intelligent oil pipe turnover warehouse, an intelligent coupling
thread processing unit, and an automated oil casing processing
production line, along with various automated inspection devices.
Additionally, our data command center enables real-time monitoring
of all production lines and operational data. The Group continues
to implement multiple intelligent manufacturing projects to support
efficient and smart operations, further enhancing our technological
capabilities.
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Case Study: “Integrated Production and Sales Management Platform” Project

On November 15, 2024, the Group's subsidiary Dalipal Pipe Co., Ltd., and Shanghai Baoxin Software Co., Ltd.
successfully held a signing ceremony for the “Dalipal Integrated Production and Sales Control Platform” project. The
system will be developed in alignment with the Company’s specific growth characteristics, leveraging efficient business
collaboration and implementing a centralized, optimal management approach. Through the information system, the
platform will establish an efficient and centralized management model, aiming for refined management, standardized
operations, and just-in-time production. The ultimate goal is to achieve an integrated management approach for
production, sales, control, and financial operations, improving the company’s responsiveness and adaptability while
enhancing its overall market competitiveness. The project is expected to be ready for launch by June 30, 2025, with a
trial run starting on July 1, 2025.
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Case Study: Automation Upgrade of Continuous Casting Billet System
RO EERHARGEHBCARBGE

To shorten execution time of continuous billet casting, and improve billet quality, the Company organized an
automation upgrade of the P5 billet production system. The project was carried out in four phases: preparatory
work, on-site construction, automation system debugging, and tracking and optimization of system performance.
The upgrade introduced three automated steel hooking modes: unordered, ordered, and quantitative. These modes
allow for flexible adaptation to the personalized steel hooking needs of the P5 position under different production
conditions. Following the upgrade, the system now saves approximately 22 hours of work time per month and
effectively eliminates quality issues caused by non-standard operations.
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Case Study: Launch of the Product Shipping Image Library Mini Program
RO ERmBREBEIERFLE

To meet the quality management requirements for finished product shipments and reduce labor costs, the Company
initiated the optimization of product factory photo management. After several rounds of in-depth discussions and
careful configuration, the “Product Shipping Image Library Mini Program” was first tested on September 10, 2024.
Based on the test results, the process was meticulously adjusted and refined. It was officially launched on September
24, 2024, and successfully obtained software copyright by the end of 2024. The activation of this program has
enabled the Company'’s finished product shipping quality management to transition to an information-driven process.
First, it eliminates the challenge of finding vehicle information through automatic license plate recognition. Second,
the program’s quick retrieval functions based on key information such as shipping date and license plate number
effectively improve the efficiency and accuracy of issue tracing.
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Community Investment HERE
Practice Public Welfare and Charity BT AmEE

The Group regards contributing to society as one of its key focus
areas and is committed to making contributions to the community
and developing in harmony with local residents. We have engaged
sustainable development consultants for professional guidance and
worked together to plan a series of activities related to environmental
protection and social responsibility. During the Reporting Period, the
Group actively participated in various charitable initiatives, including
employee mutual assistance donations, voluntary blood donations,
“99" charity day donations and volunteer services. The total amount
donated amounted to RMB 87,900.
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Case Study: Employee Mutual Assistance One-Day Donation:

=4 BT EB—Ai5

The Group’s labor union organized the “Employee Mutual Assistance One-Day Donation” event, actively encouraging
all employees to participate in charitable giving. A total of RMB 66,700 was raised, which was fully donated to the
Cangzhou Bohai New Area Federation of Trade Unions to assist families of employees facing difficulties. Small streams
gather to form a sea, and every act of kindness contributes to great love. The Group is committed to continuing the
“Employee Mutual Assistance One-Day Donation” and other social welfare activities, bringing warmth and support to
more families in need, and interpreting the corporate mission of “creating harmony” through practical actions.
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Case Study Voluntary Blood Donation Campaign
RO E|ERIMEE

On June 14, 2024, the Group organized a “Voluntary Blood Donation” campaign to mark the 21st World Blood
Donor Day. Over 100 employees actively registered to participate, with each employee donating an average of more
than 300 milliliters of blood. The employee who participated the most has donated up to 9 times, fully demonstrating
Dalipal employees’ respect for life and their sense of social responsibility. Through each charitable activity, we not only
bring hope to those in need but also highlight the unity, friendship, and dedication of Dalipal employees, practicing
the corporate mission of “Contributing to Society” through concrete actions.
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Case Study: Sending Cool Relief on August 1st, Honoring the ‘Flame Blue’ Heroes
RO TN\—BXFER - B8 KIGEE ]

On the occasion of the “August 1st” Army Day, we visited the Cangzhou Bohai New Area Nanshugang Road Fire
Station. They delivered cooling supplies such as mung beans, sugar, and sunscreen to the firefighters who were on
duty in the scorching heat, and extended their holiday greetings to them. This visit not only expressed the Group's
sincere respect and gratitude for the firefighters but also served as a concrete action of the Group fulfilling its social
responsibility and deepening the bond between the military and the people. The fire station’s director expressed their
thanks for the gesture and hoped to maintain close communication with the Group to strengthen coordination and
rapid response mechanisms, jointly advancing fire safety efforts.
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Case Study: International Volunteer Day - Dalipal in Action

RO BIBSEER - ENBAETD

In celebration of International Volunteer Day, the Company’s union, in collaboration with the Cangzhou Bohai New
Area Union, organized a series of volunteer activities under the theme “Contribute Volunteer Strength - Create a
Better Life”. Volunteers visited Aixingyuan Special Education School, delivering thoughtful gifts to children with special
needs. During the school rush hour, they proactively assisted with traffic control at the school entrance, ensuring the
safety of elementary school students crossing the road, receiving unanimous praise from parents and teachers. They
also visited elderly residents with disabilities in the community, offering warmth and care. With its mission of “Helping
Society,” Dalipal has consistently engaged in social welfare efforts through practical actions, spreading warmth and
positive energy through small acts of kindness, and demonstrating the company’s commitment to social responsibility
and duty.
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 FERBBER

Category
Lzl

Indicator

BE

2024
20245

2023
20234

Corporate

Governance
TEER

Board Diversity

Ezgz it

Percentage of executive directors (%)

HITEFIGE(%)

50.0

55.6

Percentage of non-executive directors (%)

FEHMITE AL (%)

12.5

Percentage of independent non-executive directors (%)

B IFRITERIE (%)

37.5

33.3

Gender (%)
M RI(%)

-Male
— 5

87.5

77.8

-Female

-zt

12.5

22.2

Compliance Management and Anti-corruption

EREERREHR

Anti-corruption training coverage (%)
RESBIEZE(%)

100

100

Concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices (cases)
BISRARMEREE ()

Penalty (ten thousand RMB)
BEESE(BITARE)

Environment
RE

Pollutants

SR

Air Emissions

B SRR

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tonnes)
AEAEI(NOK) (1)

36.12

31.77

Sulfur oxides (SOx) (tonnes)

WAL ¥I(SOx) (IE)

1.28

0.95

Particulate matter (PM) (tonnes)
FER Y (W)

50.87

48.52
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Category Indicator 2024 2023
=5l B 20244 20235
Environment Sewage Discharge
RIE REKBERR
Sewage (m3) 670.74 3,219.52
BERE(LT7K)
Waste
BEEY
Total hazardous waste (tonnes) 10,078.70 8,063.69
BEEEME=(H)
Hazardous waste intensity (tonnes/revenue in million RMB) 3.06 2.09
BEEZEVZE W/ ABETARBKE)
Total non-hazardous waste (solid waste) (tonnes) 72,206.53 71,620.82
mEREEY RS (ERED) (W)
Non-hazardous waste Intensity (tonnes/revenue in million RMB) 21.93 18.60
EEFEEYRE (W BB TARBE)

Water Resources

KER

Total water consumption (m3) 726,204.00 739,716.39'
FERE (LK)

Intensity (m3/ revenue in million RMB) 220.58 192.13
EGIHR BETARBKE)

Energy consumption
BERMEE

Total energy consumption (GWh) 978.00 961.08
gREReSE (FRR)
Intensity (GWh/revenue in million RMB) 0.30 0.25
HE(HERFE/BSTARBKE)
Total natural gas consumption (GWh) 499.58 488.29
RARHEFERE (FRF)
Total gasoline consumption (GWh) 0.40 0.41
BB E (FRK)
Total diesel fuel consumption (GWh) 1.08 1.40
SemErEe S (ERE)
Total Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) (GWh) 0.00 0.03
Bl BRERAEE (FRR)

Total purchased electricity consumption (GWh) 476.94 470.95
SNEBE N EREE(HRR)

' To enhance the consistency and comparability of the data, the total water ! RIS — B R AT - 2023 F M BRI EEUE
consumption data for 2023 has been restated according to the actual situation, ERERBEAES - BERAKNERBEEAENEER
including domestic water consumption in office buildings and dormitory. K e
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Category
el

Indicator

BE

2024 2023
20245 20234

Environment
RIE

Greenhouse Gas Emission (GHG)

BERBHERK

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (tonnes CO,e)
HEAZEREENE(E@E)(M_EtkgEe

101,248.12 98,518.15

Energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) (tonnes CO,e)
EREEREREYI(EER2) (M _EtixEE

255,925.26 268,583.62

Total (tonnes)
4 (W)

357,173.38 367,101.77

Intensity (tonnes/revenue in million RMB)

BE(W,/ BETAREKR)

108.49 95.35

Social

HE

Employee Composition
ET&8%

Total workforce (number of employees)

BTHAB(AN)

1,795 1,658

— Mainland China
— R E ity

1,783 1,652

- Hong Kong
&%

12 6

Employment Type
BETEEEE

Full-time (number of employees)

2BETAZ(A)

1,795 1,658

Part-time (number of employees)

REBETAB(A)

— By Gender
—EZEMRE S

Male (number of employees)

SHETAZ(A)

1,475 1,346

Female (number of employees)

ZHEETAZ(A)

320 312
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Category
£zl

Indicator

BE

2024
20244

2023
20235

Social

HE

— By Age Group
—RERED

18-30 (number of employees)
18-308%(A)

565

486

31-40 (number of employees)

31-405%(A)

632

666

41-50 (number of employees)
41-508%(A)

434

382

51 or above (number of employees)

51xak A F(A)

164

124

Employee Turnover Rate
BTIRAR

Total turnover rate (%)
1R (%)

18

- By Geographical Region
—RUEHSD

— Mainland China (%)
— AR E 3 %)

18

— Hong Kong (%)
_%Eif%(%)

- By Gender
—EMRE S

— Male (%)
— B8 T(%)

18

— Female (%)
_ﬁqv_in_,%l(o/o)

15

- By Age Group
—RERARNE D

—18-30 (%)
—18-305%(%)

20

31

—31-40 (%)
—31-405%(%)

14

— 41-50 (%)
—41-505%(%)

— 51 or above (%)
—515R8 A (%)

14

Employees returning to work and retaining jobs after
maternity/paternity leave rate (%)

ER/FERRODTEMRE TENE THHI(%)

100

100
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Category Indicator 2024 2023
5l BER 20245 20235
Social Occupational Health
He BERE
Employee occupational health inspection rate (%) 100 100
B TR REBRE (%)
Employee occupational health monitoring management 100 100
files establishment rate (%)
BTRFERERERETEX (%)
Occupational hazards in the workplace detection rate (%) 100 100
EXS PR TR ZRAIER (%)
Employee social security coverage rate (%) 100 100
BTHERBEEE (%)
Employee Training
BT
Total training hours (hour) 86,605 73,569
IR R (/NEF)
Average training hours (hour) 48 44
AR & (/N )
— Senior management training hours (hour) 35 121
—2RERABREIIFRNE)
— Middle management training hours (hour) 56 67
—HRER A B & (/)
— General staff training hours (hour) 48 43
— HEA B RCNE)
— Male employees training hours (hour) 47 44
— S8 TR & (/)
— Female employees training hours (hour) 52 47
— M E TR ()
Total number of trained employees 1,795 1,658
Bl ABCA)
Employee training rate (%) 100 100
BT (%)
— Senior management training rate (%) 100 100
—=RERANBEIIE (%)
— Middle management training rate (%) 100 100
—HPRERABEIIE (%)
— General staff training rate (%) 100 100
—HEBABHIIE (%)
— Male employees training rate (%) 100 100
— BB THIIE (%)
— Female employees training rate (%) 100 100
— B THEIIE (%)
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Category
£zl

Indicator

BE

2024
20245

2023
20234F

Social

HE

Health and Safety
BRERZE

Work-related fatalities (number of people) (including
contractor)

ATHBRTABA)(BEERE)

Work-related fatalities rate (%) (including contractor)
E TBIT (%) (EH )

Lost days due to work injury (days)
ATEEEIIIERS(XR)

1,008

471

Licensed operators rate (%)
TEEANBIFEE(%)

100

100

Special equipment inspection passing rate (%)

KRR R A 15 (%)

100

100

Safety accessories inspection rate (%)
22 R R (%)

100

100

Supply Chain Management
HEgEEE

Number of suppliers

HrERmEE (X)

98

109

Number of Suppliers By Relevant Geographical Region
HELER S NEEREE

— Overseas (number of suppliers)

—BIINR)

— Mainland China (number of suppliers)

—HE AR (K)

98

109

Supplier ESG training (number of participants)
HAERIESGEEFI(AX)

474

312

Percentage of key suppliers certified with 1ISO 9001 Quality

Management System
iBIBISO 9001 R REMNEZHER(%)

100

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons (%)
PRl % 2 B {2 B2 R PR (] LA ) 228 e £ 22 %)

Customer complaint resolve rate (%)
B RRE (%)

100

100

Customer satisfactory rate (score)

EFREE (D)

96.51

97.42
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wE

Category Indicator 2024 2023
5l BER 20245 20235
Social Innovative Development
HE RIFTE R
Annual patent authorization (number) 14 13
FEENEER ()
Annual patent application (number) 29 29
FEEMPHFE()
Community Contribution
HEER
Tax paid (ten thousand RMB) 4,177 14,137
(BT ARK)
Charity (ten thousand RMB) 8.79 10.83
P& (BITARE)
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Appendix 2: Index to Appendix C2
“Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” to the Listing Requirements
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

—_

&2 B BBMESXZMARAE LH
BREMRCQ(RE - HEREBRRE
#E51)EE

(i) the board’'s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritize and manage
material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s
business); and

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer's business

HEFSRLWNER  ETHA MRS :

() REEFSYHRE HEREAEENEE

(i) EFENRE L REREETH LK - BFTh &
RFFREBEZNRE e MNEEREE(REYHE
TTAEBNRR)BERER &

(i) EBFSMARIRE - £ @ NEAEBBFRTER - WHFE
ErMAEET ARG ERE -

Subject area Content Chapter / Disclosure
FTEHE AEN HEREEH
Mandatory Disclosure Requirement

BERERE

Governance A Statement from the board containing the following elements: Sustainability
Structure Governance

ESLER () disclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues. AIEHEERE R

Reporting Principles
EE R A

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
Reporting Principles (materiality, quantitative, and consistency) in
the preparation of the ESG Report

Ml EERRIRE e RERWE R WA &R ERRA
(BEEM - SfF—8M) -

Reporting Guidelines
el

Reporting Boundary
EREE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report
and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report.
FRIBIRIZ Mg REGMENERSE - Rt B MLE gk
EBMAIRE « L8 REBRERBIE -

Reporting Period and
Scope

W R M E
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Subject area Content Chapter / Disclosure
FTEHE AEN HEREED
“Comply or explain” Provision
[ FEFRMER EX
A. Environmental
ARE
Aspect A1: Emissions
ATEERRYD
General Disclosure Information on: Emission
—RIRE 7193167
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
BHBERIOREREEHN - KR LHHEDS B REEER
MEEEF
(@) BE: &
(b) EFHEITABERZENEERE NN
EVE RS
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BREARIERAL e iR AR R B BRBUE - 7193567
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
FRENISEAL2 emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. By
BER(BE1) REREZ (FE2)EEREBABNE (AMGTE) &
(WER)ZE -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) and where appropriate, | Emissions
FABENISZEAL3 intensity. BERY)
FTEAAEREEYEE (LNEE) R(ER)EE -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions
BRBENISEALL appropriate, intensity. BER)

FEAEEREEDES (UEAE) R(NER)EE -

KPI A1.5
AR ENIEIZEALS

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

PRI SV BERE B R KA E RS L B R ERE 25K o

Emissions and Use of
Resources

B ~ EIRER

KPI A1.6
FARENISIEALG

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

MR B A REEEEYN L - REMPTET S HREE B 1R R
REDE L BRI B

Emissions

BER)
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Subject area
FTEHE

Content
AR

Chapter / Disclosure

HEREEE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2ERE A

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water,
and other raw materials.

BRERER(BIELIR - K EEAMRME)HBER -

Use of Resources

BIREMR

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in | Use of Resources
BARENIEEA21 ’000s) and intensity. EIR{FEH

RER SIS B RS EEEREFEE A TETREFE) RE

J_g o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources
BEREMIEZRA2.2 BREKERTE - BIREA
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken | Use of Resources
BRENIEEA2.3 to achieve them. E R

R PR AT LV B IR (E A W B IR R RIERE L B R TSR 25

,%%g\ o
KPl A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources
BRENIEZA2.4 is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s), and steps taken to | &Jg{E A

achieve them.

Fa i K EGE A/KR ERI B AR - LAKRFTET L8 Ak B 1R

NApEREL B IRATERIA 28R
KPI A2.5 Total packing material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, | Due to the nature of the
BAREMIEEA2.5 if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Group's business, the

R mATAREMENESE (A E) X (ER) B EE B

=
E-°

packaging used in the
finished products is not
applicable.
HARAE BB EBIE
g REESK AT
BB &I EA -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

AZRBERRRER

General Disclosure

—RiRE

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

REBETABRRERAREREREAZENBR -

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERRAER

KPI A3.1
BARENISIEA3

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HAEBEHHRENRAERNEATERERNERFAY
200178 -

Emissions, Use of
Resources and The
Environment and
Natural Resources
ey - BRERKIR
BRRARER
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Subject area
FTEHE

Content
AR

Chapter / Disclosure

HEREEE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

ALRIRE{

General Disclosure
—MRIE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer.

BETAELEFENEARRABEENRE

Combating Climatic
Change
e SRIRE b

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have | Combating Climatic
BARENIEEAL impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Change
actions taken to manage them. FEETRIRE b
RAUAR ARG HBEITAEA Y ENEARIGEBEE - EYH
178 -
B. Social
B.AE
Aspect B1: Employment
B1{E(E
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
— R E EE - FRENKRE
(a) the policies; and TERNkEE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BEF MR RE  BERES  TERE - RE - TSKe %
Tob  RIEAR DA R E 5538 R AB R EY
(a) BE
(b) E=F! ﬁ”‘ﬁ/\ﬁﬁk B AR AR R
HE RS
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and | Employment
BB ENIEEB1.1 geographical region. =
=R - EFEEE - FRARNRNES S HIEE R -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employment
FARENIEEB.2 region. 1BEfE
IR - FERERI @B DB ERALE
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Subject area
FTEHE

Content
AR

Chapter / Disclosure

HEREEE

B2 REEZ 2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Disclosure
—MRIEE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

ERRERZE2THEREMREREERBEMRETN
(@ HZE: &
’/f

(b) BFHBETABEAZENEREAE MR
HYERY

Health and Safety
BERZE

ORI R BR G R R 21576 - ARMBRNITRERITA -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the | Health and Safety

R ENIEEB2.1 past three years including the reporting year. RERTE
BE=F(BREERFE)BFRAITHOABNLX -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

B RENIEEB2.2 EHTGEATIERE - RBERZE

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, | Health and Safety

BRENIEEB2.3 and how they are implemented and monitored. RERTE

B3% & K IZ3

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Policy on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRERFEE BT TIERE A M R BUR - #tFIINE
g o

Development and
Training

TR M IEFI

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and

AR EMIEIEB3.1 category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training
rUERINEEERI(INESRERRE  PREERE)ESNXIIEE | BREKIEI
Bl e

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and

AR ENIEEB3.2 and employee category. Training
RIERIREEERED - BEESTHREINFIIRE - R R
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Subject area Content Chapter / Disclosure
TEHE AEN HEREED
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B4%5 T %8|
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
—RIRE &R
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRAMIEE T Sag b THY
(@ B K
(o) BFHETABEAZENRBER RN
BB o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid | Employment
B R AN IEEBA child and forced labour. e
R R B A LA R E T RAHI4 T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Employment
B R AN IEEBA.2 discovered. e
IR R RGN ER BB PRI 2 -
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
BS it FEREE IR
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply | Supply Chain
—RIBE chain. Management
ERHERNRE I GRS - HrEgEER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
AR B NIE1EB5.1 R E D HHERSE - Management
HrEgER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of | Supply Chain
AR A NIEIEB5.2 suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how | Management
they are implemented and monitored. HEmEE
AR R HERNIED - mERTERENNHERSRE
AR BREPINIMITRERTE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social | Supply Chain
R EMIEIZEBS.3 risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and | Management
monitored. HrEsRE e
et A BE R R E S ARG IRE LA GRROES - AKIE
BT RERTTE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Supply Chain
AR ENIEIEB5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored. HEEEE
M ERERERRRE S BRRERMREHED] - LANIERE
WITRESENE -
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Subject area Content Chapter / Disclosure
FTEHE AEN HEREED
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
B6EMEE
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
— R E EmEE

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.

BEMREERNBRBOERELZ S BE  RELRLEEEMA

AR AR -

(@) B Rk

(b) BETHEITABERZENBEBERE KRG

B E RS
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for | Product Responsibility
BB ENIETEB6.1 safety and health reasons. EmAf

PEREEXERAHT AL BERIEAMARKNE D
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and | Product Responsibility
AR EMIEIEB6.2 how they are dealt with. EREE

RN E D RIRBRIZRE B A R B 7%
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Product Responsibility
AR ENIE1EB6.3 intellectual property rights. and Intellectual Property

F st BB o S ARPS AN EERE B AR 1B P Rights

EmBEERABER

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility
ERENIEEB6.4 Rt E B0 @R M EMEIKERT - EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and | Product Responsibility
BB A NIEIEB6.5 how they are implemented and monitored. EmEE

RMUE B E ERMRE RALRBUR - U RBERITRERTE
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Subject area
FTEHE

Content
AR

Chapter / Disclosure

HEREEE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

B7IRES

General Disclosure
—MRIE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

Anti-corruption
R&5

BRI LB - R - BGFROEREM

(@ B K

(o) BFHETABEAZENRBER RN

BB R} o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
B A WIS1EBT7.1 brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | &5

period and the outcomes of the cases.

Fﬁiﬁiﬂmiﬁéﬁ/\ﬁiﬁﬁé?ﬁ%ﬁiﬁaﬁ EE SRR RIB

EPSEIEASES
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-corruption
AR EMIEERT.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. RE5

Py &I b R RIR T - A RABEI T REER % o
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and | Anti-corruption
R ENIEIEBT.3 staff. RESF

fimE=RE TRENRE)SHE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8t ERE

General Disclosure
—MRIE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community Investment

HRRE

FRANtES ,JKTﬁ@ Bt REENRREER DS
FEALIE M E FY R
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community Investment
8 SR 48 IS5 1ZB8.1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). HEEE
EIEREE(WHE REFHE SIHFK EF Xt -8
B)e
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
B R A IE15BS.2 EEIHREABAER(NEERERE) - HERE
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Dalipal Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dalipal
Holdings Limited (the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 198 to 275, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

DAL R SR A9 S AT R
HENEERERAF
(REEFHEZTMA LA EFRL E])

=R

BPEBEZENEERBERAR(EAR D EE
WEBAR([ESE ) HMNE198EE 2758 247
GBS RE - AP eER2024F12A318 248
BUMBRRE HEZBULFEZGABRERE
HEERER  GAESEHRRGARSRE
KUK  BREEASHTERARREMRE

BMRE  ZEFGRAVBRERDIRIBEBR S
AEEe((RRSEIEES ) B2 B
BRESTESTIREEEMF SR &
EER2024F 12 A31 BWERE B  A K&
EZALFENGEYBRERGEABRERE
WEBREB N GUED 2 BEERKEZ BEE -

RRER

KRMERBEESFHMAS(FESHMRE])
BB ARTER(EBEFEN D ETE
e RMEZSEATRENEFCEARS
[ BAD L& 5t A B I T R BARIEAI A (F | — 8
FIEE— PR - REBBEAMAGN(EE
FETEDBIEST R P R A R AT fa B2 3 4P 4 5
SRERAVBRERMNBARFERERER - R
BN BB YEEITZFEERETHF
MEAMBEREE - LIAEE - ROAESHETR
EREFTR MEE RPN ER BRI AR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Wy 2 R R R

BB R ()

REEITEE

REZMINERHE - FRETFESRMLA
HRAMBHRRNBARAEENEER - BLF
RO ERPIEABBREMHBRR IO AR RE
HEITRE - MBRA TS ELFTREHEBNE
E} o

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(t).

DRE A IR AN ARG 20089 2 FHEE ©
The Key Audit Matter
BEETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMEF P OEE

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from the
manufacture and sale of oil and gas pipes, new energy pipes and
special seamless steel pipes and other products.

The Group's sales contracts with customers have a variety of
terms relating to goods acceptance. Such terms may affect the
timing of the recognition of revenue with these customers.
Management evaluates the terms of each contract in determining
the appropriate timing of revenue recognition.

BEEENRGETIEES ARENHEELRRARAE - FERA
BN EE MR o

EREREFPIIVZHEANT S ASEEE mE AR Z IF
o RGBT TP R RS WERRE - &2
BIERTERE MR EERSHE ST ST SRR -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
revenue recognition included the following:

Obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the Group’s
key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

Inspecting customers’ sales contracts,
on a sample basis, to identify terms and
conditions relating to goods acceptance
and assessing the Group's revenue
recognition policies with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

BARHE RS RS BB T B

o TRRYWRHME BERBEHHUWESERATIRE
HIRASE M EBIE B B RRGT - e SR F
BRI
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2R ()

Key audit matters (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BARETEE

FRETSEE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREF P RE

We identified the timing of revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is a key performance indicator of the
Group which increases the risk that revenue may be manipulated
to meet financial expectations or targets.

BRI e RIS B R ERT = - RRRKET) BERH

PRIBEEAIRIE - SUGET AL RIRAL S BB IR RS B {ZRO
& b7 -

Comparing, on a sample basis, sales
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with underlying
documentation, which included goods
acceptance notes, to assess whether the
relevant revenue had been recognised in
accordance with the terms of the sales
contracts and in the appropriate financial
year;

Inspecting underlying documentation for
manual journal entries relating to revenue
which were recorded during the year and
which met specific risk-based criteria; and

Confirming, on a sample basis, the value
of sales transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 directly with customers
and inspecting underlying documentation
relating to the reconciliation of differences
between the transaction amounts
confirmed by customers and the Group'’s
accounting records to assess whether the
related revenue had been recognised in the
appropriate financial year; for unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative
procedures by comparing details with
underlying documentations.

O RA R AR 4 B AT IR SRS R R E R 5 B4R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (Continued)

Valuation of inventories

HFHEE

BB R ()

FERENSEHE)

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(k).

DT B BT IRA M 13 KAt 2(k) B @ 5T ©
The Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMEFE P OIEE

At 31 December 2024, inventories of the Group comprised raw
materials, work in progress and finished goods. The carrying
amount of the Group's inventories at 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB802,596,000 which represented 18% of the
Group's total assets.

The Group's inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value is determined by
management on an individual item basis by taking into account
the estimated selling prices of the Group’s pipe products,
the estimated costs of completion of work in progress at the
reporting date and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

MR2024F12A31H - ESEENGEERERVE - EREM
e EBEEEFER2024F12A3MBNEEEAARE
802,596,0007T ' 1 EEEBEEEM18% °

BEREFEEAAE 2R FEMETNREEGE - JRRF
EREEEEZE BEXBEMERNMGEE  RN@E A=K
R mE AR RIEH I E SR PR AR - RIERIHE &

—_
IE °

Our audit procedures to assess valuation of
inventories included the following:

e Obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of management’s
key internal controls over inventory
management;

e Obtaining an understanding of
management’s basis of estimating the net
realisable value;

e Performing a retrospective review of
the historical accuracy of the prior year
estimates, discussing any significant
variances with management and
considering whether there was any
indication of management bias;

BPARFAEFERENETEFEEATS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2R ()

Key audit matters (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BARETEE

FRETSEE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREF P RE

The selling prices of the Group’s pipe products are mostly
affected by the price volatility of raw materials and commodities
caused by economic environment. Management assesses the level
of provisions for inventories required at each reporting date after
considering the raw materials prices. This assessment involves
significant management judgement and estimation.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the Group’s total assets, and
because determining the net realisable value involves significant
management judgement and estimation, which can be inherently
subjective and increase the risk of error or potential management
bias.

EREEHE RO BB ERERER T REREER
DOFE - EREELBRMAERR - BIPERE RS R
BT EBEAT © Ly REATEE AN R -

B FEHERESBERENSZE  RESEY BESEAE
ENERN - AREERERHES RENERE @ LG
&S HE R EAE L e BB M E - AMg 7 HiEsE
EEEERILNER

Evaluating, on a sample basis, the
reasonableness of the estimated selling
prices of pipe products, with reference to
selling prices as indicated in sales order or
sales invoices subsequent to the reporting
date for the finished goods or market prices
for raw materials and work in progress,
and the reasonableness of the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated
selling costs with reference to historical
information; and

Re-performing the calculations made
by management in arriving at the net
realisable values of the inventories, on a
sample basis.

MEFHEEVEMBELESENSIEE(ES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

BB R ()
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2R ()

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

BB R ()
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2R ()

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Man Wai.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBREkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) £ Z=20244 12 A31H 1F F/Z (U R EZIR)

2024 2023
202445 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MI5E AR¥T T AREFIT
Revenue & 4 3,292,264 3,850,020
Cost of sales $HE R AN (3,028,901) (3,321,840)
Gross profit EX 4(b) 263,363 528,180
Other income Hiplg A 5 67,320 45,106
Selling expenses SHERY (142,273) (156,967)
Administrative expenses TR (187,871) (174,957)
Profit from operations R 539 241,362
Finance costs BhE Ak AN 6(a) (86,858) (88,994)
(Loss)/profit before taxation Biar(EE) 7@ 6 (86,319) 152,368
Income tax P38 7 9,253 (17,845)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to <2 TR RES
equity shareholders of the Company FR(ER) 2T (77,066) 134,523
Other comprehensive income FREMEE RS
for the year (after tax): (Bi&) :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to E & Al 5EEF 7 A 2 1875 7Y
profit or loss: IEH -
— Exchange differences on translation into — 8 A 25| EEEHE
presentation currency & (6,572) (3,804)
Total comprehensive income for the year Zx2 TR IR R EAS
attributable to equity shareholders of FREZHEKREEE
the Company (83,638) 130,719
(Loss)/earnings per share SR(EE), BRI 10
Basic (RMB) HAR(AREE) (0.05) 0.09
Diluted (RMB) HE(ARK) (0.05) 0.09

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial £204E275B MM TR ZEMBREN—T
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of % o FERZANA FHEZRIRE IR B 2 sHIEE A M
the Company are set out in Note 23(d). 23(d) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) 820244 12 531 H (A E#%I7R)

2024 2023
202445 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M5E AR¥T T AREEFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NG 11 1,967,581 1,781,575
Deferred tax assets FEREFRTBE & 184 146
1,967,765 1,781,721
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 13 802,596 576,105
Trade and bills receivables E 5 eI I el = ik 14 1,280,584 1,270,182
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE{I 3B - 4 KR EH
FEMI IR 15 46,117 69,798
Cash at bank and on hand RITMFERE 16 412,136 432,589
2,541,433 2,348,674
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables B S EARIBRENERE 17 837,921 724,571
Other payables and accruals Hib e RBE R EE R 18 123,949 136,129
Interest-bearing borrowings SERER 19(a) 1,515,795 1,176,235
Lease liabilities HERE 4,220 3,680
Current taxation BNHEARL A 21(a) = 5,904
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 2,481,885 2,046,519
_Netcurrentassets =~ #RBEEFH 59,548 . 302,155
_Total assets less current liabilities ~~~ HEAEARBAK 2,027,313 2,083,876
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 19(b) 696,808 591,262
Lease liabilities HEaE 388 4,107
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 21(b) 5,654 16,423
Deferred income IRIEWRA 22 9,429 10,986
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 712,279 622,778
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,315,034 1,461,098
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B #iE 23
Share capital [i):d 134,563 134,518
Reserves i 1,180,471 1,326,580
TOTAL EQUITY FEREAEE 1,315,034 1,461,098

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2025.

Meng Fanyong
=NE
Chairman
1

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial %
P2

statements.

Zhang Hongyao

RALIR

Director

EF

202593 A3 1 BEES S E MIRHET I -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

f"' \%E%Eb %

nVT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z20244F 12 531 H 1- F/Z (AN R #SIR)

Share Share  Treasury Capital Other  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium shares reserve Teserves resene profits equity
Rr RREE ERROBE  AfRE  EMEE  EXGE  REFE  EsLE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETL ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Note 23(b)  Note 23(c)() Note 23(c)(i) Note 23(c)ii) Note 23(c)iy) Note 23(c)v)
W30 ME2300  MER230)  WE00)  HE30N 300
Balance at 1 January 2023 RUBF1R1ANES 134,140 119,162 (49.213) 9,01 560,118 (6,763) 637,845 1404300
Changes in equity for 2023: MOBENERES:
Profitfor the year EREF - - - - - - 13453 134523
Other comprehensive income EAENE - - - - - (3.804) - (3,804)
Total comprehensive income PENEES - - - - - (3804 134513 130,719
Shares issued under share option scheme BERRE SRR 38 4,184 - - - - 1826
Dividends approved in respect of EERHENRSHE2300)
the previous year (Note 23(a)(i) - (53,892) - - - - - (53,892)
Equity settled share-based transactions (Note 20)  WEREE MR BERHZ 5
(i20) - - - 7426 - - - 7426
Shares held for share award plans (Note 23¢)(i) 5Tk B BB B HRY
(W23000) - - (9 - - - - (9
Appropriation to reserves ERoRE - - - - 14,316 - (14319) -
________________________________________________________ ELL L O L L 111 N L4
Balance at 31 December 2023 RNBENRBHER 134,518 69,454 (78.494) 13,701 574434 (10567) 78,05 1461098

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial

statements.

552042275 B MM R A L F M IS KR ) — &P
e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
memmZ2E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z20244F 12531 H 1- F/Z (AN E#SIR)

Share Share  Treasury Capital Other  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium shares reserve reserves reserve profits equity
ke ROEE EFkfiRk  E5BR  ABEE  EXRE  REAE  EREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR ARWTZ ARBTr ARBTR ARETR  ARMTR AR¥TR
Note 23(b) Note23(c)) Note23(c)(ii) Note23(c)(ii) Note23(c)iv) Note 23(c)(v)
M) MEZ3(0)  WE(O6)  WE23(00  KE30M)  KEBOW

Balance at 1 January 2024 R2024E1R1B RER 134,518 69454  (78494) 13701 574434 (10567 758052 1,461,098
Cangesieqiyfor2s  RouEmEE®®: 0
Profit for the year ERgH - - - - - - (1.066)  (77,066)
Other comprehensive income Hih2EE = = = = = (6,572) = (65572)
Total comprehensive income 2ENAEE - - - - - (657)  (17.086)  (83,639)
eisedudrseopionsene  REBRESEEGNES 0 &5 8 - o - - -

Divicends approved in respect of

SLERREORS (Ba230)0)

the previous year (Note 23(c)i) - (54,740) - - - - - (54,740)

Equity settled share-based transactions (Note 20) MERAEINR BERER 5
(Wz20) - 3513 8,885 7913 - - - 203
Shares held for share award plans (Note 23(c)f)) ~ 5tik (&It ElE BRI W23 )) - - (29,183) - - - - (29,183)
. SO ... MO CLv N - R R S L)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R024E12831 B e 134,563 19,695 (98,792) 21,287 574,434 (17,139) 680,986 1,315,034

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial $204F275B MM TBKZEIT BRFH — 50
e

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
nVT\ Iﬁlﬁﬂlbi%‘:{

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z20244 12831 H 1 & (YA RHEFT)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T ARETTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELERERE
(Loss)/profit before taxation FRar(EsE),FE (86,319) 152,368
Adjustments for: BATEIEELAE
Depreciation expenses ERX 6(c) 139,594 135,281
Finance costs BhE R AN 6(a) 86,858 88,994
Interest income FILEMA 5 (3,213) (4,189)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEDE BENRKRESN
plant and equipment 18, (W) F5 5 290 (58)
Amortisation of deferred income IEIEU A 5 22 (1,557) (1,556)
Equity-settled share-based payments LARERS S5 E AR 1D A ETE
0NN PN 6(b) 20,311 7,426
Net loss/(gain) arising from derivative TTESRMIAEER
financial instruments B8 (W) F5E 5 — 3,739
Changes in working capital: EBEESE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEMm, R (226,491) 177,812
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5 B IE R EREE
byl (10,402) (173,996)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TENFRIAE ~ e REME
other receivables W SRIAIE BN (7,199) (1,290)
Increase in trade and bills payables B S RNFIERENEE
0 17 113,350 163,574
Decrease in other payables and accruals H b FIE N ERTE R
NERAN (17,905) (70,279)
Net decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits =R #I1F R4~
(1% bm@aa,é 16(a) 11,667 (22,308)
Cash generated from operations REFBES 18,984 455,518
Income tax paid BTFEH 21(a) (8,066) (20,550)
Net cash generated from RETHAEREFE
operating activities 10,918 434,968
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELERERE
Payments for acquisitions of property, IWHEMZE ~ B KRR tE Y
plant and equipment (N (328,960) (126,731)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE MEED
plant and equipment FrSs0R 1,718 1,460
Net proceeds/(payments) in investments BESRIE/ (RTR)F8 31,485 (26,795)
Net payments for settlement of forward REIINEE S ERNR
foreign exchange contracts HEE = (100)
Interest received BHFIE 3,213 4,189
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFTABSEE (292,544) (147,977)

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial  £5204ZF 2758 WM ST A XS M G &) — B

statements. S o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
HERETREBR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z=20244F 12 531 H 1 F/Z (AN B #ZIT)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE AR¥T AREFTT

Cash flows from financing activities RETHELERSRE
Proceeds from bank and other RITREAET BB

interest-bearing borrowings FR1S 708 16(b) 1,276,377 650,861
Repayment of bank and other BERITREAMET BEK

interest-bearing borrowings 16(b) (831,271) (822,420)
Proceeds from issuance of shares BRI FTS5RIA 23(b) 1,186 1,826
Payments for shares held for AR R EIF B

share award plans F&AD ST 3R 23(c)ii) (29,183) (29,281)
Capital element of lease rentals paid Eﬁfﬂffﬂiﬂ’]ﬁzﬁ*ﬂﬁ 16(b) (3,969) (3,427)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BHAERSNF B 16(b) (336) (492)
Interest paid BERFE 16(b) (86,454) (86,278)
Dividends paid BERERE 16(b) (54,461) (53,892)
Withdrawal of restricted deposits IREVZ IR H5 50 16(a) - 24,745
Net cash generated/(used) in BEFEAE(FTA)

___financing activities REeF®E 271,889 (318,358)

Net decrease in cash and cash HeRESEENRD FE

equivalents (9,737) (31,367)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EZXSHHRERES

and cash equivalents ZEBYHNEE 951 1,501
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNRERBFLEEY

beginning of the year 16(a) 351,192 381,058
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRAESRAEEEY

end of the year 16(a) 342,406 351,192

The notes on pages 204 to 275 form part of these financial — 55204% 2758 MM s A 2 5 0 7% 3k A — B

AN

statements. 77 °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR AR ML

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

1 Corporate information

Dalipal Holdings Limited (the “Company"”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 28 August 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 8 November 2019 (the “Listing Date").
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the development, manufacture and sale
of oil and gas pipes, new energy pipes and special seamless
steel pipes and other products.

Material accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the "IASB™) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

1

AREF
ENEERERAT(ARARALIR20184F8
A28 RIERAESHE XM FE2R2E(RTE)
(1961 FFHEIFEN + LA RIBFT)NFEE
HEAMK L AEREER AR - AARK
HR2019F 11 A8B ([ LB ) EH B
AR GMBRAR([BRAT])ERET < &
REIREWBAR(GE AERE])EE/RSE
F% « BERKIHERBAARBE - FER
BEREREENEAREMER °

BEREBER

(a) &=
ZEMBRRELREE @ ERIEE
2 ([HResrEBEE ) BHNE
BRAMNBEBRTERES ST ERRTER
AUEHIMHEER TRE - IWEPHERE
NHFEEEHAERSMBERARES L
TR BT _ETAR A ) &y A4 165 -
AEBERMNDERSHTBRERERENT
\X o

RS EREE S BMmE T RIFRE
BREEAEANETA - ZFEAR
REE A S HIRE B IR £ AR
FHRA - BRERZETEAKEERED
#a] M B RTERIPT 5| B A R B 75
BRARBRO AR HEOEAER
BURE E 2 HPNMEE2(C) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 comprise the Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
derivative financial instruments and investments in equity
securities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out in Notes 2(e) and 2(f).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

2 ERETTEHEE)
(b) HBHRMRERE

HZE2024F 12 A31HILFEMGZEEH
BHRRETEAEBNIEHRE -

BV EREAPIEANERERES
PRAESE - HPTAE SR T ARRAES
BRERRFEFIIRRRIN GRANHT E2(e) &
2()EFI S FTBERPIEAL)

RENTBBERMBRE ST ME
BEATEEEBFELHE - HerMNRE
& MREHE - A NRREFER
ROERAREE - 8fF WAEH
HEREEE - R F bt RAERRRRE
BELRMEZFENTRASBEEN
HibZIREREL - HERBRHE T
HRHMREBANEERBEREE
MER - BERERAEEINZSHA
e

ZEMFT RAERRREELEEER
A1 o RANEEHAR BRI B EIERTE
HEAR - RN BAMIRERR - anE BER]
HEHNARBEOETE - MERH
ERTHE L B RoR SR BRI RERR o

ERENEABERMEHRE ST ERR
FRYEh BB IS IR B EAF B A A
KAl st A REE = 6 E B AR M EE3

R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AN
)

BRI E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents of RMB342,406,000 may not be sufficient to
finance its capital expenditure of RMB1,029,861,000 within
twelve months after the reporting period, in view of net
cash outflow during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Under such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have been undertaking certain measures to improve the
Group's liquidity and financial position, including:

(i) The Group has obtained long-term project loan to
cover most of its capital expenditure. The undrawn
balance of the loan was RMB749,000,000 as at 31
December 2024.

(i) Regarding bank and other borrowings of
RMB1,515,795,000, the Group is actively discussing
with its banks for renewal of bank borrowings. Based
on historical experience, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group will be able to either renew or
obtain new banking facilities to supplement liquidity
of the Group at adequate level during the next twelve
months. Up to the date of this report, the Group has
either renewed or refinanced bank borrowings of
RMB447,151,000 subsequent to 31 December 2024,
and

(iii) The Group has been developing new customers and
new markets, and maintaining strong relationship with
current principal customers to generate more operating
cash inflows.

In addition to above measures, as at 31 December 2024,
the Group has unused credit facility of RMB608,617,000 to
meet its potential liquidity needs. The directors are of the
opinion that there are no material uncertainties related to
events or conditions which, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
the directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

2 ERETTEHEE)
(b) BB RMEERE ()

MR2024F 12 A31H © ERE £2024
FNANBLEFEMNFRESRL
FEBNREREcEFEVARE
342,406,000 7 7] BE T B LA 32 it 72 5R
HEHETZEAARNMNERATHARE
1,029,861,0007C ° FELLIBER T + AR
RIEEBC IS THEANRE RN ERD
mENIE R TSRO - B

() AEBEEESEHEEER U
MERBHOERZH o 72024512
A318 @ ZERNRIRRHEAA
R #749,000,0007T °

i)y EBRB|ITREMERARE
1,515,795,000 ¢ @ 7 £ B IE 7& &
HERITRA B IERITERAER - 1B
BRATER E2RA A5E
HEEEME AR+ BB REE K
ESTHNIRITREHEE  UflxsE
EREHREE  BHEARER
B REBDR2024%F 128318
BEEINBREBRTEIARE
447,151,0007C

(i) AEB-—BEEREHNZL M H
5 WERBTBEPRFREN
BAR - MBIEEZEERERA -

Br EatRE SN - 722024512 A31H -
KNEE B AR608,617,0007TH) &
BREEEEE  UntHEBENRBE
FK - EBEEBMRA  TFEESEHLIE
NEBENERTHEERNE - ERELER
S RBHE AEEN2024F 12 A31
BB ECLERENELEEARMN - &
It BEEMRA  UISFEKE BERE
BAHYERREEEM o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 2 ERSTER(E)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (c) EFtBEREF

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS AEBERE ST ERNZ S KR

Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these financial EXERFEReEREBEESEMAMUT

statements for the current accounting period: KIS FT BB B RS @ s B @ sHiE

E

e Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial o (FREsHER|E 15— MERKT
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or WY — BB ESEATEE
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments Bt IR B B E([2020F 5T 1) &
to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements — Non- (BBt R E 19 — B HhRT|
current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”) RYRMEET — AR LI FE B B

E([20224F1&3T 1)

e Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a o (BRI BmELEAE 165 —HE)
sale and leaseback WG] —E#R LT HHEEE F

e Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and o (HERest£RETHR-—IRNEHEE
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier EVFMCE BB & 3R &5 B 55798 —
finance arrangements SR ITEYNBE] - WE—HER

BEZHE

None of these developments have had a material effect i R b1 Ak 7N = B AN HA ok AT ER

on how the Group’s results and financial position for HEMBI B mEls 2IRESE AR

the current or prior periods have been prepared or SFE . REFEARBIMHMAELAEET

presented. The Group has not applied any new standard AR A A FTAE Rl SRR o

or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 ERETTEHEE)
(d) B H

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(d) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any related non-controlling interests and other components
of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)).

MERREAREZFINES - EAK
BRI AR AN ERERNET NS
BIEOH - BAENTTHRAHERNE
NEEZFREHE - NEBENHERE
BESIHE - (B A REB S IRE RIES

RFEE AR AGEMBRE B
BREHIREEER R -

EIW’“‘Tﬁﬁ%&*% tA&EIW’A

(I’Eﬁl\[ %TE Kf@l\)%b(}fiiﬁ 3L
MR AR 5 B A ) R 3R R 1R A R
SR ER U - EERNE
BREEFEBRNER

7 E B B A A RS RS TR
S - AERRIER B -

EAREEREHE AR R %MEHT
HE®RIIERAMBARIZEERARD
Eﬂ*ﬁf%ﬁ Pttt K H b i as EEX
o (R i E AL 2 BB R AR
R o RATM B A RRE 2 (EMEEER
EEHIERIR AT ESE -

ZAUNEI: 0L bt s N = PN
RERKANRRERETIR(F2H
FIEE2()(i))
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 ERETTEHEE)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(e) Derivative financial instruments

(f)

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage
its foreign currency exposures. Embedded derivatives
are separated from the host contract and accounted for
separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and
certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with changes therein
recognised in profit or loss, except where the derivatives
qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedges of net
investment in a foreign operation.

Investments in equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see Note
24(e).

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL,
unless the investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income (“OCI"). Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is made for a
particular investment, at the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings and not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

(e) FTESRMTI A

()

ARERHEITES BT ANERINER
@ MEGNUFERMEERTEET
B AIBRAXTETAETANDH
WEBAR °

TESRT AT EAFEFE - FER
WA EFENEBIMER AR - H
WTE TANERSRELITEIE
SNRFGIF IR E BRI RIBRSN ©

RERAFEF
ENNG] DR
HIRBOBERIIMT -

AEEBHE

BERERAEBAZEE HEZR
BEAERMRIEER - ZERENS
BAFEMNEEZRER A (MR
AnEstABR(EAFES AEBZE])
FAEARSKAEENBERNERMN
ZERERIN IR - BEAKNEE 0
ETert TEMAFENGRA  RME
24(e) °

REAREFNRE DB REAFERFTA
1B - BRIFRIREAIFFIEEERE -
BAAREER )R TR HH i E =
BEZREREAFEFARMEEK
@ ([mAFEF AR EEKE ) (T
AEE)  UBRATENREZHNE
b2 ek ([ b 2 EU s ) R o
BREEZERN TAEL - HEEHTT
ARBZREN G EmERR T AE
e WEEREREFLARERE - b
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BARAFESABRRIIRAFESA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see
Note 2(j)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and

equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,

2 ERETTEHEE)

(9)

W% - BMERRE

ME - BELRRERAKKN(BEER
{EtE KA ) B Rt T & MR R &
IR ERTR IR CRHTE2())

W - BERREEE FNEKRID

BRI RIERER - RIFHE®E

JFK%& R TV IR E (X ZAMKES
) e

JAEIEE EEREM
SFER o

HEME - BER
Wk s BRI

WEDNERERENE G A ERES

plant and equipment less their estimated residual values, HE DY - R LR ETE B K
if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated OREGERSGEE(NE)  X—BR
useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss. BEMER o
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative RE R R ECEHIR - W% - BB &K
periods are as follows: EEETRIEAF AN T -
Estimated useful lives
fhEt A e A HB
Plant and buildings 20-40 years
R K 2T 20404
Machinery and equipment 3-15 years
W28 MR 3E15%F
Vehicles and other equipment 3-8 years
IR R EL A 5% 3E8F
Right-of-use assets Over the term of lease
EREEE HEHR
Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual WERE - LA AEHRRFIRER
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate. REFETRY - WEBZERAE -
Intangible assets (h) B EE
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or BT N EERTERZANER

loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only
if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible, future
economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to
and has sufficient resources to complete development and
to use or sell the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised development
expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

EHERBERAR AR SEHDET & Euujz
TERM EREELERTT  HAEEES
ARG ENz - WEAEEEEMAR
BRMERTHAZELN AL ERH
BENBERT AERAXIATURER
b BRI REARNEGRER - BX
{EFAEE PR AN BE TR IR AR AR R 51 85 A
R EEEY AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As alessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
item, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the
associated lease payments are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

2 ERETTEHEE)

() HEEE

AEERENFRERIGEABAORE
BHEXESHE - WA S/BRERKE
M #s T — BRI FE) A4 1 R 28 51| B EE
FRHIHER - Rl HIR EAIER - EEP
BRETERDHAIEE  WHEZ
REESETRAKENmNBERT -
QA TEHIHE -

(i) 1EBABEA
AEHEMS - WANEaHEE
ERRER D MIFEHEKRE D - A&
BiEENE D FFEEAKE D KA
SEHEEEKE D R EATEEAE
HEERE DY RE—HEEAK

25 -

RAERIGH B - AREERE
REEENEERAR - HHED12(E
ASATHEREE MEEEERE
HERS - EAKEEEEEE
FIMHER - AKEREHHEER
ERBHHEEERL - HE R
HENHKAREARL - R HEHES
B RRELEN BT HER -

EHHEEA R HEREBENN
NHEBRNENEENRERES
[ 2 R (WA R ERBN 8
)R ERENXMANIRE
MR - R HREK  MERER
B AR MASHIERE
BRAZAMER - HEHERERIT
EFT AL IFBURR e BRI R 2 7]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 2 EREFEK(E)
(i) Leased assets (Continued) (i) HEEE(E)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) 1EEEBAE)
The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is B HEE NPT RER R (FE B RE
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises BEVNLSEKAStZ  HeEHREE
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any BEZVBSEENFAE B S 2B
lease payments made at or before the commencement FRZAMBEENT - IMEREE
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an Z A E R AR A R AR R B AR
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the FEE  SMEMRBAEESNEBEE
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or EfE 2 EE A - RS U
the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives B ERAEER - FHEEER
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated B AR BT E L BEEEY
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment BR (RBIRE2(g) 2 2()i)) ©

losses (see Notes 2(g) and 2(j)ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately RETERS UL A FE TR
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the PR i FA P R B SE A ARG T 2 A9 FERR R
accounting policy applicable to investments in non- FERENSTHREAFERESE
equity securities carried at amortised cost (see Notes 2 B 51 BR (LB 5 2(0)(i) K2 2)() ) e
2(t)(ii) and 2(j)(i)). Any excess of the nominal value over BeMEEBEBBYEAFED
the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted for as e BEEINBE KT - I
additional lease payments made and is included in the sTAFEREEERA -

cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change EREE S R BRI E R
in future lease payments arising from a change in HEE)  EAREFEBEAEIEFIRE
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's BEREMSOETEEHEIRE(L -
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under NENEERERERTEEE -
a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes BRI R IEEAT G RE - B
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, EHHEHEBE HEEARE
extension or termination option. When the lease FEtEHEaGR  eHERES
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding EMNEREMEELDAEAZE  RE
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the AREENEREEDARZES @ 1
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the TR SRS AR o

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a BHEBR  EHEHER L
lease modification, which means a change in the scope B HE SR ERFEHNA
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not ERBRAE L BEBEIRE
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such ABEBNHEE ARE - BINESHHE
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In EQBEETETE - BIHLEBER
this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the T HEABREBELEIINHEER
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised KL EERE - FAHSIEETHELE

discount rate at the effective date of the modification. RIETENREBEFHAE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 EAFEBER(A)
() AEEE)
() 1EBRBEAH)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

(ii) As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease
is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with Note

2(t)(i).

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease

receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL"s) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables) and lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 EAFEBER(A)
() EEBEXEEEREE)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease

() ZBTAHEEBRXRENBEEH

receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment,
that includes forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held).

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
— a breach of contract, such as a default;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They
are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the
assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 2(t)(i)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set
out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECLs
(see Note 2(j)(i)) and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration becomes unconditional (see Note
2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see Note 2(t)(i). A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised (see Note 2(m)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(t)(i)).

(m)Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration and only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note 2(j)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs
(see Note 2(j)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequently,
these borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(v).

(q) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using
the Binomial Option Pricing Model for share options
granted or at the fair value of the shares granted at
the grant dates. The amount is generally recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the number of awards for which the related service
conditions are expected to be met, such that the
amount ultimately recognised is based on the number
of awards that meet the related service conditions at
the vesting date. The equity amount is recognised in
the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring.

(r) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax.
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 ERETTEHEE)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries
in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised,;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(®

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the use by others of the Group’s
assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from
the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties such as value added tax or other sales
taxes.

—  Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

If the products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(t) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are
recognised as an integral part of the total rental
income, over the term of the lease. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is
not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of
interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are recognised as deferred income and
subsequently recognised as other income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of
the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(u) Translation of foreign currencies

(v)

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(w) Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
assessed to determine if they are business or asset
acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the
Group chooses to apply a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is an asset rather
than business acquisition, when substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or Group of similar identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
do not constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is
allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities
based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.
An exception is when the sum of the individual fair values
of the identifiable assets and liabilities differs from the
overall acquisition cost. In such case, any identifiable assets
and liabilities that are initially measured at an amount
other than cost in accordance with the Group’s policies are
measured accordingly, and the residual acquisition cost is
allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and liabilities
based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.

(x) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(x) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MRS ER R M E ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

3 Accounting judgements and estimates

Note 24(e) contain information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to fair value of financial instruments. Other
key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Expected credit losses for receivables

The credit losses for trade and other receivables are
based on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, which
are based on the Group’s past collection history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For details of the key
assumptions and inputs used, see Note 24(a). Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional loss allowances in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

3 Accounting judgements and estimates
(Continued)

(b) Depreciation

(c)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, after taking into account the estimated residual
values. The management of the Group reviews the
estimated useful lives and residual values, if any, of the
property, plant and equipment regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be
recorded during any reporting period. The determination
of the useful lives and residual values, if any, are based
on historical experience with similar assets and taking into
account anticipated changes on how such assets are to
be deployed. The depreciation expense for future periods
is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. These estimates are based on current
market conditions and historical experience of distributing
and selling products of a similar nature. They could change
significantly as a result of changes in market conditions.
Management reassess the estimations at each end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

4 Revenue and segment reporting 4 WamRkoIHE
(a) Revenue (a) Wz
The Group is principally engaged in the development, AEBTENEHRE  ENEELHA
manufacture and sale of oil and gas pipes, new energy KARFEE - FeRBE NIk 455
pipes and special seamless steel pipes and other products. BEUAREMER - AEBAKRERE
All of the revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in —FHEER - EERNEEZRPET
time. The customers obtain control of the products when MR R R TEESE - RPERE
they are delivered to and have been accepted at premises Hizmhlik - Splh SIS AL SR8 E A -
determined by the customers. Acceptance notes are M S TN sz B ZE R o

generated and revenue is recognised at that point in time.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EIEEREAPHELADHURZERM
by major products is as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Sales of oil and gas pipes HEAQRAKXKARAE 2,196,399 2,459,943
Sales of new energy pipes and HEFRERFAE MR EE
special seamless steel pipes & 1,095,865 1,331,897
Sales of other products HEHMESR - 58,180
3,292,264 3,850,020
Revenue from customers with whom transactions have HZE2024F12831BILEFE » HEX
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue for the year ended PR EE Y EERI0%NE P EER
31 December 2024 is as follows: Was AT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBET T
Customer A ZEA 508,400 396,268
Customer B ZFB @ 392,067
Customer C ZFEC * 385,915
*  Transactions with these customers did not exceed 10% of the Group’s * RIEREE  BZZEEFHNRHWERIBAR
revenue in the respective year. EEWEE10% ©
Details of concentration of credit risk arising from the EFEAEERFNEESTRRFE

Group's customers are set out in Note 24(a). IR E24(a) °



Z 3 O Dalipal Holdings Limited 3 /) 42 A% A BR A A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

4 Revenue and segment reporting
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by products. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following three
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

e Oil and gas pipes: this segment includes primarily the
manufacture and sale of oil and gas pipes.

e New energy pipes and special seamless steel pipes: this
segment includes primarily the manufacture and sale of
new energy pipes and special seamless steel pipes.

e Other products: this segment includes primarily the
manufacture and sale of other products.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s most senior executive management monitors
the results attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
during normal operations. No inter-segment sales have
occurred for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. Assistance provided by one segment to another,
including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is
not measured.

The Group’s other operating income and expenses,
such as other income and selling and administrative
expenses, and assets and liabilities are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly, neither
information on segment assets and liabilities nor
information concerning capital expenditure, interest
income and interest expenses is presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

4 Revenue and segment reporting 4 WamkoIPmE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) 7 EBERE (&)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) DEfE EEREE(E)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments OB E R L E D BRI M A4
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive SBEESATREEABRESH
management for the purposes of resource allocation REEFEE2024F K 2023F12 A
and assessment of segment performance for the years 3MHIEFERNR 2D ZE LT
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below. R e

2024
20244

New energy

pipes and

special

Oil and seamless Other

gas pipes  steel pipes products Total

HERRE

vap RASH
AARAE EARE HitEm st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  AREMTR  ARBTR ARET:R

Revenue from external customers — MNERE F Uz 2,196,399 1,095,865 - 3,292,264
Reportable segment gross profit Al 2D FEF 248,050 15,313 - 263,363
2023
20234
New energy
pipes and
special
Oiland seamless Other
gas pipes steel pipes products Total
MRAE
vayi R
AARAE BT HivEm @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Revenue from external customers NI R E U S 2,459,943 1,331,897 58,180 3,850,020
Reportable segment gross profit Al 2D FEF 399,825 126,841 1,514 528,180
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (R

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

4 Revenue and segment reporting
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(i) Geographic information

The following table set out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenue from
external customers. The geographical information
about the revenue prepared by location at which the
goods were delivered is as follows:

4 Wk oAb E ()

(b) 2B = (&)
(i) HEEF
TR BARERINI TP U
B IR B B R o R @it
FEVE RIS IR E RN ¢

2024 2023

20245 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Mainland China R B (A 3, 2,913,940 2,862,847
Overseas: GAN

The Middle East AR 236,750 560,066

Africa JEM 72,508 322,605

Southeast Asia e 2,416 5,675

Others Hib 66,650 98,827

_______________________________________________________________________________ 378324 98/,173

3,292,264 3,850,020

All of the Group’s non-current assets are located in
the PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on
geographical location of the assets is provided.

A58 [ T 3 B B EE S R o
- EU - BRI ENIRG
BRI HDBHI -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

5 Other income 5 Hflg A
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETIT

Government grants (including amortisation EtfiT# B (B IERAEU ALY -

of deferred income, see Note 22) BM¥22) 31,292 24,018
Interest income FE WA 3,213 4,189
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of HEEMYE - BENMERED

other property, plant and equipment (&1R), W FH (290) 58
Net foreign exchange gain PE H Uz H = 11,157 5,727
Net gains on sale of scraps raw materials  $5& B[R MK AUz 558 18,728 9,512
Rental income WA 2,978 2,974
Net loss arising from forward ERHIER S HNEENBIEFHE

exchange contracts - (3,739)
Others Hi 242 2,367

67,320 45,106
6 (Loss)/profit before taxation 6 FiAT(E5IE), FHE
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ Al (EsE)  FIBbEMER (BT A) T3&
(crediting): HEESE

(a) Finance costs (a) BERA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Interest expenses on borrowings AN B X 79,645 80,093
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENEME 336 492
Others Hih 6,877 8,409

86,858 88,994
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

R IR R M ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

6 (Loss)/profit before taxation (Continued)

6 BiAl(EE), T

(b) Staff costs* (b) E TR
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREAMETR 218,107 206,482
Contributions to defined contribution  FEEHFURIRETEIH

retirement plan 14,516 13,688

Equity-settled share-based payment AR A E LA D A AR
expenses (Note 20) RRESZ (Hat20) 20,311 7,426
252,934 227,596

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong SAR) participate in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local government authority. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated
based on a percentage of the defined salaries level in
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong SAR), from the above-
mentioned retirement plan at their normal retirement age.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong
Dollar (“HK$") 30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above
contributions.

AEBERE(TEEEBFIITTHR)
7 H Y B 8 B 2 B 75 IR R FT
B EREFURKBAIGE - ZFH
BARNEEZIEEERRFRES
BE AR LAURKGET 8RR RE R (R P
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([aEeTE]) - BRESFETIABIL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

6 (Loss)/profit before taxation (Continued) 6 Biai(EsE) FE

(c) Other items (c) Hf1EH
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Depreciation expenses* (Note 17) WERSH(HET1)

- owned property, plant and equipment —BEEBWE  ME MRE 128,980 125,132
— right-of-use assets —(FHEEE 10,025 9,733
— Leasehold improvements —HEMHERE 589 416

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) =R,/ (#[E]) B 5 fEUW K IE
on trade receivables (Note 14(b)) BB 140)) 548 (422)

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) EF&33,(#[E]) BRI 3B K
on prepayments and other receivable H b W R IE R E 18

(Note 15) (H1a£15) 626 (17)
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 B 7 B

— audit services —EE IR 2,100 2,323

- non-audit services —EBET IR 1,100 1,030

Research and development costs AR N 36,188 40,397

Cost of inventories* (Note 13(b)) FERA(H7E130b)) 3,028,901 3,321,840

# Cost of inventories include RMB241,880,000 (2023: RMB238,961,000) R BERABIEEES THRA RSN AHE

relating to staff costs and depreciation expenses, which amounts are () AR #E 241,880,000 7T ( 2023 4F : A RIE

also included in the respective amounts disclosed separately above or 238,961,0007T) ' ZESENOHLE S

in Note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses. BB YA LB R ENRIBES B U

FE6(b)A °

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement 7 ZHEEBEREMEEKERPHN

of profit or loss and other comprehensive iRy
income
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) e BEERHMZEKERFHH
profit or loss and other comprehensive income IHig :
represents:
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREFTT
Current taxation (Note 21(a)): BEABLIE (Mat21(a)) :
— Provision for the year — F RS 1,337 16,004
— Under/(over)-provision in —BEFEEETR
respect of prior years (FBRERE) 217 (1,998)
1,554 14,006
Deferred taxation (Note 21(b)): EEBRIE (M Z21(b)) :
— Origination and reversal of —EERBOERER
temporary differences (10,807) 3,839

(9,253) 17,845
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

mealEakAEtEERERPH
Fr&%i (&)

(b) HEX HERERARRAE 2S5
AR

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Loss/profit before taxation BRI FE (86,319) 152,368
Expected tax on loss/profit before TATEE,FEe TR AT -
taxation, calculated at the rates BB R AR E B &R
applicable to profits in the jurisdictions — F{R&H&E (H1520) * (i) X (i)
concerned (Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) (16,791) 38,411
Tax effect on preferential tax rate BEME BB E 2,978 (15,574)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — “NAJHIFL ISz 7 BifE L2 339 408
Tax losses not recognised as RERBIEERIAEER
deferred tax assets TiIAEE 7,616 1,526
Tax effect on bonus deduction of EERR A INEHEIN 2 Fifs o &
research and development costs (3,612) (4,928)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFERETE
prior years (iBEERE) 217 (1,998)
Actual tax expense EEBIEMS (9.253) 17,845

Notes:

(i) The Company and the subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") are not subject to
any income tax pursuant to the rules and regulations of their respective
countries of incorporation.

(i) The Company and the Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries of the
Group are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax, which is calculated at
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits are
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was
calculated at the same basis in 2023.

(iii)  The subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC (excluding Hong
Kong SAR) are subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25%
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%). One of the
subsidiaries was qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise’
and is entitled to the preferential tax rate of 15% for the years ended
31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026.

Mkt

() RIS BEMASIATERRORERARD
ARABRARENFRS S NE G E
BEBHARESE DEMRZAOMEAT
ERRNERPTER -

(i) ARARAEEREBTMALONE R
B RAFEEERTE M8 16.5% (2023
F:16.5%):1E  BRAGHMEFHETEE
BARMAEE —MEHBARIN

BB ARME © #2,000,0007% 7T & R i
i M 128.25% KB R - MR T B R TR
A F3216.5% B B R AT o UM B A RH)
BB ST B IR 2023 AR M E LT E -

(iy HZE2024F12A31ALFE  REERPE
(T EEEAFRTHRIE) KM ERRA
1%25% (20234F 1 25% ) Bt KRR B ST
B -HP—HEMBRARFA BRI EMD
¥ B REZE2024%F ~ 20254 [ 20264F
NANBLFEZHIS%ERRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

8 Directors’ emoluments 8 EEM&
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RBIEBEBRNNEHIEIBMNIER AT (HE
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the EEREZERDEME2NBENEESME
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of T

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors' and benefits- Discretionary scheme payments 2024
fees in-kind honuses contributions  Sub-Total  (Note 20) Total
WA
B4 28 g | ERHNR WUE

EShe RRUBN  BERAL i N WE) it
RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBON  RMBO00
ABMTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTZ  ARBTr  AREIR

Executive directors Yz

M. Meng Fanyong (Chairman) INERE(ZE) - 1,652 126 16 1,794 = 1,794
Mr. Zhang Hongyao RTELAE - 2,365 151 8 2,603 133 273
Ms. Xu Wenhong ik - 993 75 16 1,084 - 1,084
WIr. Meng Yuxiang EFAGE - 1,184 [ 54 1213 - 1273
Ms. Gan Shuya (ote() TRty - 274 19 4 297 - 297
Non-Executive director gz

M. Yin Zhixang BEkik - 613 - - 613 - 613

Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFH7EE

M. Guo Kaigi IrERE 74 - - - 274 - 274
Mr. Wong Jovi Chi Wing TEnE 274 - - - 24 - 24
Mr. Cheng Haitao REELE 4 - - - 4 - 4

8 1,04 446 1 8,486 133 8,619
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

8 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

8 EEME(A)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors’  and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme payments 013
fees -in-kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (Note 20) Total
WA
g2 VG BRI W3
B3t REMEN  BERA {7 N W) @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  AREfR  AREfR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
Executive directors il
Mr. Meng Fanyong (Chairman) ENEREZE) - 1,945 - 16 1,961 - 1,961
Mr. Zhang Hongyao FiIEEE - 18% - 8 1,980 kYl 230
Ms. Xu Wenhong fuat - 851 - 16 867 - 867
Mr. Meng Yusiang ZFRE - 1,164 - 51 1,215 - 1,15
Ms. Gan Shuya Filgxt - 830 - 16 896 155 1,051
Non-Executive director Fa7ES
r. Yin Zhixang Rkht - 709 - - 709 - 709
Independent non-executive directors B iTEE
Mr. Guo Kaig IRERE 20 - - - 0 - 0
Mr. Wong Jovi Chi Wing TEkik 20 - - - 2 . 1m0
Mr. Cheng Haitao REELE 0 - - - 20 - m
810 7445 - 183 8,438 479 8917
Notes: B
() Ms. Gan Shuya resigned as an executive director of the Company on 31 () TFalagezz+mM2024FE3A31BEERRTNITE

(ii)

March 2024.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There
was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

=

(i) AKELTEBAEZZNHE  FERRIIEMALRSE
B NARRER KRR AR - FRESHERE
ERI 2 E L R BRI -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 REHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments two (2023: AEEESEHEALTH  BWKZ(2023F :
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 8. ZVEE HENSHENHNIFs - Hép=4
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (20234 : =) ATHBIS@EINT -

(2023: three) individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Salaries and other emoluments He MEMiNe 14,457 7,095
Share-based payments (Note 20) VAR D BEMER R (A7E20) 1,257 815
Retirement scheme contributions RRET IR 48 48
15,762 7,958
The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and REEREGZRHFATHIIFEESTHALTH
who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group Mo FATEHEA
are within the following bands:
2024 2023
20245 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEX
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 TE 2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 T 43,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$9,500,000 3,500,001/ C%9,500,0007%8 7T 2 -
3
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above AEEAL ER DR EANME - FRES
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group HMARE B INAE ) B kBB A -

or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR B BRI AR ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

10 (Loss)/earnings per share

(a)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 is calculated based on the loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB77,066,000 (2023:
profit of RMB134,523,000) and the weighted average of
1,466,007,000 (2023: 1,470,586,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the weighted average number of ordinary
shares is as follows:

10 B8R (EEB) ER
(a) BREAX(EHE) BF

HE224F12A831BILFENERE
AEBTIEFARNRR ARSI EEN
B 18 A R ¥ 77,066,000 7T ( 2023 F -
A A R #134,523,0007T ) & & 35T
1,466,007,0000% (20234 : 1,470,586,000
%) E AR I HETE -

BRI EUR I T A E

2024 2023
20244 20234
‘000 ‘000
T T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R1ATEMEEITE @R 1,502,668 1,498,468
Effect of shares issued under share BRI EIBITRO T E
option schemes (Note 20(a)) (#13£20(a)) 138 1,110
Effect of shares held for share award TR BT EF A AR A
plans (Note 23(c)(ii)) S (K15F23(c)i)) (36,799) (28,992)
Weighted average number of ordinary 712 8318 & @A IN#E F 5 8
shares at 31 December 1,466,007 1,470,586

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB134,523,000 and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares (diluted) of 1,478,551,000.

The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 has not taken into account the effect of the
outstanding share options and shares held for share award
plans as its inclusion would have decreased the loss per
share, hence anti-dilutive.

(b) EREE(EHE) BF
HZE2023F12A31HILFERNEFRE
SEAR YR A RS R EE R T A
R ¥ 134,523,000t % 1,478,551,000 %
TRR(EE8E) M IETIEETE -

HE2024F12 A31 B It FE TR #
SEEBEHAREEREEREHEM AR
EREHERBENRENTE AAB
EMmAgRIOERER  RAExE
SEYER ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS R AR A ()

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

11 Property, plant and equipment 1 9% BERRKE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREE¥ R

Machinery Vehicles
Plant and and  andother  Construction Right-of- Leasehold
buildings ~ equipment  equipment  inprogress  useassets improvements Total
HERET  REREE RERELRE EEIE  GREEE BEZE &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEfT  ARETr ABETr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Cost S
At 1 January 2023 RNBE1A1A 1,057,973 1407111 KA 3917 286,734 - 2,816,436
Additions HE 57 36,101 3520 8,916 175 2,864 53210
Transter infout) #)/(#1) 90 16314 465 (17679 - - -
Acquisition of a subsidary i/ - - 1 15,863 1773 - 33,598
Disposals HE (944) (2431 (1,774) - - - (5,149)
At 31 December 2023 RUBE1ANA 1,057,986 1,457,095 21610 46,211 306,209 2,804 2,898,095
Additions hE 3 3593 2153 32099 790 54 327,608
Transfer infout) #)/(@1) % 5260 2032 (7,386) - - -
Disposals e (179) (3415 (1,665 - - - (5,259)
At 31 December 2024 R0UENANA 1,057,924 1462533 30,190 359,880 306,999 2918 3,200,444
Accumulated depreciation: ZHiE:
At 1 January 2023 R0BE1A1E (270,236) (638,267) (14,460) - (62,023) - (984,9860)
Charge for the year ERg (33910 (88,203) (3,019 - (9,733) (416) (135,281)
Written back on disposals HERED 1 2,081 1,665 - - - 3747
At 31 December 2023 RNBENANA (304,145) (724,389) (15,814) - (71,756) (@16  (1,116,520)
Charge for the year Emxit (33.921) (92318 (2,741) - (10,025) (589 (13959
Written back on disposals HERER - 2314 877 - - - 3251
M\Deember 24 RNMEWAME (e @433 (76 o e (o) (125863
Carrying amount: BEE:
At 31 December 2024 R0UENANA 719,858 648,200 12512 359,880 25218 1913 1,967,581
At 31 December 2023 RUBENANA 753841 732,706 11.8% 46,271 234453 2448 1,781,575
Notes: Vo2
(i)  The Group's property, plant and equipment are located in the PRC. The (i) AEENYE - BERRELAHE - A
land use rights included in “Right-of-use assets” represent premiums [EREEE | LiEREREREERLR
paid by the Group for land situated in the PRC. The lease terms of B T P BB © S b i R A
these land use rights ranged from 37 to 50 years. FEHIN T 37E506F ©
(i) At 31 December 2024, property, plant and equipment of the (i) HM2024F12A31H  AEEEEEARYE
Group with carrying amounts of RMB1,131,752,000 (2023: 1,131,752,0007T (20235 : AR ¥51,220,828,000
RMB1,220,828,000) have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s TR © BE KRB IR EAREBETEIR

interest-bearing borrowings (see Note 19(d)). TEREERR(RME9)
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11 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book values of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying assets is as follows:

1 9% BEKREE)

(b) EFHEEE
FRESELRABEERNYIRAIRE
SFEDTAT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

BRAEYE -

Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost:

RITERATER -

— Land use rights — TP A 221,017 227,264
— Office premises e YN=L7/ES 4,201 7,189
225,218 234,453

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

RiBmfERNEERBRIER DTN

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: Dk
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use IEEEEEERYRE
assets by class of underlying assets EREEE
(Note 6(c)): WERZ(Mit6() :
— Land use rights — T A 6,247 6,033
- Office premises N NELYES 3,778 3,700

10,025 9,733

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Note 16(c),

respectively.

MERSRHARLEEREIHIER
DITHIREIE D B EBTEE16(c) ©
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12 Investments in subsidiaries
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.

12 R B A TINIRE
o RERE
=% EHHE A TS -

Proportion of ownership interest

oh B/ 4B
Cif 2

REEEE  BE

RERERL
Place of
establishment/
incorporation/
operation and date Particulars of  The Group's
of establishment/  registered/issued and effective  Held by the Held by Principal
Company name incorporation paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiaries activities
R/ 2L/ it/
BEHURAT/ BEAR A5EN HE
AR EMRIAS HERARHE EREE  R0ERE AakAE L)
Dalipal Pipe Company Limited The PRC RMB600,000,000 100% - 100% Design, manufacture
("Dalipal Pipe”) 18 September 1998 AR 600,000,000 and sale of ol and gas pipes,
ENLRAEREARAA i new energy pipes and special
(Notes (i) and (i) 1998594184 seamless steel pipes and
ENERRZREARAT other products
(MEntzme)) Rt HERHEEDM
(W2 0k(i) RARRE  HRAER
HREREE I REER
Agile Rise Global Limited BV United States Dollar 100% 100% - Investment holding
26 April 2018 ("US$") 1, RESR
ABRNES 1 share of US$1 each
WsE4A6A  FR(EL) 1R
SREREZTHRA
Dalipal Hong Kong Company Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100% Sale of oil and gas pipes,
ENEERARAA 19 September 2018 1RER new energy pipes and
&k special seamless steel pipes
201897198 HERRARRRE
M RMAE R REERE
Dalipal (Cangzhou) Industrial Company The PRC RIMB420,000,000 100% - 100% Investment holding
Limited (" Dalipal Industrial ) 14 November 2018 AK420,000,0007 RERRK
BNE (M) EXERAA hE
(Notes i), (i) and (i) 18117148
ENECRMEXARAR
(TENEEZ W) (ki)
Dalipal International for Industry (Notes (i) Saud SAR7,500,000 100% 100% - Note (i)
ENEEBTIE W) 22 August 2024 PRMAREEE sty
asidLi= 7,500,0007C

20458H 228
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12 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the laws and
regulations in the PRC.

(i) This entity was registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the
laws and regulations in the PRC.

(i)  The English translation of the names are for identification only. The official
names of these entities are in Chinese.

(iv)  This entity was registered as a limited liability holding company under
the laws and regulations in the the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Dalipal
International for Industry did not conduct business as at 31 December 2024.

13 Inventories
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of

12 RMTB A RINIRE (&)

EE

U]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

ZERBRETREREMELREREERT
ZEBRBPEIZREIMETRIREDRE -
AW EHBIIMRE - ZSERNE A
WA

I EEREDFMAAEEARERFMABR

NF e FB2024F128318  EHEBEBE T EIL K
PR -

13 78
(a) BEHMBRREFHESIFUT

financial position comprise: K18 :

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR%T ARBTTT

Raw materials R 161,761 161,607
Work in progress RS 353,292 229,809
Finished goods 2URK 298,407 187,191
813,460 578,607
Less: write-down of inventories S TEE MR (10,864) (2,502)
802,596 576,105

As at 31 December 2024, inventories of the Group with
carrying amounts of RMB166,667,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB174,167,000) have been pledged as collateral for the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings (see Note 19(d)).

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

R2024%F 128318 AEBEREREAS
AR #166,667,0007T (2023412 A 31
B ARM174,167,0007T) 752K
FERE B S EFROME R L (R T
19(d)) °

(b) ERRBAMAX AT AKRSBEREN

recognised as expense and included in the FESEIMWT :
consolidated statement of profit or loss is as
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Carrying amount of inventories sold B HEFEHREE 3,018,801 3,320,191
Recognition of write-down of FEMURER
inventories 10,100 1,649

3,028,901 3,321,840
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (SB85) AN EESITR)

MM EZERFTERERE

14 Trade and bills receivables

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFT

Trade receivables B 5 GRIA 466,922 584,533
Less: loss allowance (Note 14(b)) B ESIEREE (At 14b)) (5,977) (5,429)
460,945 579,104

Bills receivables TEINEE 819,639 691,078
1,280,584 1,270,182

All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss allowance, are
expected to be recovered within one year.

The balance of bills receivable represents bank and trade
acceptance notes received from customers with maturity dates
of less than one year.

(a) Ageing analysis
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, of the Group is as

P B B 5 FE W R M R R 1R (FORR B 1R
)RR —F AR E -

R BERIER TP IEMEIH B DR —
FORITMEZDELRIR ©

(a) RRER D AT

AEFBERNZEZAH LR EBRRED
BB EBFIBRREATAT

follows:
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBETIT
Less than 1 month DA 1E A 221,242 354,972
1 to 3 months 1Z231E A 195,637 126,563
3 to 6 months 3Z6fEA 41,025 88,731
Over 6 months Z6fE A 3,041 8,838
460,945 579,104

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 24(a).

(b) Impairment of trade and bills receivables

BRAAEEEREEEBRRMNEZFIEEH
RHIFE24(@) °

(b) EZEWHREARERRENEE

The movements in the loss allowance account are as E R EIRAEEHINT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTIT
At 1 January ®1A1R8 5,429 5,851
Recognition/(reversal) of credit losses R/ (BE)=EE1E
(Note 6(c)) (Ht5te(c) 548 (422)
At 31 December R12A31H 5,977 5,429
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14 Trade and bills receivables (Continued) 14 ES5RNFBEREWEE(E)
(c) Transfer of financial assets (c) EESREE

The Group has discounted certain of the bank acceptance RAREBTHETEETEARP,WERE
notes it received from customers at banks and endorsed 1T TEZHETT T RRIR - Wi H ALy
certain of the bank acceptance notes it received from LEMEBERAEEETEERLIEH
customers to its suppliers and other creditors for settlement RITANIEE DR BREREL
of the Group’s trade and other payables on a full recourse BAREEHWNE S ENRIE L H M ER TR
basis. Upon the above discounting or endorsement, the TH o (LA EFRuiBAIR s A 1% - AEE
Group has derecognised the bills receivables which in PRIETEREWREZE - KARIEER
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group B AREBPDEBZEZENMEREL
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of BRIy R MBI - WE BT E
ownership of these notes and has discharged its obligation HEREMEEANNZIET - %ZEDH
of the payables to its suppliers and other creditors. These BRI ERMIRITA L ZE I EH B ®R
derecognised bank acceptance notes have maturity dates of EHREFTRANER - REERAEX
less than six months from the end of the reporting period. LEENRERTATREE2R TR
The Group considered the issuing banks of these notes TEEERIFEEE = WD HIE R
are reputable banks in China and of good credit quality BRI EE X E TR ] e IR -

therefore non-settlement of these notes by the issuing
banks on maturity is highly unlikely.

The Group’s maximum exposure to loss and undiscounted HEEFEITHRE AR EEE=RE - B

cash outflow should the issuing banks fail to settle the bills REBNEAEREARRS RERE
on maturity dates is as follows: SAIERRINT ¢

At At

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

120245 FA2023%F

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT
Bank acceptance notes RITEH BB 478,535 262,332
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14 Trade and bills receivables (Continued) 14EFERFTEBRERE
(c) Transfer of financial assets () BELREE

The analysis of bills receivables discounted at banks or HRERITAN R S (Mt B E A E

endorsed to suppliers with recourse which were not ZEARAERBNGEAESEAMEER

derecognised as the Group remains to have significant i W R AR IR FEWWETE 2 S AT in
exposure to the credit risk of these bills receivables is as T

follows:

At At

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

142024F #2023

12H31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Bank acceptance notes IRITEHZE 407,627 233,989

Trade acceptance notes B 5EHER 144,950 88,833

552,577 322,822

(d) At 31 December 2024, trade and bills receivables with an (d) ®2024F128318 ' RALEAEAR

aggregate carrying amount of RMB539,225,000 (2023: #5539,225,0007T (20234 : ARKE

RMB404,804,000) have been pledged for the Group's 404,804,0007T) H)'E 5 MUK FRIA K FE

interest-bearing borrowings (see Note 19(d)). WEEERAEBNT EERIELD R

(BFtsE19(d)) -
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15 Prepayments, deposits and other

15 BARIE - RERHMWEVRFRIER

receivables
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBT T
Prepayments for TERTFIE
- purchase of raw materials —BEREME 13,757 15,441
— transportation service and other — BRI R E M FETER S
miscellaneous expenses 7,194 12,852
— other services — EAhBRTS = 30,811
Value-added-tax recoverable AT SHIB(E RS 11,758 439
Income tax prepayments TEZPIEH 608 -
Advance payments TERTFIE = 434
Rental receivables FEU AR & F0E 7,505 5,755
Others At 8,959 7,104
49,781 72,836
Less: loss allowance B EE R (3.664) (3,038)
46,117 69,798

All of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within one

PIETAMNTR » e REMREGIRFARR

—FRREHER R

year.
The movements in the loss allowance account are as follows: EEEEERENEFSHINT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

At 1 January M1A1R 3,038 3,155

Recognition/(reversal) of credit losses ®R(EE) 8k
(Note 6(c)) (Hfite(c)) 626 (117)
At 31 December M12H31H 3,664 3,038
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16 Cash at bank and on hand and other cash 16 RERBFEEEYURHEMIRE

flow information REER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERRLEEYEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Cash at bank RITIRE 408,616 429,982
Deposits with other financial institution 7 E fth & BB A F X 3,512 2,555
Cash on hand FoEES 8 52
Cash at bank and on hand included st AGZABIEHIAN R 2 8RITR
in the consolidated statement of FoEES
financial position 412,136 432,589
Less: restricted deposits (Note (i) W LR EITFER (A EG)) (69,730) (81,397)
Cash and cash equivalents included in st AGAIRERER RS
the consolidated cash flow statement  NIR&ZEEY
342,406 351,192
The Group's operations in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong AEENFR(TEEEBFTHRE)
SAR) conducted its business in RMB. RMB is not a freely EBAANREEE - A\RETFIEHK
convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of the e BESHEEHPBERINABEER
PRC (excluding Hong Kong SAR) is subject to the exchange BRRTIRE) K - A A B
restrictions imposed by the PRC government. HISNE R HIPTEEE ©
Note: Hiat -
(i)  Restricted deposits mainly represent deposits placed at banks as (i) ZREFREZEAEEFRAIRITERT
collaterals for interest-bearing bank borrowings (see Note 19(d)) and BIRITER(RMTE19(d)) RIR1THR 2 -

bank acceptance notes.
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16 Cash at bank and on hand and other cash 16 RERBFEEEYURREMIRES

flow information (Continued) REER(E)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHELENABEHIR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TR AREFER B EERELAEY
from financing activities, including both cash and non- BE) > BIERS MRS EE c BB E
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BMEAAEARS TR (KHED
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows HeEneage ) N AEEEAHRESRE
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow XN AREEHEL RS REZE
statement as cash flows from financing activities. & o
Interest-
bearing Interest  Dividends Lease
borrowings payable payable liabilities Total
FEER  EAME  ERRE  HEEE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETRT
(Note 19) (Note 18)

(Biit19)  (Hii18)

At 1 January 2023 RA2023F1A1A8 1,939,056 4122 - 9,914 1,953,092
Changes from financing cash ~ REHRLHERH :

flows:
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank R &t ERITREMETZ

and other borrowings {5 IE 650,861 - - - 650,861
Repayment of interest-bearing bank B&st 28817 REMER

and other borrowings (822,420) - - - (822,420)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EfTHEREHEALH - - - (3,427) (3,427)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2~ EH&HF EHH - - - (492) (492)
Dividends paid ERRE = = (53,892) - (53,892)
Interest paid BAFE - (86,278) - - (86,278)
Total changes from financing REREREELY

cash flows et (171,559) (86,278) (53,892) (3,919 (315,648)
Other changes: Hih 2% -
New leases entered into FRETIRHEE

during the year - - - 1,300 1,300
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) TSR (Hizea) - 88,502 - 492 88,994
Dividends approved in respect of the §tiB7HEE #t AR S

previous year (Note 23(c)) (Hi223(d) - - 53,892 - 53,892

Total other changes Hth#gusm - 88,502 53,892 1,792 144,186
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16 BERVEFEWUAREMRES
REER(E)
(b) MEFBEENEEHIR(E)

16 Cash at bank and on hand and other cash
flow information (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

Interest-
bearing Interest  Dividends Lease
borrowings payable payable liabilities Total
FTEER RIS ENRE HEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMTR AR¥TR ARETR ARET:R
(Note 19) (Note 18)
(HfzE19) (Hfzt18)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 K
1 January 2024 2024%181A 1,767,497 6,346 - 1,187 1,781,630
Changes from financing HERERESE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from interest-bearing  JREFHEFTREM
bank and other borrowings BRZEEEE 1,276,377 - - - 1,276,377
Repayment of interest-bearing ~ BEBHTRAMER
bank and other borrowings (831,271) - - - (831,271)
Capital element of lease BERHEERENERNS
rentals paid - - - (3,969) (3,969)
Interest element of lease ENREREONEHS
rentals paid - - - (336) (336)
Dividends paid ERRE - - (54,461) - (54,461)
Interest paid BERFIE - (86,454) = - (86,454)
Total changes from financing HERSREEEY
cash flows 445,106 (86,454) (54,461) (4,305) 299,886
Other changes: EthEE -
New leases entered into ERFTIMFAE
during the year - - - 790 790
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FERR (M:266) = 86,522 336 86,858
Capitalization of interests FEEARL - 870 - - 870
Dividends approved in respect of Gt EEH MRS
the previous year (Note 23(d)) (BE23(0) - - 54,740 - 54,740
_Totalotherchanges AtEBE® - 81392 SATAD 1126 143,258
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 2,212,603 7,284 279 4,608 2,224,774
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16 Cash at bank and on hand and other cash
flow information (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement

16 BERVEFEYUAREMRES
REER(E)
() MERSHEAR
HABARSRERNBEETESIMN

for leases comprise the following: TIER
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within operating cash flows BRKEEIReRE 893 _
Within investing cash flows BREERESRE - 452
Within financing cash flows BRRERSRE 4,305 3919
5,198 4,371

17 Trade and bills payables

17 EZRARERENSRE

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Trade payables B SRR 819,081 597,474
Bills payable AN 18,840 127,097
837,921 724,571

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on the

invoice date, is as follows:

BB ZRNFARENZEER/N —F
N#EF - HBRBERERE -

RIEHE AR HERERENE
AR AT

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AREFIT

Less than 1 month DA E A 615,665 568,220
1 to 3 months 1&231E A 151,682 111,300
3 to 6 months 3%&61E A 36,548 30,912
Over 6 months 6fE AU E 34,026 14,139

837,921 724,571
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18 Hit B RIBER BT EA

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Payables for construction of property, R - BB MERIER
plant and equipment e 38 21,278 24,627
Payables for transportation and B MKER XK
utilities expenses JERTFRIA 16,570 33,052
Payables for other taxes EAth T IR A FE 5 FRIE 1,094 11,106
Payables for staff related costs 8 T A B FIE 2,918 1,444
Interest payable FETFIE 7,284 6,346
Dividend payable FERIARE 279 -
Others Hh 12,105 7,197
Financial liabilities measured at DABESHPN ANET 2R
amortised cost TRAE 61,528 83,772
Receipts in advance TEWGRIA 62,421 52,357
123,949 136,129

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled

43z

PrE B R SR K BT B AR R —F

or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on NEE B ER BN - SBRERKERE -

demand.

19 Interest-bearing borrowings

(a) The Group's short-term borrowings comprise:

19 AT EER

(a) ~EENEREREHE

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Bank loans: RITER -
— Secured by the Group’s property, —UAREEME - BE K&
plant and equipment AR 479,000 266,000
— Secured by the Group's trade and —UAEEE 5 ENGIE R
bills receivables and/or restricted RN SR HITER
deposits TEHE A 571,516 384,824
- Unguaranteed and unsecured — EPER N 46,500 117,111
1,097,016 767,935
Add: current portion of long-term 0 REEFZ BNERER
borrowings (Note 19(b)) (H15£19(b)) 418,779 408,300
1,515,795 1,176,235
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19 Interest-bearing borrowings (Continued)
(b) The Group’s long-term borrowings comprise:

19 FHEER ()
(b) @ RIMEREIE -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT
Bank loans: IRITER
— Secured by the Group's property, —UREEYE - HER
plant and equipment FABEE A 759,988 665,262
— Secured by the Group’s inventories  — LAZN & B 17 S /EHK R 100,000 104,500
- Unguaranteed and unsecured — (R IR 163,799 138,000
1,023,787 907,762
Add: Borrowings from a related party 1 : K 5 — &R 5 H)
(Note 26(b)): tER(HizE26(b)) :
— Unguaranteed and unsecured — SR IMEK T 91,800 91,800
1,115,587 999,562
Less: current portion of long-term B REME R Z BNEREE S
borrowings (Note 19(a)) (K17£19(a)) (418,779) (408,300)
696,808 591,262

(c) The Group’s long-term borrowings are repayable

() XEBERBEREBRUTHEMEE

as follows:
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within 1 year 1R 418,779 408,300
After 1 year but within 2 years 1A FE2F AR 484,403 505,300
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F LA E1E5F AR 212,405 85,962
1,115,587 999,562
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19 Interest-bearing borrowings (Continued) 19 FHEER(E)
(d) Certain of the Group’s borrowings are secured d) XEEETEFRAETEETHEE
by the following assets of the Group: VEIRFR :
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB L&

(Note 11(a)) (Brat11(a) 1,131,752 1,220,828
Inventories (Note 13(a)) GE(#i13) 166,667 174,167
Trade and bills receivables B o EWIE N EINEE

(Note 14(d)) (Btat14(c)) 539,225 404,804
Cash at bank and on hand — IRITNFEIRE —

restricted deposits IR B 5K 50,000 50,000

1,887,644 1,849,799
(e) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are subject to the (e) AEBEETRITEFREENN SRS
fulfilment of covenants commonly found in the lending MR ELHRE RARIE - WAKEE
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group REBRE  EREHRBIRERER -
were to breach the covenants, the loans would become AEBTHERHEBTZELENS
repayable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its Mo BERKEEEERABERREMRIE
compliance with these covenants. Further details of the LB EAHIEE24(b) - 7R20244F12 A
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 318 - BiEEREGHEG BRITERNRE
24(b). At 31 December 2024, none of the covenants ’ o

relating to the interest-bearing bank borrowings had been
breached.
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20 Equity settled share-based transactions 20 URERZEEURGAERNRZS
(a) Share option schemes (a) B FESTEI

On 19 June 2019, the Company has adopted pre-IPO MR2019F6 7198 « RARRME IR
share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) FEE g IR E ([ B r A Eq
and share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). BENEREST B ) B RERE ST 2 ([ BERR ST
Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the directors 2] ]) o ABIEE IR AR ER B
of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite 2 AR ESERENSEBAEE
certain directors and senior management of the Group, to HETESENSREIREEMNFEIRELR
take up share options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the BEANTLmAL -
Company.
A consideration of HK$1 had been paid by each grantee on BIERFRACDREWNAERHBRRERS S N
acceptance of the share options granted. Each option gives KREBIBT - BMHBIRELTEEG AR
the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in NRBE—RAQATEEIT - WA R
the Company and is settled gross in shares. HEE o
The number and weighted average exercise price of share REARERI S B RN L 1TEEW T -

options are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price Options  exercise price Options
MEFATHEE BREHE METHOEE BRENE
Qutstanding at 1 January MA1REARITE HK$0.87 21,100,000 HK$0.76 29,500,000
0.87% % 0767
Exercised during the year FNER HK$2.56 (500,000) HK$0.477 (4,200,000)
25647 0477%87C
Forfeited during the year FRERK HK$0.477 (8,400,000) HK$0.477 (4,200,000)
047787 047757
Outstanding at 31 December R12A31BRFRTE HK$1.07 12,200,000 HK$0.87 21,100,000
10787 0.874T
Exercisable at 31 December 12831 BA T17iE HK$0.91 7,200,000 HK$0.79 6,700,000
0.91%7T 0.79% T
The share options outstanding at 31 December 2024 had a 7202412 A31 B MR T{ERERER
weighted exercise price of HK$1.07 (2023: HK$0.87) and a DNIETTIE(E A1.0778 70 (20234 £ 0.87
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.84 years BIT) - INETFHFISRE LR A2.84

(2023: 3.04 years). (20234 : 3.045F) ©
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20 Equity settled share-based transactions 20 URERZEURGAERNRZS
(Continued) (#&)

(b) B ERRETE

(b) Share award plans

On 31 May 2022, the Company adopted share award plans
(the “Share Award Plans”). Pursuant to the Share Award
Plans, the Share Incentive Committee of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, to make award of the
Company’s shares to any of eligible participants the Group.
The Share Award Plans will be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 31 May 2022.

Up to 31 December 2024, for the purpose of Share Award
Plans, the Company repurchased 7,576,000 ordinary shares
on the Stock Exchange, details are set out in Note 23(c)(ii).

In August 2023, the Company granted 8,848,974 shares to
the Group’s employees with a fair value of RMB30,827,000,
which is measured at the share price of the Company of
HK$3.87 per share on the grant date. These shares will vest
in three batches and the grantees shall be vested with such
shares for nil consideration if service period conditions are
met. 40% of the total award shares granted on 17 August
2023 will vest on 1 May 2024 and each of 30% of the total
award shares will vest on 1 January 2025 and 1 January
2026, respectively, provided that the relevant grantees
remain, as at the vesting date, employed by the Company.

In October 2024, the Company granted 2,751,951
shares to the Group’s employees with a fair value of
RMB10,870,000, which is measured at the share price of
the Company of HK$3.95 per share on the grant date.
These shares will vest in three batches and the grantees
shall be vested with such shares for nil consideration if
service period conditions are met. 40% of the total award
shares granted on 30 October 2024 will vest on 1 October
2025 and each of 30% of the total award shares will
vest on 1 January 2026 and 1 January 2027, respectively,
provided that the relevant grantees remain, as at the
vesting date, employed by the Company.

202258318 » AR BIERMAR 7 42
Bt a8l ([BRD 8@ ETEl)) - RN IR
Bt 2l - AATRG BEL B e R
RERAEBEMAEERSEER DA
BRI o B EEEET SR 820224
SA31BEBFT10F BE A B AR -

HZE2024F 12 A31H © st 8
Bhstalms @ AQ AR TR
7,576,000 E A% - BEAFHBEEHNW
FF23(c)ii) °

R2023F 88 » ARAIRMAEREE
BERFEAREARE30,827,000TH
8,848,974 B fn » & H HHAAR A A
REFHRI.8THBILFTE - ZERMIEH
—HERE - RIS HERB IR ERL - AR A
BAEREFBZZRMD - 102023F8
A17 B R EEN D REH40% R
2024 F5 A1 HERE - miERRGKHBE
B130%#2 BI 202591 A1 H 2026
F1A1EHRE  EREEREAREBA
BRDZES BN AR E] °

R2024F10H - ARAlRAAEEES
BERFEAEARE10,870,0007T 1
2,751,951 it » &% H B EAAR QA
REFHRI.OSHBTILETE - ZERHIED
—HERE - MRS ER R - R A
BASREFBZERD - K2024F
10 430 B #% H M 22 B AR 10 42 B A9 40%
#R2025F10 A1 BB - mEEEIRR D
HBEHI30% 1 2 B 20265F1 H1H K&
2027 F VA1 HER - EHRBEAERAR
SEAMDAESENRARR -
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20 Equity settled share-based transactions 20 UERZEEURDHBERNRS
(Continued) (&)
(b) Share award plans (Continued) (b) R E&EEHEI(E)
Set out below are details of the movements of the shares TCES R PR B RS
granted:
2024 2023
20245 203%
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price shares  exercise price shares
ik 83! it 8!
ke Rt #E {1668 e
Unvested at the beginning of the year FOREE HK$3.87 8,848,974 - -
38787
Granted during the year ERNERE HK$3.95 2,751,951 HK$3.87 8,848,974
3.95% 7 387
Vested during the year FRERE HK$3.87 (3,539,589) - -
387ET
Unvested at the end of the year ERAGE HK$3.90 8,061,336 HK$3.87 8,848,974
3.90% 7 387E T

21 Income tax in the consolidated statement 21 BEB R REBP TSR
of financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement (d) ZEMBMRAKRPHENEHREE :
of financial position represents:

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Income tax payable at 1 January B ATBRERFTEH 5,904 12,448
Provision for the year FREE 1,337 16,004
Over-provision in respect of prior years iB7F 4 B8 & 217 (1,998)
Income tax paid BATATIER (8,066) (20,550)

Balance of income tax (prepayment)/  712A31H&
payable at 31 December FiS Rt (Fa) /T 484 (608) 5,904
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21 Income tax in the consolidated statement 21 GEMBRARTHVAER (&
of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) CREREEREEERERE
(i) Movements of each component of deferred tax (i) BEHBELSEREBELZSTEE
assets and liabilities
The deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the e & B R 3= P IR A IR E R
consolidated statement of financial position and the BEE/(BE)REANES N
movements during the year are as follows: T
Assets Liahilities
i ]
(redit
losses Retained Accelerated tax
on trade Interest profits  Deprecation  allowance for
Unused  andother  Writedown  Deferred ~ onlease  Unrealized tobe  ofrightof  depreciation
Deferedtaxarsing fom: ~~ FETAAEZEERE: tclosses  receivables  ofinventories  ncome  abiies  gainorloss  Subdotal  distbuted useassets epenses  Subeotal Net
BAREE i £53
A B HE  RERdE E3A% RAREE it

BEEE  EEEE  FEMM EEWA REMAE kg Mo REE i | hHER it L]
RAB000 RAB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 AMB000 AMB000 RMB000 AMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETn ARETR ARETR
At January 2013 R0B3E1A1R - 1351 88 184 181 164 5,
(Chargededitedto the MraBek
onsolidatedseementof (1) /3HA

poftorloss Note 7) W) - 18) 8 (230) () (%99) (1,669 - 593 oy 170 (3839

18 (184) (1831) (14284) (17956) (1239

At31 December 2003 and RBE1A3IBR
1 January 204 04E1818 - 1213 305 1648 1387 (84 3889 (1841) (1278) (17.007) (20128) (16277)
(Chargedlcredited to the REARER

consolted staementof (1188) /31

potarls e (#7) 550 B (I RV B! 1% % W3 08w
31 Deceter 2004 RN S0 1 7 w1 ) ol 620 (6o 4
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) & BB LR
financial position
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T T AE#EFIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised WERE Hﬁ%ﬂkﬂ%ﬁﬁwﬁ’]
in the consolidated statement of RIERIBEEF
financial position 184 146
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 45 & B 75k 0 5 FESR Y
in the consolidated statement of RIEFE A EFEE
financial position (5,654) (16,423)

(5.470) (16,277)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B-SB855) U ERESIT)

21 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Except for deferred tax liabilities already recognised
in Note 21(b), taxable temporary differences
relating to the retained profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (excluding Hong
Kong SAR) amounted to RMB666,533,000 (2023:
RMB645,440,000), where deferred tax liabilities in
respect of the PRC withholding tax that would be
payable on the distributions of these profits, have
not been recognised as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that such profits will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

21 REMEIRR R T AREHR (F)

() AERZEEHREE

BRWE210)FPNERRBELHIEE
BN BAEERFR(CTRIEERE
BRITTE R ) BSIE M B A B IR
R EENERNBEEEZEAAR
¥ 666,533,000 7T (2023 F : AR
645,440,0007T) * BIER D IRZ S m
FmEMH P RBNRERELR AR
& AARAHEHZEWE QRN
BB - BEBEZEEFNA g
BAREDIK o

22 Deferred income 22 EIEW A
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTTT
At 1 January W1 HATHE 10,986 12,542
Credited to the consolidated statement 3t A4r&1EZ

of profit or loss and other REMEERGEE
comprehensive income (1,557) (1,556)
At 31 December ®12H31H 9,429 10,986

Deferred income represents government grants received to
compensate the Group’s cost of construction of property, plant
and equipment. The grants are amortised over the useful lives
of the related property, plant and equipment.

ELEWAESLERANEEYE - BB M
A RS 32 SR K AN O 78 150 P MR B RS A
8 - MR EEYME - BB RREHE
FEHIR# -
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends 238X #ERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) RO S EY
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REFG AR LD BT R ERR L
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated RUEBEHNGEAEREHK - AQT)HE
equity are set out in the consolidated statement of changes HERIZ D B EBEH AN T

in equity. Details of the changes of the Company’s
individual components of equity are set out below:

Share Share Treasury Capital  Exchange Retained Total
capital premium shares reserve reserve profits equity
Bx  RBEE  ERRE  EABE  EXBE  REME  RReE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR
Note23b) ~ Note23() ~ Note 23(cli) ~ Note 23(c)i) ~ Note 23(c))
W) B BE  FEG W

Balance at 1 January 2023 ROBFIR1BRER 134,140 119,162 (49,213 90m 2,844 69,962 285,906
Changes in equity for the year ended BENBENANA

31 December 2023: LEENERED:
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (13,980) (13,980)
Other comprefensive income ErEhE - - - - 3034 - 3034

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 3034 (13,980) (10,946)

Shares issued under share option scheme REEREEZTHRG 378 4,184 - (2,736) - - 1,826

Dividends approved in respect of the previous year ~ B £E# EIRE
(Note 23/ (F23)) - (53,89) - - - - (5389)
Equity settled share-based transactions (Vote 20) - EEREENRRBERNR S 20) - - - 7426 - - 7426
Shares held for share award plans (Note 23(0)i))  StR1) B B BRRG(T22300) - - (2981) - - - (29281)
________________________________________________________ S e L - |
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 }A2023%12A31A k202451 1B ¢S 134518 69,454 (78,494) 13,701 5878 55,982 201,039

Changes in equity for the year ended BENUENANA

31 December 2024; LEENREES
Loss for the year EhER - - - - - (35,751) (35,751)
Other comorefhensive income ErEhE - - - - 2821 - 281
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ENREE - - - - 2801 (35,751) (32930)
Shares issued under share option scheme REBRE R INRE 45 1,468 - (32) - - 1,186

Dividends approved in respect of the previous year ~ BfE £E# eI
(Note 23(di) (H23) - (54,740) - - - - (54,740)
Equity settled share-based transactions (Note 20) ~ HEERRE R BERNL B (W20 - 3513 8,885 1913 - - 20311
Shares held for share award plans (Note 23()(i) SR BB RORGHE2300) - - (29,183) - - = (29183)
45 (49,759) (20,298) 7,586 - - (62,426)

Balance at 31 December 2024 H0uER3NBNER 134,563 19,695 (98,792) 1287 8,699 20,31 105,683
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)
(b) Share capital

23 EX - RERBRE (&)
(b) A%

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Number of Number of

shares Amount shares Amount

KRB k2 R EE e

‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000

TR TR Tk FAT

Authorised share capital (Note (i) EERAHH) 20,000,000 2,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Number of Number of

shares Amount shares Amount

REHEE k2 RinEE ©H

RMB000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: BETRETZER :

At 1 January ®1A1A 1,502,668,000 134,518 1,498,468,000 134,140
Shares issued under share option REBRE IR SRR

scheme (Note (if)) BEL 500,000 45 4,200,000 378

At 31 December MM2A318 1,503,168,000 134,563 1,502,668,000 134,518

Notes:

(i) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 28 August 2018. Its initial authorised
share capital was HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares with a
par value of HK$0.1 per share. On 19 June 2019 and 8 October 2019,
the equity shareholders of the Company resolved to increase the
authorised share capital of the Company from HK$380,000 divided
into 3,800,000 shares of HK$0.1 each to HK$2,000,000,000 divided
into 20,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each.

(i) In July and November 2024, share options were exercised at HK$2.56
per share to subscribe for 500,000 ordinary shares in aggregate at a
total consideration of HK$1,280,000 (equivalent to RMB1,178,000).
RMB45,000 and RMB1,133,000 were credited in the Company’s share
capital and share premium account respectively. RMB327,000 was
transferred from the capital reserve to the share premium account.

At -

() ZARAAR2018F8A28HRHESEEEMAK
VRBERRERAR o EVBEAERANE
380,000/ 7T + %9 £3,800,000/% & A% E{E0.1
EITHRL D o 72201996 A19H K20194 10
A8H » AR RMERIE RZE B AR BETER
15 £1380,0007% 7T (9 43,800,000% & % I {E
0.1/ 7TH %15 ) # 2 2,000,000,0007 7T (5 &
20,000,000,0000% & A% I (E0. 1 B TTHIAR D ) ©

(i) F2024F7A R A - BREUNTR256/5
JLATE » LARRBE A ££500,0000% @A - 424K
{871,280,000/%8 7t (A& K A R# 1,178,000
JT) - B AR#E45,0007T K2 AR 1,133,000
TR ARRRABRARBRNEE - ARK
327,0007T B E RN BERER D HER
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by Section 34 of the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time.

23 EFR - RERKRE(E)
(c) REENHEEREN
(i) RGEE
BoaEBRNERIHESEESEM
F22B5NEE(1961EE35EM -
RAFE RIEET) B34 1E (R T &

A AR BB RE

Treasury shares (i) EERG
Treasury shares for the purpose of share award plans R EE 2% B B8 [E 77 R
Shares held
Number Highest Lowest for share
of shares price paid price paid Aggregate award
Year repurchased per share per share price paid plans
L) BERGHE CASRERE CASREEE BEE  RROKE
HKS HKS RMB'000 it EHEHRG
B AT ARETR
2024 7,576,000 1.3 338 29,183 36,737,411
Shares held
Number Highest Lowest for share
of shares price paid price paid Aggregate award
Year repurchased per share per share price paid plans
£ BORHEE ENERESE ENERREE BREE  RRORR
HKS HKS RMB'000 &I EHIR
B B NS
2023 11,548,000 4.49 223 29,281 32,701,000
(iii) Capital reserve (iii) ZX G

Capital reserve represents the portion of the grant date
fair value of unexercised share options granted to the
directors of the Company and the employees of the
Group that has been recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in
Note 2(q)ii).

(iv) Other reserves

The other reserve at 31 December 2023 and 2024
comprised (i) the difference between the net assets of
Dalipal Pipe and the consideration of RMB27,902,000
received from the reorganisation; and (i) the statutory
reserve of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group.

EARBEBEETARAEE AL
EEB M EARTTEBRENR LA
HRFESD - D REMEE20)I)
FRARR (0 R BB RO R R & 5t
BURHER, ©

(iv) EftbizE
MR2023F 2024512 A31HME
HEEERNENEEAENEE
FEHAEHEMEBNREARE
27,902,000 T 2 B Ry Z58 ¢ K (i)A
EBFBRWNE R RAETERHE o
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Other reserves (Continued)

(v)

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China are required to transfer 10% of
its net profit to the statutory reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiaries’
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must
be made before distributions to equity holders. This
reserve can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses
or increase capital of the respective subsidiaries and is
non-distributable other than in liquidation.

Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into RMB. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in Note 2(t).

(d) Dividends

(i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

23 EX - RERBRE (&)
() FEMEHEER B ()

(iv) Rl (&)

RIBEBHBEDER AR - ARA]

T FR B P 3 P 37 ) Y BB A BB TR

r&f‘%ﬁ%%&ﬁ#@ﬂmm% BEE

R R R BB A R M B AR
0% o ﬂ;i@f%iq%’%/,\#ﬁﬁé‘ 53

BADIKBIER G ARE

HEMBARMRFTEEIIEER

BB BIM AT DR ©

(v) ELFE
[ 5 E R B INER B ISR
%%ﬁ*”i%/\ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁt{m&l\liﬁ
c RBEREME2OFEN S
LBZ RERIE o

d) B2
() FRENERAEZRKRRIRE

2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T AREEFTT
No final dividend proposed after the — #fd5 HAR 14 N5 IR 3

end of the reporting REARR B
(2023: HK$0.04) (20234 : 0.04%7T) - 54,470
The final dividend proposed after the end of the RERE BIR % AR BB B

reporting period has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

ERRFHAERSRE -
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 23 &4 - EERKE (&)

(d) Dividends (Continued) d) RE(&E)

(i) BHEFEEGRFEFACHEREIR
1THIE(T K 2 Bl 2 IR R R 2

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Final dividend in respect of the previous R A#E/E & 5 (< #9 R
financial year, approved and paid L —BMBFENRARE
during the year of HK$0.04 per FAEBAX0.048 T
ordinary share (2023: HK$0.04) (20234 : 0.0477T) 54,740 53,892

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

AEBEEEAZTEZRNZEEBR
ASEE an K BRFS AT E B R B /K T ARAE
BB 1% N IR BEIA & I A AR EUS Bl
B REAKEEREIFELSE
EmARRSERRER - LER
Hib M zAARE

AEBETHTEMEMREELENRN
RfE - UEBEAERSBERD®RER T
A RERHFEE 2 Bm B B /KF B AR A2 R
BARPREROES K2 2 FE
BFE - WRRSEAR RN
BEARBIEHTE
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24 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables. The Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, bills
receivables and derivative financial assets is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
a high credit standing assigned by the management of the
Group, for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, 23.47% (2023: 26.3%)
and 68.12% (2023: 63.3%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor and the
Group's five largest trade debtors, respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are generally due immediately and up to
90 days from the date of billings. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix.

24 I EREEREM T AN TE

K%IEEI BEBBRETHEHRER  RBE
MR EERR

AEEHBENZFRR LKA EBRARNEEZ
5 R B B0 B 755 LB T 3 ORI B {5 Bt 4
o

(a) EERM

EERBREHF I IETANELIME
HASEAZMBEBRNER - AEH
HEEER T 2K B E 5 MEME LR
B AEEMAR KBRS MRS EE
/I F‘%Hﬁl%‘%ﬁ&?ﬁi%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂégﬂ
AR RRRHFIAAREEERE
Fﬁ?’ﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂa SEERTT B B
B Bns  ARERAEERBKREK
K

ESEWE
AEEERNEERREESESEFN
ERIERETRE  MIER AR
1% At EXEFEERBREER
AN B HE B E F R E AR R E
Ao RIREHR - BEHEIKRGERRE
D RIB23.47% (20234 © 26.3% ) &
68.12% (20234 : 63.3% ) JIEI AR E
ExABSEFAREBRASERAE
SEHNOIRE -

AEBEMAERBB - ELREEN
EPETEEERNE - ZFFHEET
REPBESN BRI 2 ik MR
BN 7‘7 TeEZRErnAEER
&Eﬁi%)f' FﬁEiﬂE’J,ﬁé‘éﬁéi&iﬂ*ﬁFﬁE’J
B - B HRMFIE RN R& &R
?é‘ET‘%EI,Hﬂf@OEI@JE}ﬁ $§%I AR
MEFHEAR

REBIZEEN EamBHRREEREX
E’Ji%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁqﬁlmﬁﬂﬁ)&ﬁ@%ﬁ ’
Ty AR E
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 BiBEREERSMIAATEE

of financial instruments (Continued) (#8)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERMR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWEE)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRIBFHAMASEE 5 EKGIAME
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: FEHEERE MBS IELNER
2024
20245
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
TEHEEE BREAE EERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARMT T
Current (not past due) BNHEA (SR8 HR) 0.3% 397,987 (1,251)
Less than 3 months past due 3 HR D FA31E A 1.0% 63,022 (607)
3 to 6 months past due #EI3E6(E A 5.4% 1,890 (102)
6 to 12 months past due w6 = 1218 A 96.7% 179 (173)
Over 12 months past due B EREE B 1218 A 100.0% 3,844 (3.844)
466,922 (5,977)
2023
20234
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
TEERESIER BREAEE E R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERETTT AE¥ETFTT
Current (not past due) BNEA (R HR) 0.2% 474,227 (789)
Less than 3 months past due & HFA A 31E A 0.5% 97,360 (533)
3 to 6 months past due wEI3E6(E A 2.9% 3,785 (109)
6 to 12 months past due w6 1218 A 21.4% 6,565 (1,402)
Over 12 months past due wERERA 1218 A 100.0% 2,596 (2,596)
584,533 (5,429)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over TEEASE R AN EFHERBEL
the recent past years. These rates are adjusted to reflect BetESE - ZSH AR URME
differences between economic conditions during the period B BRI E BRI R B AR - ZRTARR
over which the historic data has been collected, current B 7K £ () 365 i U5 T8 T8 B 4 2R A A8 iR
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions MEEECHHNESR o

over the expected lives of the receivables.
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24 B EREEREMTARNYE
(%)
(b) FEE S
AEENHRREHERAHALER
REFEER - RRAEBEFHTN

24 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants

to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest dates the Group can be required to pay:

MRS HE AR ESREBERG
RAMAGERERE - om e Rk
RHRSHESHER -

FRIRAEEAIENTE ST A ENE
EMAOTIHA O BARR - TR
SRR ST 8 (RIERIT ORI %
SHEOTIB AT RBNZEIE - A
B MR A IR ) R
TRERLHHENRT B

2024
20245

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

ARRERRLRE
Within ~ Over 1year  Over 2 years
1 year or but within but within Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
15R5 BBI1E BiE2E
RER BHRE BORSE @zt R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARBT T ARET T
Trade and bills payables BORNFERENRE 837,921 - - 837,921 837,921
Other payables and accruals REENA ENE R
measured at amortised cost FEREER 61,528 - - 61,528 61,528
Lease liabilities HERRE 4,339 435 319 5,093 4,608
Interest-bearing borrowings sEfER 1,569,949 513,992 219,412 2,303,353 2,212,603
2,473,731 514,427 219,731 3,207,895 3,116,660
2023
2023F
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
aNRERRERE
Within Over 1 year Over 2 years
1 year or but within but within Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
1675, HmE PR
REX BAR2E {BARSE a5t REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AEBTT ARBTT ARETT
Trade and bills payables EORATERERNRE 724,571 - - 724,571 724,571
Other payables and accruals REERATTENEMER
measured at amortised cost FEAREER 83,772 - - 83,772 83,772
Lease liabilities HERRE 3,971 3,659 520 8,150 7,787
Interest-bearing borrowings sEfER 1,231,242 521,656 89,128 1,842,026 1,767,497
2,043,556 525,315 89,648 2,658,519 2,583,627
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 BiBEREERSMIAATEE
of financial instruments (Continued) (&)

(c) Interest rate risk (c)

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s total borrowings at the end of the
reporting period:

A= @ B
AEBOFXEREEREFEMER -
12F BN R %[BT ) R B PR B SRR AN
SEDRIEARBE S REN KRR MR
BN EER -

() FIEHR
TREERAE BB S HR e
FEFIEBER,

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRAI= BIRM=
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
% ARETR % ANREFTT
Fixed rate borrowings: ERER:
Bank and other borrowings BITREMAER 3.70%+~6.32% 1,898,615  3.70%-~6.18% 1,534,924
Variable rate borrowings: FEEH:
Bank borrowings RITEH 3.55%~4.80% 313988 4.00%-~7.33% 232,573
2,212,603 1,767,497
Fixed rate borrowings as EEEFBER
a percentage of total borrowings BENEAL 86% 87%

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit after tax and
retained profits by approximately and RMB2,669,000
(2023: RMB1,977,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit after tax
and retained profits that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The impact is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest exposure of such a change in interest rates.
The sensitivity analysis is performed on the same basis as
2023.

(i) EBEE ST
R20245F12 8318 » fHatf R
BT TEI00EES - MAAAE
Hih B 2HFTE - FeFERER
HB 18 F 5 AR S FIR A 18 hn
HANEEE? 669,0007T (20234 © A
FR#1,977,0007T) °

FHGRESTET - BN EE
BN EEREAEN D ERARERN
n‘|'£$/$ .Fﬁ%‘fﬁ <7 \ﬁﬁunfﬁﬁ//m
ENEERNZESREE - &R
EEFRENERIRE RS ERK
WA EE) - FEEFTAEFN XS
BmMENE 2 FL® - Wﬁﬁ“
HTLAEE2023 SF ARRI A EAEHETT o
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 BiBEREERSMIAATEE
of financial instruments (Continued) (&)

(d) Currency risk (d) E¥mEk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales which give rise to cash, receivables and payables
balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which they relate.
The currency gives rise to this risk is primarily US$.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot

AEETEREEMHREEER - #
CEEELNAREERNEENREY
SN EEEHER RS - BUGIA KR E
MRS - SIRARBNEEETER
EE

TRFAMAEERFERARAZIALRSE
FAERNIEER SN EBHENS
BRAEEXRBEELENEBRR - 512
SIME - BRABROEERIIAARED
™ ERARBERFEANREERR
8 ABEINBERBOMHHRE /LS

1

rate at the year end date. Differences resulting from the B2y EEmMELEAN =RV ERIEAR
translation of financial statements of foreign operations A o
into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
us$ us$
EY ET
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents REeNIBESEEY 12,137 68,761
Trade and bills receivables B o EWFIB R ERERE 328,511 394,998
Other payables and accruals Efth e RIE R EET B A (261) (412)
340,387 463,347

At 31 December 2024, an increase/decrease of 5% in US$
with all other variables held constant would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
by approximately RMB 14,466,000 (2023: RMB19,692,000).
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
HK$ and US$ would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the US$ against other
currencies.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to remeasure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period, including inter-company payables and receivables

202445128318 © METHEB
BE5%MmEm A SR EEFTE - K&
B §9F 18 FBE R R HEF #1800, R
#INRHE14,466,0007T(20234F + AR
#519,692,0007T) ° BLUL T E + BR&)
ﬁéﬁi%ﬁaﬁﬁrfGETZFﬁT\@l%nﬁ
HihEENEESESM I ERFE

BREDMBEIINEELEB AR
EMFTEAEEBECeRIT A - Mz
Lo T EFEREER RS BREEIN
ERER - BIEUNERARERAZIEE
BN BT A AN EBANARE

within the Group which are denominated in a currency El’]ﬁﬁ RIE N FEUREIE « DT A EIER
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the BN EBMBRRENEEZIEE
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would BFRl e IR 2 Z 58 - DT J5#%2023F 48

result from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

[RAEAEHETT o
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24 IEREEREMIAEAFRE

24 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (Continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

0]

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows.

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

e level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not

available

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

(%)

(e) A EFE

()

BAFEENETHEERAR

NFEER
TREJREERSFREERSE
13/ AFEFEMREN=ERF
BER  NEERRREEHREE
AENAKESRBT AR FE -
NHEAEENWERTIZEGE
AP A ABURA R BRI K
BEMETEND

s FIGMHE: ATFEEERS
—RBAHRE
BRI EERE
BRETE A HE
h BT 5 ) R AL
HERE

o FE24MHE: RFEERAFE
A A BUES
B HTFARE
— e A BRE
IS¢ Sz 3id
REAT AR
BWABE - A
BRBARER
R 5 8IETA
PR 8 ABUR

o FIPMHE: EREARTAE
R ABEBTE
B R {E

(i) FLHFZNFEIRYEHBEERE

B2 AFE

REB A A SEHK AT ENS
BT AR B F M 2024F &
2023F 12 A3TBN AT ELES
RAR e
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25 Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as

25 AYE
R2024F 12 A31 BARREA B KRR AT
REBHZ RENEAFREDT

follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Commitments in respect of property, BEMZE - BE K&
plant and equipment: B 7 A
— Contracted for —B54) 1,029,861 43,422
26 Material related party transactions 26 EXBEHARS
(a) Transactions with a company controlled by the (a) BEEAR D BB BREIEGIN AT 23
equity shareholders of the Company -]
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBFIT
Interest expenses on borrowings from  —fEIEFE A AIMERZ
a related company FEBX 3,125 3,314

The borrowings from a related company are unsecured and
unguaranteed, bear interest at 3.7% per annum and are
repayable after one year.

(b) Balances with a company controlled by the

— R AR E R A EIE A LA
R R3TRHFRERAERBR—F
®ER -

(b) BARAEBERRIZEHFHNDT 24

equity shareholders of the Company B
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Borrowings from a related company —REIRAE A R fE K 91,800 91,800
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26 Material related party transactions 26 EXBH AR (&)
(Continued)
(c) Key management personnel remuneration () EEEEAEFHN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBFBEEABNTH(B2IERA
Group, including amounts paid to the directors of the NaEF (A EE) M ETAER
Company as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest = iEES (RHEEE) e
paid employees of the Group as disclosed in Note 9, is as FEEHY T
follows:
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Short-term employee benefits R E A 22,984 15,720
Contributions to defined contribution — EZE{FGR (KT 2]
retirement plan T 232 265
Equity settled share-based payments UARE R A B DARR 1 AR B ) 3R
(Note 20) (K1#t20) 1,390 1,488
24,606 17,473
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note HMEED A8 TARAI(R W

6(b)). 6(b)) °
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27 7R/ T B H B AR R 3=

27 Company-level statement of financial

position
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T T ARETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RPN T 12 83,560 163,606
83,560 163,606
Currentassets  wm&EE
Other receivables H A el 218 1,075 30,901
Cash at bank and on hand SRITMRFERE 22,471 7,313
23,546 38,214
Current liabilites ~ xma&®
Other payables Hofth JE (S RIA 1,423 781
1,423 781
Netcurrentassets  ABEEBE 218 3743
NET ASSETS EERE 105,683 201,039
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E 23
Share capital f% 134,563 134,518
Reserves ] (28,880) 66,521
TOTAL EQUITY FERBE 105,683 201,039

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

31 March 2025.

Meng Fanyong
=NE

Chairman
FE

R2025F3 31 BEE i E LIRE

SUE:

Zhang Hongyao
IRALIE

Director

EZE
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28 Immediate and ultimate controlling party

The directors of the Company consider the immediate holding
company and ultimate controlling parties of the Company at
31 December 2024 to be Rosy Astral Limited, and Mr. Meng
Fanyong and Mr. Meng Yuxiang, respectively. Rosy Astral
Limited does not produce financial statements available for
public use.

29 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

28 HENRAEHS

ARBIEFERBEANRAINR2024F12A31H
WEEERAR REZES TR REER
RARIANREABREREZFNLE - B2
BRAGWEFETHRARALEANTBE
R -

29 CEMENEE2024512831H

I EEMRER BT » B
BRBBNEEYE

HENRZSHHEREBE  BERgHER)
BEeCBME TREZ2024F128318
IEFEHARER - Bx SRR L ERN
RIFTIER] MAUSETHER]  ZEBRBIEAT
ARE AL EARE -

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning
on or after
RT5B#HR 2%
BIRN ST AR

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack of

exchangeability

B SFERIE215% - (BEREHZE - he i) 2 BIRIEET R
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures

1 January 2025

20251 A1H
1 January 2026

— Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments

BIRR B 3RS ERIF S - M T ARBESIFHFH S ERFE7H - BT AMEETA - &

F-2@ TAZ 7 ERTEMNEETK

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BRI R S RGN EENE - 115

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements
BIFR B ISR 2RI B 185 - B IREAIZZ R E

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
BIMR I F e S 22 RN 195% - AR R ERINE L E] - #5%

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

202651 H1H

1 January 2026
2026F1A1H
1 January 2027
20271 H1H
1 January 2027
20271 A1H

AEEEFEZFERAN - LA RRER
HRNBEXERBESELENTE - 25 /1E
MRS RN L TR A - BRI RRER
RABEHARBNGEMBERRELEAT

.
=
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FEHFEE

Years ended 31 December

BZ12B3181LEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224F 20234 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RESULTS E4 ARBTT AREBTIT ARETT ARETIT AR%®TR
Revenue Wz 2,259,402 3,762,629 4,227,802 3,850,020 3,292,264
Profit/(loss) before taxation  FiBTHE,(E1E) (144,130) 99,755 176,946 152,368 (86,319)
Income tax Frigii 26,226 (16,816) (25,362) (17,845) 9,253
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREHA(FEE) (117,904) 82,939 151,584 134,523 (77,066)
Profit/(loss) for the year THATEEFA
attributable to: wmAl (E1a)
Equity shareholders of the ~ ZN2 A4S A& R
Company (116,417) 82,939 151,584 134,523 (77,066)
Non-controlling interests IR (1,487) - - - -
(117,904) 82,939 151,584 134,523 (77,066)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES E¥EREE
Total assets BEE 3,688,683 4,751,486 4,186,380 4,130,395 4,509,198
Total liabilities BEE 2,426,102 3,404,947 2,782,080 2,669,297 3,194,164
Net assets BEFE 1,262,581 1,346,539 1,404,300 1,461,098 1,315,034
Net assets attributable to: LA TN ALEREE
FE
Equity shareholders of the ~ ZRQ FIHEERR R
Company 1,262,581 1,346,539 1,404,300 1,461,098 1,315,034
Non-controlling interests ~ JERAGRERS - - - - =
1,262,581 1,346,539 1,404,300 1,461,098 1,315,034
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